Our Vision, Mission & Mandate
OUR VISION
An association of municipalities that is at the cutting edge of quality and sustainable services.

OUR MISSION
To be consultative, informed, mandated, credible and accountable to our membership and provide value for money.

OUR MANDATE
SALGA’s mandate is derived from the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa (108/1996), the Organised Local Government Act
(52/1997), the Intergovernmental Relations Framework Act (13/2005) and its own constitution (as amended in September 2004) and
is further informed, inter alia, by the provisions of the Municipal Systems Act (32/2000) and the Municipal Finance Management Act
(56/2003) and can be summarised as follows:
• To represent, promote and protect the interests of local government;
•

To act as an employer body representing all municipal members and, by agreement, associate members;

•

 o affiliate with and participate in the affairs of regional, continental and international organisations, that will serve the best
T
interests of its members;

• To lobby and advocate for member municipalities;
• To act as a resource for knowledge and information to municipalities;
• To develop and support the capacity of member municipalities.
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Glossary of terms
DWAF

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry

ED

Economic Development

EDIR

Electricity Distribution Industry Restructuring

ELMDP

Executive Leadership Municipal Development
Programme

Black Economic Empowerment

EPWP

Expanded Public Works Programme

BNG

Breaking New Ground

FBE

Free Basic Energy

CBP

Community Based Planning

FBRR

Free Basic Refuse Removal

CDM

Cleaner Development Mechanisms

FBS

Free Basic Services

CDS

City Development Strategy

FFC

Financial and Fiscal Commission

DBSA

Development Bank of Southern Africa

GCIS

DEAT

Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism

Government Communication and Information
System

DM

District Municipality

GTZ

German Technical Corporation

DME

Department of Minerals and Energy

HRD

Human Resources Development

DPLG

Department of Provincial and Local Government

IDP

Intergrated Development Plans

DTI

Department of Trade and Industry

INEP

Intergrated National Electrification Programme

ACPLGP

African Carribean Pacific Local Governments
Platform

ALGAK

Association of Local Government of Kenya

AMEU

Association of Municipal Electricity Undertakings

AMM

Association of Municipalities in Mali

BEE



ISOCARP

International Society for City and Regional Planners

REDS

Regional Electricity Distributors

LOGLOD

Local Governance and Local Democracy

SALA-IDA

MF

Municipal Finance

Swedish Association of Local Authority and Regions
International Development Agency

MFMA

Municipal Finance Management Act

SAMWU

South African Municipal Workers Union

MIG

Municipal Infrastructural Grant

SANC

South African Cities Network

MIR

Municipal International Relations

SCM

Supply Chain Management

MOU

Memorandum of Understanding

SCR

State of Cities Report

MS

Municipal Services

SD

Social Development

NCOP

National Council of Provinces

SFH

Social Housing Foundation

NCWSTI

National Community Water and Sanitation Institute

SWALGA

Swaziland Local Government Association

NEC

National Executive Committee

TED

Transitional Electricity Distributors

NSSD

National Strategy for Sustainable Development

UCLGA

United Cities of Local Governments

PCC

Presidential Coordination Council

VNG

Vereniging van Nederlandse Gemeenten

PGDS

Provincial Growth and Development Strategy

WSA

Water Services Authority

PMS

Performance Management System

WSP

Workplace Skills Plan

PWD

People with Disabilities

WSP

Water Services Provider



INTRODUCTION

Chairperson’s Report
Foreword by the Chairperson of SALGA,
Executive Mayor Amos Masondo
This Annual Report marks the conclusion of ten years
of the existence of the South African Local Government
Association (SALGA), established in accordance with
the provisions of the Organized Local Government Act
of 1997. In the coming financial year, SALGA will be
hosting an event to celebrate its birthday and all the
achievements to-date. Whilst we are mindful that we
continue to face challenges in Local Government in view
of its dynamic nature, we are certain that as the national
municipal association, we have delivered meaningfully
in a number of areas to member municipalities over the
past decade.
During the period under review, SALGA’s collective
leadership focused its attention on deepening our
collective understanding of the role of organised local
government; attending to critical and strategic issues
facing organised local government in relation to National
Government’s 2014 vision; ensuring alignment and
coherence between SALGA’s programmes and that of
other stakeholders, ensuring that the programmes and
activities by SALGA benefited member municipalities;
and ensuring that SALGA remained a financially
sustainable organisation.

As a result, SALGA can today pride itself on having a
well established Organised Local Government system
in our country that has consistently and successfully
championed the cause of its membership over the
past decade with the express aim of complementing
Government’s efforts to create a people-centred state,
bound to the pursuit of freedom from want, hunger,
deprivation, ignorance, suppression and fear.

We envisage that these matters will remain high on the
Local Government Agenda for the foreseeable future.

Our successful hosting of the UCLGA Founding
Congress in May 2005 has taken us beyond our
borders in pursuit of a progressive African Agenda
through continental and international participation. We
remain committed to local government as articulated
in our country’s constitution. In this regard we will do
everything in our ability to promote good governance,
decentralization and advance Organized Local
Government within and beyond the African continent.

In the period leading to the Municipal Elections that
took place on the 1st of March 2006, we engaged
in various initiatives to prepare municipalities for this
democratic exercise. Our pre and post Elections
Guide was circulated to all municipalities and provincial
technical task teams, thereby contributing to the
smooth running of the elections. We further rolled
out the Councillor Induction Programme which was
implemented immediately after the Elections to ensure
that councillors were appropriately oriented to face
their new roles and responsibilities. This programme
transferred basic but critical skills to 77 % of all
Councillors. The total attendance of 6474 participants
was a clear indication that our municipalities and the
calibre of councillors was ever improving for the better.

Our 10 year celebrations have been preceded by
introspection that has sought to accelerate service
delivery and deepen a sense of service to the people. The
priority issues identified during this process, and which
subsequently emerged from the Izimbizo Programme
during 2005 were: institutional capacity and municipal
transformation, local economic development, financial
viability and management, good governance, basic
service delivery and infrastructure and policy refinement.

In addition, SALGA established a capacity building
technical committee comprising the Department of
Provincial and Local Government, Department of
Housing, Department of Water Affairs, The House of
Traditional Leaders and National Treasury to ensure
that the Councillor Induction Programme is followed
up by more intensive training on specific sector based
issues such as municipal finances, water, electricity,
sanitation, waste management and housing. In



June 2006, SALGA and The School of Public
Management and Administration at the University
of Pretoria launched the Executive Leadership
Municipal Development Programme (ELMDP). This
programme is designed for key local government
decision-makers and senior municipal officials.

We are mindful of the levels of anxiety that new
changes can create in any environment, thus, whilst
in support and partnership with other spheres
of government, we are cautiously, actively and
consistently on the lookout for the advancement
of the interests of all our member municipalities.

All these programmes, together with those
provided by our partners such as DPLG, LGSETA,
ASGISA, DBSA and others, are intended to address
the issue of building capacity in municipalities.
Ranging from formalised academic training,
twinning arrangements, deployment of experts, to
the return of retired experts in local government,
we are confident that we will be able to close the
capacity gaps in a short and reasonable space of
time.

It is also apt to mention that SALGA will hold
its National Conference in 2007 where we will
appoint our new leadership. As elected public
representatives, we all have the responsibility to
attend, participate and provide the necessary
guidance to all our municipalities at this important
conference.

As an employer body, one of the key achievements
for the past year is the multi-year salary and wage
agreement entered into with Unions for the period
of 2006 to 2009. The multi-year agreement has
very significant cost-saving implications as the
respective parties will not have to engage on wage
and salary negotiations on an annual basis. Even
more significantly, we anticipate that it will bring
about much needed stability and labour peace.

I also wish to extend my deep appreciation and
gratitude to all our stakeholders for their continued
and invaluable support.

Executive Mayor Amos Masondo
National Chairperson



Executive Summary
It is a great honour to present to you SALGA’s Annual
Report for the 2005/2006 financial year. I wish to
acknowledge with gratitude the unflinching support of
my principals on the National Executive Committee,
and the general staff complement with whom we have
worked tirelessly to produce this Report.
We profiled the milestones of local government to
build the citizen’s confidence in Municipalities and
Government Systems and hosted a workshop
together with DPLG and GCIS in order to provide longterm solutions to our communication challenges. The
workshop was aimed at ensuring that local government
communication is able to deal with both realities and
perceptions about service delivery and successes in
local government over the next five years.
Internally, the period leading to the local elections had
a knock-on effect on decision making as governance
structure meetings were not convening
due
to
Councillors’ election campaigns. Furthermore, the
local government elections brought about some
changes on our governance structures as some of the

Councillors in the National Executive Committee were
not re-elected.
Shortly after local government elections we held
an extra-ordinary National Members Assembly in
eThekwini, mainly to ensure that the Councillors are
orientated on key issues that will be driving their term
of office. The Five Year Local Government Strategic
Agenda was the key document under discussion to
ensure that it is aligned with SALGA business plan
and other initiatives. We welcomed the new cadre of
Councillors with the Councillor Induction Programme,
which the Chairperson, Mayor Masondo has reported
on under his report.
The organisation continues to focus on strengthening
our capacity for lobbying and advocacy through
an improved system for tracking meetings of key
intergovernmental fora and other events requiring
SALGA participation which has led to consistent,
meaningful and mandated SALGA participation and
representation in IGR structures both at Provincial and
National Levels.
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On the international front, SALGA has been actively
involved in a number of initiatives in the continent of
Africa and elsewhere in the world. We are pleased to
report that not only do we continue to give technical
support to the United Cities Local Government of
Africa (UCLGA), but have also established several
partnerships with associations of municipalities in
Africa, including the Associations of Municipalities in:
Mali, Ghana, Mozambique, Kenya, Namibia, Swaziland
and Zimbabwe.
The Memorandums of Understanding (MOU’s) entered
into with these associations have been followed by the
implementation of a broad range of activities in support
of decentralization and local government capacity
building in almost all cases. We are currently finalising
MOU’s with other countries such as Mozambique,
Lesotho, Botswana, etc. We are inundated with
requests for cooperation from across the continent
especially after the UCLGA founding congress.
Establishing a single pension fund has been a goal
for SALGA for the past ten years. We are pleased to

report that the Local Government Pension Fund has
been registered and we have already enrolled members
on the fund.
In local government we continue to be challenged by
skills acquisition, retention, and quantification of skills
in a pool as a result of local government transformation
since 1996. We are therefore undertaking research
to quantify staff in a pool and also to see how they
could be re-introduced to ease the skills problem
experienced by local government. In addition to the
Councillor Induction Programme, we introduced
programmes such as the Executive Leadership
Municipal Development Programme (ELMDP) and the
Local Democracy and Local Governance (LODLOG),
which will cover continuous Councillor training over
their term of office.
This financial year saw SALGA receiving awards for
the first time in its history. We pride ourselves with
having received an award for being in the top fifty best
companies (both private and public sector) to work for
in 2006. Furthermore, as the CEO of SALGA I received

an ILGM service excellence award as Leading Manager
for 2006 and I also featured in the book published by
Corporate Research Foundation listing the top fifty
leading managers in South Africa.
This has been largely due to our consistent and
continuous commitment to improve the working
conditions of staff, systems and processes in the
organisation. We can proudly report on a number of
innovative and cost saving initiatives that have increased
our human resource capacity in order to deliver on our
mandate as well as improved our ability to communicate
across the organisation. These include: 59 staff
members recruited during the year under review, which
takes the staff complement of SALGA to 225. Of the
number 143 are in the provinces. During the period
we had 324 training occurrences, excluding education
assistance for formal education (which was awarded
to 11 employees). To date SALGA has invested not
less than 1118 work days in staff development. We are
now operating as a fully unitary structure and all our
offices are operating on the same network, thanks to
the successful delivery of the VPN which was installed
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during this period.
The financial position of SALGA is stronger than at any
point in the organisation’s history. Membership levies’
collection stood at 146% at the end of the period
under review, compared to only about 40% during the
period that ended in June 2005. The financial capacity
in the organisation has increased significantly with the
appointment of a chartered accountant to lead the
team. We however accept that the same cannot be
said of the capacity at some provinces. We note with
sadness that again in this financial year we obtained a
disclaimer of audit opinion from the Office of the Auditor
General.
We are now working together to resolve challenges
that led to our receiving disclaimers and/or qualified
audit reports.
SALGA notes with great concern the recent protests
that have flared up in some municipalities in the
Northwest Province. What is even more disturbing is
the violent nature these protests have assumed. Whilst

SALGA respects the rights of individuals to engage in
demonstrations, this does not include vandalism and
criminal acts and therefore condemn in the strongest
possible terms acts of lawlessness and thuggery taking
place in some of these areas.
It is critical to point out that SALGA, as the voice of
Organized Local Government, with partners like the
DPLG have taken practical steps in enhancing requisite
capacity for accelerated service delivery. These initiatives
include the Councillor Induction Programme, inclusive
of IDP and Budgeting Processes, the implementation of
Projects Consolidate and the deployment of specialists
to targeted municipalities.

whose support and commitment we would not have
been successful.

Mr. Sabelo Wasa:
Acting CEO

Moreover, the free basic services programme is well
under way and municipalities are on course to eradicate
the bucket system by the end of 2007. Let us build on
this foundation, fight poverty and create a better quality
of life for all our people.
In conclusion, I wish to express my gratitude to the
political leadership of SALGA for their guidance and
support, the SALGA staff for their commitment, and
most importantly the SALGA membership, without
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Political Structure
Office Bearers

Cllr A Masondo
National Chairperson

Cllr H Jenkins
Deputy Chairperson

Cllr O Mlaba
Deputy Chairperson

Cllr R Mhaule
Deputy Chairperson

Chairpersons of
Working Groups

Provincial Chairpersons

Cllr O Mlaba
KwaZulu-Natal

Cllr R Capa
Eastern Cape

Cllr N Mayathula-Khoza
Social Development

Cllr J Ramokhoase
Free State

Co-opted Member

Father S Mkhatshwa

Cllr C Johnson
Municipal Services

Cllr S Mxolose
Western Cape

Cllr S Somyo
HR Development

Cllr D Nkosi
Gauteng

Cllr D Masemola Cllr S Molokoane-Machika
Governance & IGR
Municipal Finance

Cllr G Lobelo
North West

Cllr S Mashilo
Mpumalanga

Cllr M Simboyi
Northern Cape

Cllr R Bazier
Economic
Development

Cllr M Monakedi
Limpopo

Footnotes:
• Cllr Scelo Mxolose replaced Cllr Bazier as chairperson of SALGA Western Cape after the March 2006 elections.
• Cllr Simboyi replaced Cllr Marais-Martin as chairperson of SALGA Northern Cape after the Provincial Conference in May 2006.
• Cllr Mashilo replaced Cllr Matseke as Chairperson of SALGA Mpumalanga after the March 2006 elections.
• Cllr C Johnson moved from being a co-opted member and replaced Cllr M Mopeli as Chairperson of the Municipal Services
Working Group.

14

Administrative Structure
Dr Makhosi Khoza
CEO
Smanga Sethene
Executive Director
Office of the CEO

Graham Richards
ED: Governane, IGR
& Municipal Services

Themba Mthethwa Gaonyadiwe Mathobela Hendrik Pietersen
Deputy CEO:
Deputy CEO:
Deputy CEO:
Western Cape
Northern Cape
Free State

Gugu Langa
Deputy CEO:
Mpumalanga

Sabelo Wasa
ED: Finance &
Corporate Services

Tomsie Dlamini
Deputy CEO:
Gauteng
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Mosa Molapo
Deputy CEO:
KwaZulu-Natal

Mzwanele Yawa
ED: Municipal
Labour & HR

Jan Muller
Deputy CEO:
North West

Chris Magwanqana
Deputy CEO:
Eastern Cape

Papo Maloka
Deputy CEO:
Limpopo

SALGA’s Governing Bodies
National Conference

National Executive Committee (NEC)

The National Conference is the highest decision making
body at SALGA and is held every thirty (30) months.
The ultimate authority of SALGA resides in the National
Conference and chief amongst its powers are to: elect
office bearers (who comprise the core leadership
of SALGA); endorse the appointment of provincial
nominees to the National Executive Committee; and
approve the programme and business plan of SALGA
for the period before the next National Conference. The
National Conference often presents an opportunity for
local government leaders to adopt new systems, new
plans and diverse approaches to deliver services to
municipalities in an efficient and affordable manner.

The NEC, consists of the National Chairperson, three
Deputy Chairpersons nine provincial chairpersons, six
additional members and up to 3 co-opted members and
the Head of Administration. The NEC is the executive
management body that oversees implementation of
SALGA programmes, through its working groups and
the administration. It meets on a monthly basis.

National Members’ Assembly
The SALGA National Members’ Assembly, previously
known as the Consultative Assembly, is the second
highest decision making body between National
Conferences. The Assembly is held twice a year and
is attended by all mayors. The purpose of this forum
is to create regular opportunities for local government
leaders to debate and discuss topical issues, coordinate
responses within the sector to act collectively on various
challenges, and network with peers.

Working Groups
The working groups act as the policy and strategic
engine of the organisation and serve as an important
platform for communication and coordination between
SALGA national, provinces and municipalities. The
working groups are not constitutionally determined, but
are dependent on the key priorities of the organisation
as set out in the business plan. They have powers
to recommend and report to the National Executive
Committee. Currently, SALGA has six working groups,
namely:
• Governance and Intergovernmental Relations
• Human Resource Development
• Municipal Services
• Municipal Finance
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• Economic Development
• Social Development

Clusters
There are three working group clusters, namely the
Social, Economic, and Governance of Administration.
These structures are chaired by the SALGA Deputy
Chairpersons. The purpose of the clusters is to enhance
synergy and integration in all aspects of planning and
implementation; coordinate the function of the working
groups in terms of the approved clustering; ensure
that all major policy pronouncements of SALGA and
other spheres of government are considered when
decisions/ recommendations are made; to provide
decision makers with a bigger (macro) scenario when
discussing or debating issues and to further facilitate
decision-making.

National Conference

Clusters

Highest decision-making body
Meets every 30 months

- Social Cluster
- Economic Cluster
- Governance and Administration Cluster

National Members Assembly
Second highest decision-making body
Meets twice a year

Working Groups
Strategy & Policy Formulation

National Executive Committee
Consists of: Chairperson, three deputy
chairs, provincial chairs, six additional
members and head of administration
Meets monthly

Chief Executive Officer

Implementation
SALGA
ADMINISTRATION
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GIR
HRD
MS
MF
ED
SD

Governance and Intergovernmental Relations
Human Resources Development
Municipal Services
Municipal Finance
Economic Development
Social Development

Our Strategic Objectives
•	Increase SALGA’s effectiveness and efficiency
to enhance sustainability of organized local
government and quality of service to its
members.

•	To facilitate and support the capacity building
of member municipality locally and through
continental and international exchanges and peer
learning in key areas.

•	To foster policy, strategy and operational integration
of SALGA.

•	To mainstream issues of Gender, Youth, People
with disabilities and HIV/AIDS as central cross
cutting issues in the local developmental agenda.

•	To foster planning, reporting and budgetary context
for the organization as a whole.
•	To facilitate the strengthening of the system of
communication in local government.
•	To ensure that SALGA enhances the position and
maintains a high profile position locally, regionally
and internationally.

•	Promote a lawful governance system which will
enable service delivery in a developmental state.

•	Promote the enhancement and mobilization of
existing capacity within the local government sphere
to share responsibility for its own development.
•	Monitor Performance, evaluate service delivery
and communication.
•	To facilitate the implementation of labour and
human resources dispensation in municipalities
that enhances service delivery.
•

•	Promote the credibility and relevance of local
government agenda in national policy and
programmes.

To advocate labour peace in the sector.

•	To ensure municipal compliance to workplace
legislation HR Legal Compliance.
•	To contribute to and support the government
programme of integrating the public sector.
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OFFICE OF THE CEO

Office of the CEO
(a) International Relations
Focus Areas
•
MIR National Policy Imperatives
•
MIR Guidelines and Priorities
•
MIR Framework
•
Partnerships
•	International Development Support for Service
Delivery

Predetermined Objectives
•	Facilitate
mutually
beneficial
interactions,
agreements and/or partnerships amongst SALGA,
its peers and other entities and between South
African municipalities and their counterparts locally
and internationally;

•	Audit of current
relationships;
•

international

Review of MIR Framework;

•	Establish
dedicated
Municipalities;
•

municipal

MIR

Capacity

in

Establish and strengthen OLG in Africa;

•	Sourcing funding and resources from donors for
various programmes in Local Government .

Achievements
•	Subsequent to the successful hosting of the
founding congress of the United Cities of Local
Governments (UCLGA) in Africa, which was held
in Tshwane during May 2005, the following were
achieved:
o	the SALGA NEC Member who is also the
former Chairperson of SALGA, as well as
the former Executive Mayor of Tshwane,
Father Smangaliso Mkhatsthwa was
elected as the first president of UCLGA.
o	Father Smangaliso Mkhatshwa has also
been appointed as one of the Presidents
of the UCLG (United Cities and Local
Governments) based in the United
Kingdom.
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o	SALGA has provided administrative and
technical support towards implementing
the UCLGA constitution, which has
led to the establishment of 10 working
groups to drive the programme of
action, namely: Capacity Building, City
Diplomacy, Decentralised Cooperation,
Mediterranean Inter regional Committee,
Local Agenda for Culture, Digital
Solidarity,
Social
Inclusion
and
Participative Democracy, Women and
Gender Equality, Peripheral Cities, Local
Finances and Decentralisation and Local
Self-Government.
o	SALGA has facilitated briefing and
sensitisation meetings with the President
of Mozambique, the President of South
Africa, South African Minister for Provincial
and Local Government, the French Interior
Minister, NEPAD officials and members of
the diplomatic corps represented in South
Africa, with the main aim of lobbying their
support morally, politically and financially,
for the UCLGA and its activities.
o	SALGA continues to forge links
important
bodies
regionally
internationally and co-operates
UCLGA to nurture its growth
success.

with
and
with
and

•	SALGA conducted a survey in August 2005 to
identify training needs in African Municipalities in
which thirty (30) areas of capacity building were
identified. The survey results are currently assisting
in the development of training programmes which
will select participants regionally. SALGA has
engaged several potential partners to be involved
in the development of the programmes, including
the CIFAL Durban Centre, whom it intends to
enter into an MOU with to roll-out the Expertise
Sharing Programme in Africa.
•	Sustained partnerships with current programme
funders and spearheaded new partnerships with
various international donors: e.g.. Global Solidarity
Funding, VNG, CLGF, LGIB, ACPLGP.

International Relations Strategy.
•	SALGA has facilitated partnerships between
SALGA and National Associations of Local
Governments in Africa, for example: the
Associations of Municipalities in Mali (AMM) and
National Associations of Local Authorities in
Ghana, Mozambique, Kenya, Namibia, Swaziland
and Zimbabwe.
•	Mobilised all African municipalities to actively
take part in the United Nations Millennium Towns
and Cities Campaigns in November 2005 and
continues to be a conduit for other international
events.

•	SALGA hosted CLGF evaluators with the intention
of funding tripartite relationships in which two
institutions in Africa share expertise with one
institution in a developed country. This is in order
to align and comply with the national policy
imperatives of South Africa.

•	Identified and exposed South African municipalities’
planning initiatives to ISOCARP (International
Society for City and Regional Planners) and Cities
Hub Africa, which led to the City of Durban being
nominated and being conferred with an award for
its Cato Manor Project which was presented in
the Bilbao Mayor’s Summit of 2005.

•	SALGA hosted ACPLGP (African Caribbean Pacific
Local Governments Platform) representatives to
assess and understand how democracy and
decentralisation thrives in South Africa and the
various networks and partnerships that support it.

•	ICT Summit initiatives influenced SALGA to
conduct many surveys assessing the status of
ICT developments within SA Municipalities in 2005
and as a result SALGA presented a position paper
in Bilbao on the status of ICT in South Africa.

•	Signed MOU with LGIB, a partner of CLGF, which
provided funding to promote IR development
with Municipalities in Commonwealth Countries.
LGIB intends to build and share its capacity for
international development in South Africa and
has funded 50% of the development of SALGA’s

Challenges
•	There is not always a sufficient budget for
implementation as the cost of running International
Relations Operations is expensive and requires
cost effective measures.
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•	The environment of international relations is
dynamic and must always take into account
diversity of languages, cultures and distant
operations.

Priorities for 2006/07
•	Establishment of a IR Technical Task Team who
will assist SALGA in appraising potential and/or
proposed international contracts, in order to verify
their bona fides.
•	Create a database of best practices in Local
Government internationally.
•	Development of a register of South African Local
Government needs for International support.
•	Audit and review, where necessary, SALGA’s
existing membership and explore possible new
membership to International Bodies.
•	Promote inter-municipal partnerships or city-to
city co-operation amongst SALGA members
and with other African countries in areas which
are crucial for decentralization, local development
and deepening democracy on the continent.
•	Develop a database of donor agencies,
international development institutions and other
resourceful organizations.
•	Spearhead peer review practices at the Local
Government level.
•	Render any possible technical, intellectual and

logistic support for events such as the Afri-cities
Summit and other African Local Government
Fora.
•	Promote Millennium Development Goals and
align them with the Integrated Development
Plans.

•	Increasing accessibility of information to all
stakeholders.
•	Supporting and promoting SALGA’s vision
and mandate through an effective internal and
external communication system.
•	Strengthening SALGA communications capacity
in provinces.

(b) Municipal Communications
Focus Areas
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local Government Communications
Information and Resource Centre
Publications and Electronic Media
Communications and Media Support
Events Management
Exhibitions
Corporate Identity and Branding
Media Relations

Predetermined Objectives
•	Support
and
strengthen
the
systems
and structures of communication in local
government.
•	Sharing and publicizing the gains which
municipalities have made in delivering services to
communities to better their lives, thus eliminating
misconceptions about the achievements of
Municipalities, and enhancing positive media
reporting.

Achievements
•	SALGA in collaboration with DPLG and
GCIS hosted a national conference on local
government communication from 8-10 May
2006. The conference aimed at ensuring that
local government communications is able to deal
with both the realities and perceptions about
service delivery and its successes in a more
meaningful way during the next 5 years, with the
following objectives:
o	To develop a five-year communications
plan based on the five-year strategic
plan for local government.
o	To develop systems aimed at
strengthening
the
communication
infrastructure and functions of ward
committees.
o	To adopt guidelines for local government
communications.
o	Accelerate communications interventions
in support of service delivery initiatives.
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o	Share knowledge and understanding
between government communicators
about systems and policies developed
since the first national local government
communicators conference in June
2002.
•	SALGA has been able to mobilize citizens
to participate in the 2006 Local Government
Elections through mass media campaign that
profiled the successes of local government.
•	SALGA, in collaboration with DPLG and GCIS,
produced a handbook containing guidelines
for LG Communication systems and structures
in order to assist municipalities in streamlining
their communication activities and to ensure
that communication at Local Government level
is in line with government norms and standards.
This handbook was adopted at the national
conference on local government communication
held in May 2006.
•	SALGA, in collaboration with DPLG and GCIS,
has established communication structures to
enhance communication at Local Government
level and ensure that there is a system of
communication across the three spheres of
government. All the provinces have established
provincial and district communication forums.
•	During the local government elections campaign,
SALGA mobilized for the representation of
women in line with the 50/50 principle.

•	In strengthening access to information to municipalities and other
stakeholders, SALGA refurbished its website to ensure that activities
of the organization, as well as municipalities, are easily accessible
nationally, regionally and internationally.

•	Facilitate support of communication function in municipalities where
the indigent levels are high.
•	Develop the Local Government Communications Cycle.

•	In improving communication and efficiently in the organization to
ensure that municipal needs are addressed promptly and efficiency,
SALGA has introduced the Intranet.

•

•	To create a dialogue between the organization and municipalities,
a communications forum in the form of an electronic newsletter
(CEO’s) was initiated. This created a platform for information sharing
between the management of the organization and the municipal
administrative leadership.

•	Assist and support Municipalities with media strategies and
initiatives.

Challenges

•

•	Communication Offices in Municipalities are not strategically located
to support political functioning.
•	Communication departments in municipalities do not have sufficient
capital and resources to implement their programmes.

Priorities for 2006/7
•

Design, compilation and distribution of an external newsletter.

Provide an information support service.

•	Seek media opportunities that could be utilized by municipalities.

•	Develop and implement a television programme on the successes
of local government.
Develop and manage databases of:
o

All Municipal Communicators.

o

All Municipalities and major stakeholders.

o	All Local government information for internal and external
users.
o	All LG information sources (Locally, provincially, nationally
and internationally).
o	All media houses that could be utilized by Municipalities
(locally, nationally, and internationally).

•	Training of communicators and political principals.
•	Implementation of Tool kit for municipal communicators and
councillors to develop a uniform and standard approach to local
government communications.
•	Spearhead collective communications interventions in municipalities
where severe capacity constraints exist, through provincial
communication forums and establishing working teams comprising
neighbouring municipalities.

25

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
• To promote a governance system which will enable
service delivery in a developmental state.
• To promote the credibility and relevance of the local
government agenda in national policy formulation and
programmes.

GOVERNANCE,
IGR and MUNICIPAL
SERVICES

Governance, IGR and
Municipal Services
a)	Governance and 		
 Intergovernmental Relations Unit
Focus Areas
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Constitutional matters
Powers and functions of municipalities
Traditional Leadership issues
Intergovernmental relations policy issues
Municipal Demarcation issues
Municipal Elections
Municipal by-laws
Public Participation

•	Roles and functions of elected municipal
representatives
•
Implementation of local government legislation
•
Governance issues
•
Legal Advice
•
Councillor Support
•
Peer Learning
•
Research & Comparative learning
•
Information dissemination

Predetermined Objectives
•	Influence the implementation processes for
Municipal Finance Management Act and Property
Rates Act, and the regulation development process
to achieve an understandable and practically
achievable compliance process, thus improving
municipal performance. To develop and hold
provincial practical implementation workshops for
both Acts to assist municipalities to address and
implement concrete requirements (e.g. adopt a
rates policy).
•	Drive proper implementation of Intergovernmental
Relations Framework Act at municipal and
provincial level, advocate understanding thereof
and internalisation in national and provincial
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sector departments to ensure municipal interests
are protected.
•	Finalise the Municipal Office Bearers handbook
to assist with the establishment of newly
elected councils and support new councillors in
understanding their roles.
•	Continue to participate in and finalise the review
of the councillor support system by advocating
inclusion of provisions in the national budget and
inclusion of proposals in Moseneke Commission
recommendations.
•	Engage in the modelling exercise on the new
policy approach to EDIR and ensure appropriate
contractual and legislative processes are adhered
to.
•	Engage in legislative processes affecting local
government, e.g. Electricity Regulation Bill,
Electricity Distribution Industry Restructuring Bill,
legislation to give effect to elimination of Cross
Boundary municipalities and the finalisation of the
Intergovernmental Relations Framework Act.
•	Participate in and influence the process towards

the integration of the public sector in particular the
legislative processes to give effect to this.
•

Implement the SALGA elections strategy.

Achievements

Public Office Bearers;
-	Lobbying
National
Treasury
to
make specific allocations to certain
municipalities for councillor remuneration
from the national budget.

•	The Intergovernmental Relations Framework
Act makes the establishment of District
Intergovernmental forums mandatory. At provincial
level SALGA assisted District Municipalities to
establish the District Intergovernmental forums.

•	Continuous interaction with the DPLG to clarify the
annual proclamations on upper limits of salaries,
allowances and benefits of councillors resulting
in significant amendments to ensure easier and
uniform implementation and fewer audit queries.

•	Finalising the process of signing the Memorandum
of Understanding between SALGA and the
National House of Traditional Leaders intended
to create cooperation between municipal
councils and traditional authorities, thus avoiding
the contestation of authority between local
authorities and traditional leaders. Technical
teams represented by both organizations have
been established to identify areas of cooperation
between SALGA provincial structures and the
Provincial Houses of Traditional Leaders.

•	Developed influential guideline documents and
policy position papers saving municipal resources
and providing consistency in service delivery.

•	Participated in the process of electricity distribution
industry restructuring at a conceptual and
legislative level, resulting directly in the protection
of municipal interests.
•	Further developed a comprehensive SALGA
policy position on the review of the councillor
support system, including councillor remuneration
resulting in:
-

influencing the process of the Independent
Commission for the Remuneration of

•	Joined forces with the provincial legislatures on
matters of incorporation of former cross boundary
municipalities into other provinces.
•	At a provincial level played a key role in the staff
transfers and placement processes of former
cross boundary municipalities and disestablished
municipality (Bohlabelo District Municipality).
•	Developed a comprehensive service delivery
database for local government for the period
2004/05, which reflect in numbers and figures
municipal performance details around houses
and roads built, water and sanitation connections,
electricity connections, etc. This database will serve
as a service delivery performance mechanism for
stakeholders to be able to identify areas that need
intervention.
•	Reviewed the Mayoral Handbook to be in line
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with recently enacted local government and other
legislation.
•	Participated in the implementation and oversight
structures of Project Consolidate at national and
provincial level by inter alia:-	Facilitating
the
identification
and
deployment of municipal officials as
service delivery facilitators in Project
Consolidate municipalities, resulting in
implementation of fast track projects and
identification of needs.
-	Further assisted in the development of
municipal action plans resulting in all
identified municipalities receiving handson support and financial allocations under
Project Consolidate.
-	Consistent and meaningful participation in
the Siyenza Manje Technical Committee
to ensure that municipal interests are
protected and facilitated identification,
deployment and induction of experts.
•	Submitted comprehensive input on the Department
of Provincial and Local Government’s Guidelines
on allocation of additional powers and functions
to municipalities, influencing the content to
avoid unfunded mandates and protect municipal
interest.
•	Developed and circulated a comprehensive Pre
and Post Elections Guide to Municipalities and
provided continuous support pre and post the local
government elections to municipalities resulting

•	Develop a Tax Guideline to assist councillors in
financial planning.

in the smooth running and preparations for the
convening of the inaugural council meeting after
the elections and putting into place all governance
structures in municipalities. Provincial Technical
Task Teams were established to assist with giving
technical support to municipal electoral officers
and also ensured that all municipal facilities
identified as voting stations were conducive to
conduct elections.

•	The current (reviewed) system of councillor
remuneration and specifically the implementation
of the “upper limits” is not clear on a number of
issues, resulting in different interpretations and
implementation.

•	Facilitated
the
implementation
of
the
Intergovernmental Relations Framework Act at
municipal level, advocated an understanding
thereof and lobbied national and provincial sector
departments to ensure municipal interests are
protected.

•	The absence of a Memorandum of Understanding
between SALGA and Department of Provincial and
Local Government, on the Knowledge Sharing
Programme.

•	A peer review seminar was held in May 2005 in
which municipalities drew lessons and shared
experiences of the peer review programme.
•	The ideal benchmarks for both the District
Municipalities and the Local Municipalities were
reviewed to align with new legislative framework
and policies within local government.
•	Successfully marketed a peer review programme
and secured funds for five (5) peer reviews for the
2006/7 financial year.

challenge.

•	The extension of learning networks, in order to
broaden participation of municipalities.

•	Engaging provincial governments on implementing
Section 139 of the Constitution to ensure early
detection of problems with the intention of
discouraging future such interventions.
•	Ward Committees are not yet fully functional and
effectively addressing the needs of communities.
•	The lack of clarity regarding the roles and
responsibilities of all governance structures and
office bearers within municipalities.
•	Over regulation of the local government sector.

Challenges

Priorities for 2006/07

•	The implementation of local government
legislation due partly to the lack of capacity in
municipalities.

•	Finalise the Municipal Office Bearers Handbook to
assist municipalities on the benefits and privileges
of municipal office bearers.

•	The Division of functions and powers between
district and local municipalities still remains a

•	Continue to advocate and lobby for a review of
the councillor support system.
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•	Engage in the restructuring of the electricity industry
to ensure appropriate legislative processes and
contractual arrangements with due consideration
of municipal interests.
•	Engage in legislative processes affecting local
government, e.g. Electricity Regulation Amendment
Bill, Electricity Distribution Restructuring Bill, etc.
•	Ensure and drive the proper implementation of the
Promotion of Administrative Justice Act.
•	Develop a Guideline to assist municipalities in
complying with the National Credit Act.
•	Review SALGA’s participation in Intergovernmental
structures to strengthen SALGA’s advocacy and
lobbying role.
•	To extend the two learning networks (District
Learning Network & Local Learning Network) to
include other local and district municipalities.
•	To clarify the roles of the District Municipalities.
•	Revitalise
information
newsletters and website.

dissemination,

i.e.,

•	Conduct roadshows on all Knowledge Sharing
member municipalities of both the Learning
networks.
•	To promote knowledge sharing, peer learning
and collaboration at Provincial, National and
Continental level.

b) Municipal Finance
Focus Areas
•	Anti-corruption campaigns
•

Municipal budgeting processes

•	Revenue generation and collection initiatives
•	Section 139 intervention support to municipalities
•	Municipal financial management and reporting
•

Municipal capital projects funding

•

Municipal legislation Implementation

Predetermined Objectives
•	Conduct research and an impact assessment of
the replacement of the Regional Service Collection
(RSC) levies;
•	Assessment/Investigation of functional areas
resulting in unfunded mandates;
•	Engage the Financial and Fiscal Commission
(FFC) on its yearly national budget submissions;
•	Influence the process of determining Local
Government Equitable Share allocations;
•	Effective participation in the process of the annual
Division of Revenue between the three spheres of
government;

•	Effective and meaningful participation in
Intergovernmental and Fiscal Relations forums
that impact on local government;

•	Compiled a report on functional areas perceived
by municipalities to be resulting in unfunded
mandates to inform government funding policy.

•	Assess the status of municipal audits since
2001/02;

•	Made comprehensive inputs to Select Committee
on Finance on Medium Term Budget Policy
Statement.

•	Conduct the annual Municipal Budget Weeks;
•	Establish and ensure functionality of the District
Areas Finance Forums;

•	Made a submission on Division of Revenue Bill to
the Select Committee on Finance and participated
in the final consideration of the Bill at NCOP
plenary in March 2006 in the Northern Cape.

•	Assist and provide support to municipalities in
the implementation of the Municipal Finance
Management Act (MFMA) and Property Rates
Act.

•	Made a submission on proposed Constitutional
Amendments made by National Treasury.

Achievements
•	Made a submission on National Treasury RSC
levies discussion document submitted in June
2006.
•	Developed a response to FFC’s submissions/
recommendations for 2007/08 government
budget consideration and made a submission to
the Select Committee on Finance in May 2006.
•	Made a submission on the finalisation of the
development component of the local government
equitable share formula in June 2006.
•	Drafted and submitted the SALGA position paper
on RSC Levies to National Treasury in September
2005 to inform interim funding of Metros and
District municipalities.
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•	Compiled comprehensive report detailing
the status audits since 2001/02 of almost all
municipalities and support action taken to ensure
that municipalities’ situations are enhanced.
•	Successfully conducted 8 Provincial workshops
between 16 July and 14 August throughout all
provinces with municipalities presenting their
budgets and budgeting processes.
•	Conducted the Municipal Budget Analysis for
2005/06 Financial Year.
•	Established District Area Finance Forums in terms
of Section 24 of the IGR Act to promote and
facilitate intergovernmental relations between the
district and local municipalities within the district.
•	Developed comments in terms of section 42(2)
of MFMA on Water Boards and Eskom’s price
increases and revenue requirement consultation.

•	Participated at the provincial workshops on
implementation of Property Rates Act organised
by DPLG.

Challenges
•	Some municipalities failed to respond timeously
regarding information requested on RSC levies
collections over the past financial years resulting in
some of these districts complaining that the grant
allocated in place of RSCs was not sufficient.
•	Few municipalities responded to the research
and some submitted information which was not
very useful, resulting in the project not being fully
completed (best practice or guidelines to identify
and handle unfunded mandates could not be
developed).
•	Limited understanding of the government transfer
system made it difficult to receive inputs from
municipalities.
•	Difficult to obtain information from some provinces
Auditor General Offices.
•	Difficulty with data collection resulting in the
2005/06 municipal budgets analysis not being
finalised by the time of the workshops.
•	District Area Finance Forums were not established
in Western Cape, KZN and Gauteng. In provinces
where District Area Finance Forums were
successfully established, some of the forums are
not operational.

Priorities for 2006/07
•	Participation in the process of re-alignment of
powers and functions and the review of local
government fiscal framework.
•	Improvement of effective and consistent political
representation on intergovernmental fiscal
structures.
•	Develop guidelines to help municipalities in easily
accessing the conditional grants available in the
intergovernmental system.
•	Develop mechanisms to help municipalities in
enhancing their spending on capital projects.
•	Continue to assist municipalities in pursuing debt
owed for municipal services recovery especially
by Councillors, municipal, government & public
entities, municipal employees and government
departments.
•	Strengthen the operation of District Area Finance
Forums by building strong relationships with
departments, public institutions & professional
bodies.
•	Continue to develop guidelines to assist
municipalities in identifying and handling
unfunded mandates and creating the necessary
awareness.
•	Develop and implement a model on finance and
governance municipal support which will be
used in detecting and handling problems in these
areas.
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•	Analyse municipal reports on budgets, audit
and financial performance & reporting in order
to assess the extent to which municipalities are
effectively implementing and complying with
municipal finance legislation and to give necessary
support.

c) Social Development
Key Focus Areas
The SALGA Social Development programme focuses
on:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Gender mainstreaming
Youth in local government
People with disabilities
HIV and AIDS
Public Participation
Sports & Recreation, Arts & Culture
Public Safety
Poverty Alleviation

Predetermined Objectives
Building the capacity of the social development
councillors and officers in municipalities
•	Developing gender specific policies in local
municipalities.
•	Monitoring the implementation of the equity plans
ensuring that targets for all vulnerable groups are
met.

•	Monitoring gender representation in municipal councils.

Challenges

•	Launching the SALGA Youth Desk and SALGA Youth Strategy.

•	Lack of research data on the skills available in local
government.

•	Implementing local government outreach programmes that seek
to alleviate poverty in communities.
•	Developing a local government strategy that will respond to
people living with disabilities.
•	Revival of the South African Chapter of the Alliance of Mayors
and Municipal Leaders on HIV and AIDS in Africa.

Achievements
•	SALGA has developed a local government gender policy
framework which seeks to mainstream gender in all programmes
and processes of local government.
•	Assisted in the campaign to increase the number of female
political representatives resulting in a rise from 29% to 42%.
•	SALGA has developed a draft Youth Development Policy
Strategy. The strategy categorizes youth according to age
and needs which are often influenced by socio-economic and
environmental impact. It further identified the need to ensure
that youth is mainstreamed in local government programmes.

•	Lack of sustainability in gender programmes in local
government.
•	Review of the newly developed youth policy framework to ensure
that it incorporates changing government policies.
•	There is no local government policy framework in place for
people with disabilities.
•	The majority of municipalities are lagging behind in creating
economic opportunities for people with disabilities.
•	Lack of coordination and sharing of experience amongst
municipalities on HIV/Aids.
•	Lack of uniform and coordinated programmes for local
government.
•	The sociopolitical and economic impact of HIV/Aids often results
in skills loss, disability and death.
•	Absence of local government specific legislation regarding
sports & recreation and arts & culture issues.

•	An audit has been conducted on the PWD programmes and
policies that exist in municipalities.
•	SALGA has conducted a municipal HIV/Aids audit to determine
areas of excellence in municipal HIV/Aids programmes.
•	There are municipalities that have implemented successful
HIV/aids programmes that focus on both primary health and
development.
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Priorities for 2006/2007

•	Participate effectively in the 16 Days of Activism
against women and children abuse programmes.

•	Monitoring gender representation in municipal
councils.

•

•	Launching the SALGA Youth Strategy.

•	Launching the SALGA HIV/AIDS website.

Finalise HIV/Aids Country Plan.

In performing our lobby and advocacy mandate
the directorate has successfully participated in
the following structures and processes where
it has influenced the outcome in favour of
municipalities.

•	Developing a Social Development Policy.

GOVERNANCE & INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS YEAR PROGRAMME: 2005/2006
Structure

1.Local Government MinMecs

2.Technical Minmecs

3.Presidential Coordinating Committee

4.Technical PCC

Dates
5 July 2005
15 September 2005
22 November 2005
17 March 2006
9 June 2006
16 August 2005
8 November 2005
16 November 2005
24 February 2006
10-11 April 2006
26 April 2006
31 May 2006
14 October 2005
31 April 2006
23 June 2006
27 September 2005
16 November 2005
10 March 2006

SALGA Representative

Officer Bearers
Provincial Chairpersons
Executive Directors
CEO
Deputy CEO’s

Chairperson & CEO

CEO & Executive Director IGR

34

Structure

Dates

SALGA Representative

5.Housing MinMecs

28 June 2005
26 September 2005
7 November 2005
6 December 2005
13-14 March 2006
21-22 April 2006
12-13 June 2006

Cllr.Clarence Johnson
Cllr.Mkhoza-Lukhele
Tebogo Moremi

Committee of the heads of Housing Department

15 June 2005
18/19 August 2005
15 September 2005
27 October 2005
28 November 2005
7 February 2006
24 February 2006
3March 2006
3-4 April 2006
5 May 2006

Tebogo Moremi

6.National Health Council

03 June 2005
23 September 2005
24 November 2005
23 March 2006
23-24 February 2006
25-26 May 2006

Dr.U Sankar
Ayanda Nabe

MIPTECH MEETING

17 March 2006
6 May 2006
27 September 2006
17 November 2006
23-24 February 2006
31 March 2006
30 June 2006
2 October 206

CEO ‘s Forum

27 January 2006
21 April 2006
14 July 2006
30 November 2006

7.Tourism MinMecs

Cllr. Johnny Tsotetsi
David Bambata
David Bambata
Mr.Solly Mosidi

Tebogo Moremi
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Structure

Dates

SALGA Representative

8.Environment MinMec

17 March 2006
2 June 2006
25 August 2006
17 November 2006

Cllr. Johnny Tsotetsi
David Bambata

9.Transport Minmecs
Transport Lekgotla

Committee of Transport Officials(COTO) Meetings

11.Department of Water Affairs

17 February 2006
28 April 2006
21-24 June 2006
17 August 2006
29 September 2006
17 November 2006
6 February 2006
3 April 2006
12 June 2006
18 September 2006
06 November 2006

Cllr.PT Ramaremela
Cllr.Clarence Johnson
Russel Baloyi

Cllr. Ramaremela
Russell Baloyi
Cllr. Derrick Ndlovu
William Moraka
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PARLIAMENTARY PROGAMME: 3rd TERM 2005
(1 AUGUST- 16 SEPTEMBER)
Date

Committee/Event

04/08/

NCOP Plenary

12/08

JMC on the Improvement of Quality
of Life and Status of Women

Bill/ Occasion

Time and Venue

1. Subject for Discussion: Women Building a South
Africa that truly belongs to all.
2. Committee Reports

14:00
NCOP Chamber

Gender Issues at Local Govt. level (policies and
programmes)

09:00
Commttee Room 1 and 2
90 Plein Street
Parliament

SALGA Representatives
Cllr Jenkins
Cllr Molokoane-Machika
Cllr Bazier
Cllr Ramogoase
Ms M Khoza
Ms A Nabe

PARLIAMENTARY PROGAMME: 4th TERM 2005
(10 OCTOBER – 15 DECEMBER)
Date

Committee/Event

Bill/ Occasion

Time and Venue

SALGA Representatives

14/10

Water Affairs and Forestry

Hearings on DWAF Annual Report 2004/05

09:00-13:00
V475

Mr N Macleod
Mr L Leballo
Cllr A Mpela
Cllr N Mnukwa
Ms L Mudunungu
Mr W Moraka

14/10

Minerals and Energy. PC

Briefing by DME on the Electricity Regulation Bill

09:00-11:00
Good Hope Chamber

Mr L Joel

17/10

Local Govt. PC

Briefing by DPLG on Cross-Boundary Municipalities Bill

11:30-17:00
Old Assembly Chamber

Mr G Richards

18/10

Local Govt. PC

Hearings on the Cross Boundary Municipalities Bill

09:00-17:00
Comm. Room 2 120 Plein
Street

Mr L Joel

19/10

Justice and Constitutional
Development. PC

Briefing on the Constitution 12 Amendment Bill

10:00-13:00
M46

Mr L Joel
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Date

Committee/Event

Bill/ Occasion

Time and Venue

SALGA Representatives

25/10

National Assembly

Tabling of the Medium Term Budget Policy Statement
(MTBPS)

10:00-14:00
E249

Cllr Molokoane-Machika
Mr P Raedani

26/10

Joint Sitting

Address by the President of Botswana

14:00-15:00
National Assembly

Cllr Mxolose
Cllr B Landingwe
Cllr S Moodley

28/10

Justice. PC

Consideration of the Constitution 12 A/B

09:00-13:00
M46

Mr L Joel

28/10

Joint Coordinating committee
on APRM

Orientation Workshop on the Role of Parliament in SA’s
Review Process.

09:30-17:00
M46

Cllr H Jenkins
Mr N Patel
Mr K Mullagie

31/10

Minerals and Energy. PC

Public Hearings on the Electricity Regulation Bill

09:00-16:00
Good Hope Chamber

Mr L Baloyi
Mr R Baloyi
Cllr Hlatshwayo

01/11

Minerals and Energy. PC

Public Hearings on the Electricity Regulation Bill

09:00-14:00
Good Hope Chamber

Mr L Joel
Mr R Baloyi

02/11

Minerals and Energy. PC

Briefings by NER and EDI on Annual Reports

09:00-15:00
Good Hope Chamber

Mr R Baloyi

02/11

Joint Budget Committee

Public Hearings on the MTBPS

09:30-17:00
E249

Mr P Raedani
Cllr Molokoane-Machika

02/11

Local Govt. PC

Consideration of Constitution 12 A/B and Cross Boundary
Municipalities Bill

09:00-13:00
V454

Mr L Joel

10:30
Tivumbeni Centre
Nkowa-nkowa
Tzaneen

Cllr A Masondo
Cllr Monakedi D
Cllr Mogotlane R
Cllr Masemola S
Cllr Masemola D
Cllr Maluleke C
Cllr Makunyane T
Cllr Ramaremela
Cllr Hosi Makumbane N
Cllr Molokoane-Machika

04/11

NCOP Plenary

President’s Address to the NCOP
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Date

Committee/Event

Bill/ Occasion

Time and Venue

07/11

Minerals and Energy. PC

DME response to issues raised at public hearings on ERB

09:00-13:00
Good Hope Chamber

SALGA Representatives
Mr L Joel
Mr R Baloyi
Cllr Hlatshwayo
Mr L Joel
Mr R Baloyi

08/11

Minerals and Energy. PC

Deliberations on ERB

09:00-14:00
Good Hope Chamber

09/11

Minerals and Energy. PC

Consideration and Adoption of ERB

09:00-14:00
Old Assembly Chamber

15/11

Local Govt. PC

Briefing on Progress and programme in respect of B36-2005
(Cross Boundary Municipalities Repeal Bill)

11:00-13:00
V227

06/12

Provincial and Local Govt. PC

Consideration of Cross Boundary Municipalities Repeal Bill

Cllr R Mhaule
Mr L Joel

07/12

Provincial and Local Govt. PC

Consideration of Cross Boundary Municipalities Repeal Bill

Mr L Joel

12/12

Security and Constitutional
Affairs. SC

Consideration of Final Mandates on Constitution Twelfth A/B

Mr L Joel

13/12

Local Govt. and Admin. SC

Consideration and voting on the Cross Boundary
Municipalities Repeal Bill

Cllr D Masemola
Mr L Joel

NCOP Plenary

1. Constitution 12Th A/B
2. Cross Boundary Municipalities Repeal Bill
(One debate on both Bills)
3. Farewell speeches

Cllr H Jenkins
Cllr D Nkosi
Cllr G Lobelo
Cllr D Monakedi
Cllr Mashilo
Mr L Joel

14/12
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Cancelled
Mr L Joel

PARLIAMENTARY PROGAMME: 1st TERM 2006
(16 JANUARY – 31 MARCH)
Date

Committee/Event

Time and Venue

Bill/ Occasion

SALGA Representatives

03/02

Joint Sitting of Parliament

09:30-13:00
NA Chamber

President’s State-of-the-nation-address

Cllr A Masondo
Cllr O Mlaba
Cllr H Jenkins
Cllr R Matseke
Fr. S Mkhatshwa
Cllr C Johnson
Cllr R Bazier
Cllr D Nkosi

14/02

Economic and Foreign Affairs. SC

09:00-10:00
G26

Briefing on Electricity Regulation Bill

Mr R Baloyi
Mr L Joel

15/02

Economic and Foreign Affairs. SC

11:00-13:00
M201

Finalization of Electricity Regulation Bill

Mr L Joel
Mr K Mullagie
Cllr A Masondo
Ms M Khoza

15/02

National Assembly

14:00

Budget Speech and Introduction of
Division of Revenue Bill

16/02

Finance SC, PC & JBC

12:30-17:00
E249

Address by Minister of Finance and DG
of National Treasury on the Budget

Mr P Raedani

16/02

NCOP Plenary

14:00
NCOP Chamber

Electricity Regulation Bill

Cllr S Mxolose

17/02

Finance SC

11:00-13:00

Briefing on Division of Revenue

Cllr Molokoane-Machika
Mr P Raedani

20/0203/03

Constituency Period

Constituency Period

Constituency Period

Constituency Period
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Date

Committee/Event

Time and Venue

Bill/ Occasion

SALGA Representatives

Cllr Molokoane-Machika

08/03

Finance. SC

09:30-16:30
Committee Room 1, 120 Plein Street

Hearings on the Division of Revenue
Bill: National Depts.
• Local Govt.
• Water Affairs
• Agriculture
• Sport and Recreation

08/03

Joint Sitting of Parliament

14:00
NA Chamber

Subject for discussion: International
Women’s Day (exact wording to be
confirmed)

Cllr Mayathula-Khoza
Cllr Molokoane-Machika

Budget Review:
• SALGA
• NHTL
• MDB
•

Cllr C Johnson
Dr. M Khoza
Mr S Wasa
Mr K Mullagie
Cllr Johnson
Cllr Mxolose

09:00-17:00
CTICC

14/03

Local Govt. PC

14/03

Joint Sitting of Parliament

14:00
NA Chamber

Address by UN Secretary General: Mr
Kofi Annan

16/03

Finance. SC

09:00-13:00
E305

•

16/03

Local Govt. PC

23/03

Finance. SC

29/03

Local Govt. PC

14:00-17:00
Old Assembly Chamber

Consideration of Negotiating
Mandates on DoR Bill

Briefing by SALGA on Annual Report

09:30-13:00
G26

•

09:00-17:00
Lagoon Beach Hotel

Full day workshop with Ministry and
Department, including State-of-theNation Address
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Consideration of Final Mandates on
DoR Bill

Mr Raedani
Cllr H Jenkins
Dr M Khoza
Mr S Wasa
Mr Mullagie
Mr P Readani
Cllr H Jenkins
Cllr C Johnson
Cllr S Molokoane-Machika
Mr L Joel

Date

Committee/Event

Time and Venue

Bill/ Occasion

SALGA Representatives

28/03

NCOP PLENARY

17:30-19:30
NORTHERN CAPE

DIVISION OF REVENUE BILL

Cllr J Douw

31/03

NCOP PLENARY

10:00-13:30
NORTHERN CAPE

DEPUTY PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS TO
THE NCOP (PROVISIONAL)

Cllr. Marais Martin
Cllr. H Jenkins
Cllr. D Singh
Cllr. S Mbondezi
Cllr. IT Ruiters
Cllr. N November
Cllr. W Johnson
Cllr. Kgopodithate
Cllr.S. Mereotlhe
Cllr. MG. Rakoi
Cllr. Molokoane-Machika

0328/04

Constituency Period

Constituency Period

Constituency Period

Constituency Period

PARLIAMENTARY PROGAMME: 2nd TERM 2006
(02 MAY- 23 JUNE)
Date

05/05

08/05

Committee/Event

Finance SC

Joint Sitting of Parliament

Time and Venue
09:00-17:00
V454

14:00
NA Chamber

Bill/ Occasion

SALGA Representatives

Public Hearings on 4th Quarter Conditional Grant
Report:
• Roads and Transport
• Housing
• SALGA

Khalil

Tenth Anniversary of the Constitution

Cllr A Masondo
Cllr H Jenkins
Cllr D Masemola
Cllr C Johnson
Cllr D Monakeli
Cllr N Mayathula-Khoza
Fr. S Mkhatshwa
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Date

Committee/Event

Time and Venue

Bill/ Occasion

SALGA Representatives

09/05

Local Govt. and Administration SC

09:00-13:00
E305

Briefing by Thaba Chweu Municipality on their
Progress re: sec 139 intervention

Mr A Mpela

1. Briefing by DWAF on the administering of Water
services Operating and Transfer Subsidy (via
augmentation to the water trading account)
2. Briefing by DPLG on the administering of the
Municipal Infrastructure Grant and Restructuring
Grant
1. Briefing by National Treasury on the
administering of Financial Mngt. Grant

10/05

Finance SC

09:00-13:00
Committee Room 1
90 Plein Street

17/05

Finance SC

09:00-13:00

Briefing on FFC Recommendations: 2007/08

24/05

Finance SC

09:00-13:00
Room 2
120 Plein Street

Hearings on FFC Recommendations 2007/08:
• Depts. of Local Govt.,
• Housing; and
• SALGA
• Transport

24/05

NCOP Plenary

14:00
NCOP Chamber
10:00
NCOP Chamber

30/05

NCOP Plenary

Mr P Raedani
Mr R Baloyi
Mr R Gilmer
Mr H Norman
Mr K Mullagie
Mr A Mpela
Mr P Raedani
Mr A Mpela
Mr Raedani

1. Notices of Motion
2. Policy Debate on Budget Vote No 34: Water
Affairs and Forestry
3. Consideration of Reports on Protocols

Cllr Johnson
Mr Moraka

1. Notices of Motion
2. Policy Debate on Budget Vote No 5: Provincial
and Local Government
3. Minerals and Energy

Cllr Johnson
Armstrong Mphela
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Date

Committee/Event

Time and Venue

Bill/ Occasion

SALGA Representatives

30/05

Local Govt. PC

14:00-17:00
E249

Hearings on Disaster Management: Municipalities
and their state of Readiness

Mr Mullagie

31/05

Local Govt. PC

09:00-13:00
V226

Hearings on Disaster Management: Municipalities
and their state of Readiness

Mr Mullagie

31/05

NCOP Plenary

14:00
NCOP Chamber

1. Notices of Motion
2. Policy Debate on Budget Vote No 33: Transport

Mr R Baloyi
Armstrong Mphela

08/06

NCOP Plenary

15:00NCOP Chamber

1. Notices of Motion
2. Policy Debate on Budget Vote No 27:
Environmental Affairs and Tourism

Cllr Tsotetsi
Mr David Bambatha

09/06

Finance SC

09:30-13:00
Committee Room 1
120 Plein Street

14:00
NCOP Chamber

14/06

NCOP Plenary

14/06

Public Service and Admin PC

09:30-13:00
M46

20/06

Water Affairs and Forestry PC

09:00-17:00
V475

1. Report on Financial Statements of Municipalities
by Auditor General
2. Briefing on the Municipal Budget process by
national Treasury.

Cllr Molokoane-Machika
Mr P Raedani

1. Notices of Motion
2. Decision of Question on Votes and Schedules:
Appropriation Bill
3. Consideration of Appropriation Bill
4. Older Persons Bill

Armstrong Mphela

Briefing on Capacity Building across the three
spheres, Building a one-stop culture in public
Service and Capacity Building on cost recovery by
Municipalities
Hearings into Water Quality and Water Security
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Armstrong Mphela

Mr Sipho Mosia
Mr M Doralingo

Date

Committee/Event

Time and Venue

Bill/ Occasion

SALGA Representatives

21/06

Water Affairs and Forestry PC

09:00-17:00
Committee Room 1
90 Plein Street

Hearings into Water Quality and Water Security

Armstrong Mphela

21/06

Joint Rules Committee

08:00-10:00
Old Assembly
Chamber

Joint Rules of Parliament

Armstrong Mphela

21/06

Joint Programme Committee

08:00-10:00
Old Assembly
Chamber

Draft Programme Framework of Parliament

Armstrong Mphela

21/06

Minerals and Energy PC

09:30-13:00 E249

Public Hearings on the 7th RED

Mr R Baloyi

21/06

NCOP Plenary

14:00
NCOP Chamber

1.
2.
3.
4.

23/06

Minerals and Energy PC

09:30-13:00
E249

Notices of Motion
Legislation
Consideration of Reports
Snap Debate on N2 Gateway Project

Public Hearings on the 7th RED
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Armstrong Mphela

Cllr Z Hlatshwayo
Mr L Joel
Mr R Baloyi

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
• To monitor performance and evaluate service delivery
and communication.

MUNICIPAL SERVICES

Municipal Services
Focus Areas
•
Housing
•
Water & Sanitation Services
•
Energy & Electricity
•	Basic Service Provision and Infrastructure
Development
•
Public Transport
•
Environmental Management
•
Sustainable Development
•
Municipal/Environmental Health Services
•
Local Economic Development (LED)
•
Tourism Development
•
Development Planning
•
Public Safety
•
Libraries, Parks and Cemeteries

•

it has influenced the outcome in favour of
Municipalities:

In performing our lobbying and advocacy
mandate, the unit has successfully participated
in the following structures and processes where

PROCESSES
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

STRUCTURES

Development of social housing policy
Development and implementation of the
Municipal Housing Accreditation Framework
and Guidelines
Development and implementation of Housing
Sector Plans
National Social Cluster Task Team on Human
Settlements
Implementation of the Social Compact for
Rapid Housing Delivery
Implementation of BNG Programmes
Development of the National Municipal LED
Framework/Guidelines developed by the dplg
Development of Biodiversity Act and Strategy
by DEAT
Selection of the Cleanest Town Competition
Blue Flag Beach Programme
Capacity Building on Energy Efficiency and
Renewable Energy (CABEERE)
Transfer of electrification funds from DME to
MIG
Development and implementation of the FBS
Policy and the National Indigent Policy
MIG Policy Review
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

EDI Holdings Sectoral Committees
REDs Multi Stakeholder Forum for the modelling
exercise
Parliamentary Portfolio Committees,
Minerals
and Energy, Finance
Local Government
Public Enterprise and Joint Sittings
Cities Energy Review Technical Committee
Association of Municipal Electricity Undertakings
(AMEU)
EDIR Political Reference Group
EDIR Technical Team
EDIR Modelling Task Team
The Metro REDs Forum
EDI Holdings Sectoral Committees
REDs Multi Stakeholder Forum for the modelling
exercise
Parliamentary Portfolio Committees,
Minerals
and Energy, Finance Committee
Public Enterprise and Joint Sittings
Cities Energy Review Technical Committee

PROCESSES
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Joint FBS, MIT 3 and Sec78 Task Team
meetings
Free Basic Services District Intervention
workshops
Development of the IDP Engagement
Framework
National and Provincial IDP Engagement
Sessions
Development of the regulatory framework in
the water services sector
Development of the institutional reform
strategy
Development of the Environmental Impact
Management System
Rewriting of the water sector support strategy
Water-boards bulk water tariff negotiations
The planning of the water services councillor
induction programme

(a) Housing
Predetermined Objectives
•	Continued support for and participation in the
implementation of the Breaking New Ground
Strategy (BNG) including identification of crisis
areas, implementation of rehabilitation projects,
and ensuring of progressive implementation of
accreditation.
•	Complete and roll out the Social Housing
Toolkit and hold implementation workshops in
provinces.

STRUCTURES
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Association of Municipal Electricity Undertakings
(AMEU)
EDIR Political Reference Group
EDIR Technical Team
EDIR Modelling Task Team
The Metro REDs Forum
Local Municipalities REDs Forum
Electricity Regulation Bill
Energy Efficiency
MIPTECHS- Tourism and Environment
MINMECS-Tourism and Environment
Water Indaba/Summit
National Sanitation Task Team
National Joint Response Team
National Sanitation Job Creation Task Team

•	Develop a generic performance agreement to
monitor relations between municipalities and
social housing institutions.

Achievements
•	SALGA, in partnership with VNG (the Dutch Local
Government Association):
o	Entered into a Memorandum of
Understanding with the Social Housing
Foundation (SHF) on joint areas
of collaboration in order to assist
municipalities with expediting the delivery
of social housing.
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o	Undertook the Social Housing Pilots in 4
municipalities to test the applicability of
the social housing approach.
o	Developed the Municipal Social Housing
Toolkit intended to assist municipalities in
understanding and implementing social
housing approaches.
o	Developed and finalised the LOGO
SOUTH Programme, an information
and knowledge exchange programme
intended to support the twinning relations
between South African municipalities and
Dutch municipalities in the field of Social
Housing.
o	Launched
the
Social
Housing
Newsletter which is intended to enhance
understanding in Social Housing matters
in Municipalities. The newsletter has been
circulated to municipalities.
•	Participated in and supported the Implementation
of the Comprehensive Strategy for Sustainable
Human Settlement Plan (the Breaking New
Ground Strategy - BNG) in the following way:
o	Held joint SALGA NEC and Housing
MINMEC meetings to develop intergovernmental actions to speed up
housing delivery.
o	Jointly convened, with the National
Housing Department, the National
Housing Indaba for an intergovernmental
response and coordination in housing

delivery resulting in the adoption of
inter-governmental agreements in
expediting housing delivery.

Challenges
•

Implementation of the Comprehensive
Strategy for Sustainable Human Settlements

•	Availability of suitable land for integrated
human settlements
•	The
implementation,
monitoring
and
evaluation of the moratorium on the sale of
municipal owned land in favour of integrated
human settlements
•	Implementation of the Municipal Housing
Accreditation Framework

Priorities for 2006/7
•	Audit of municipalities that have adopted
Council Resolutions regarding the moratorium
on the sale of municipal owned land
•	Implementation Strategy for the Municipal
Social Housing Toolkit
•	Implementation of the Municipal Housing
Accreditation Framework at targeted
municipalities
•	Develop a Generic Performance Agreement
to monitor relations between municipalities
and the social housing institutions

(b) Energy and Electricity

Challenges

Predetermined Objectives

•	Capacity constraints at municipal level to
implement sustainable energy programmes

•	Ensure operationalisation of the Regional
Electricity Distributor.
•	Promote energy efficiency and demand side
management.
•	Develop a funding agreement for rendering of
the FBE.
•	Oversee the migration of the Electrification
Fund to MIG.
•	Conduct research on which cities are doing
alternative energy provisions as part of FBE.

Achievements

•	Effective Monitoring and
Electricity Programmes
•

Evaluation

of

Provision of alternative energy sources

•	Change in the Electricity Restructuring
strategy as it relates to the establishment of
the Regional Electricity Distributors (REDs),
the shift from six to proposed seven REDs
Model
•	The difficulty of operating in a voluntary
environment in the absence of legislation
giving effect to restructuring

Priorities

•	Held Information and Technical Workshops
with municipalities in all the nine provinces
on electricity restructuring in order to canvass
SALGA’s EDIR position.
•	Convened meetings with DME, DPE, ESKOM,
EDIH and the dplg on the Liquidation of
Transitional Electricity Distributors (TED).
•	Raised awareness at municipalities on energy
issues during the June Energy Month.
•	Organised the Gauteng Electricity Summit in
partnership with the Provincial Government
and EDI Holdings.
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•	Ensure operationalisation of the Regional
Electricity Distributors
•	Promote energy efficiency and Demand Side
Management
•	Engagement with DME on the finalisation of
the Alternative Energy Strategy

(c) 	Basic Service Provision and
Infrastructure Development

•	The development and implementation of Free
Basic Sanitation Policy

Achievements

•	The development and implementation of Free
Basic Refuse Removal (FBRR) Policy

•	Convened Provincial Workshops on the
Implementation of Cabinet Decision to defer the
Migration of Integrated National Electrification
Fund into MIG in partnership with DPLG.
•	Assisted municipalities in developing action plans
aimed at fast tracking the roll-out of free basic
services.
•	Convened a MIG two-day assessment workshop
in June 2006 with all the municipalities in
Mpumalanga province, and some National and
Provincial sector departments in partnership with
dplg. The workshop assisted a great deal for non
performing municipalities, as the expenditure on
MIG increased rapidly from 53% to a 93% by the
end of the financial year 2005 / 06. Compared to
the nine provinces with almost a 30% expenditure
rate.

Priorities
•	Funding agreement for the rendering of FBE
•

Migration of the Electrification Fund to MIG

•	Research on which cities are doing alternative
energy provision as part of FBE

(d) Development Planning
Predetermined Objective
•	Ensure alignment of the IDP process to PGDS and
NSP through the IDP hearings, as well as facilitating
the process of implementing the outcomes of the
National IDP Hearings.

Challenges

Achievements

•	Isolation of ‘Integrated National Electrification Fund/
Programme’ (INEP) from ‘Municipal Infrastructure
Grant’ (MIG)

•	Conducted the CBP Lesson Sharing Workshop in
2005, attended by 21 municipalities, resulting in a
common understanding on the application of CBP
methodology.

•	Provision of alternative energy in areas without
electricity as part of ‘Free Basic Energy’ (FBE) roll-out
•	Effective Monitoring and Evaluation of ‘Free Basic
Services’ (FBS)
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•	Finalized CBP Guides in partnership with DPLG and
DBSA. That are intended to enhance community
participation in planning processes at municipal
level.

Challenges

•	Continue to play a leading role in the institutional
reform process.

•

IDP alignment to the PGDS and NSDP

•

IDP link to budget

•	Develop and articulate a SALGA position regarding
Water Services Regulations.

•

IDP implementation

•

•

Sector departments’ participation in IDPs

•	Prioritise addressing the sanitation backlog
and bucket eradication and ensure alignment
necessary for improved sanitation delivery in line
with sanitation targets.

•	IDP as a tool for inter-sphere planning and resource
allocation
•	IDP as an instrument to guide all planning, decisionmaking and investments in a municipality
•	Roll-out and up-scaling of Community Based
Planning (CBP) methodology

Priorities
•
•
•

IDP PGDS NSDP Alignment
Support for the development of credible IDPs
Implementation of CBP Methodology

(e) Water and Sanitation Services
Predetermined Objectives
•

Encourage WSAs to sign Transfer Agreements.

•	Take appropriate steps to enhance the Section 78
process.

Develop a framework on asset management.

Achievements

•	Engaged the Department of Water Affairs and
Forestry (DWAF) on the WSP Interim Arrangements
– activity explored with Vhembe and Mopani
District Municipalities.
•	Produced a video showcasing job-creation
through sanitation for presentation at the 4th
World Water Conference in Mexico.
•	Conducted road-shows on the state of DWAF
asset transfers to municipalities. The findings
indicate that pending the signing of an MOA, most
municipalities have opted for the secondment of
DWAF staff to municipalities.

•	Launched the National Benchmarking initiative on
the 1st of December 2005 in collaboration with
the DWAF and the WRC. This initiative seeks to
bring together water services stakeholders for
purposes of information sharing, best practices
and lesson’s learnt in order to promote good
practices and create an enabling environment in
the sector. This initiative has received much praise
from the Water Services Authority, who together
with SAAWU have been invited to be part of the
initiative.

•	Developed a Municipal Sanitation DecisionMaking Tool on alternative sanitation technologies
aimed at enhancing political decision making.The
tool has been introduced to the Amatole DM and
needs to be piloted further and then rolled out to
other municipalities.

•	Conducted a focus group on Water Services
Regulations to enhance the capacity of officials
that work in WSAs.

•	Meeting the eradication targets for the bucket
system

•	Developed a concept paper on the establishment
of the Water Services Provider (WSP) Network
that aims to bring emerging WSPs with already
established WSPs to share resources with the
ultimate goal of enhancing service delivery.
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Challenges
•	Meeting the 2008 and 2010 water and sanitation
targets respectively

•	Operations and maintenance budget for water
and sanitation infrastructure
•	The management of Water and Waste Water
Treatment Works

Priorities 2006/7
•

Input into the Revision of the Water Services Act

•

Implementation of the Sector Support Strategy

•

Encourage WSAs to sign Transfer Agreements

•	Continue to play a leading role in the Institutional
Reform process
•	Development and articulation of a SALGA position
regarding Water Services regulations
•	Promote investment and asset management
policies
•	Addressing the sanitation backlog and bucket
eradication so as to ensure alignment necessary
for improved agreed upon delivery in line with
sanitation targets
•

Implement the Civil Society Framework

•	Convene meetings of the Water Services Provider
Network

•	Promote Water
Quality Compliance
through efficient Water and
Waste Water Management
•	Undertake Capacity Building and Lesson Sharing
Activities
•	Cascade WS Sector Collaboration programme to
the forums at the DM level
•	Continue to support some municipalities to start
s78 processes and guide some to take appropriate
decisions on provider mechanisms.

Achievements
•	Delivered training on Integrated Waste Management
for Poverty Nodes District Municipalities on the
08th -12th May 2006 in partnership with DEAT
through Wits University. The training targeted
all the Districts Municipalities that fall within the
Nodal Areas as identified by the President. Some
provincial departments also attended the course.

•	Convene meetings of the Local Water Services
Managers Forum

(f) Environmental and Waste
Management

•	Facilitated the involvement of municipalities for
a workshop organized by DEAT in 2005 on the
development of Waste Collection Standards,
which aimed at providing free basic services on
collection of waste by municipalities.

•	Engage in the Benchmarking of Water Services
functions

Predetermined Objectives

Challenges

•	Undertake the Financial Viability of Water Services
Authorities

•	Strengthen the efforts to support municipalities
to implement and align their environmental
programmes to the Integrated Development Plans
(IDPs).

•	Streamlined Environmental Impact Assessment
Regulations;

•

Research of Tariff Setting and Methodologies
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•	Mainstreaming Bio-diversity
planning and development;

into

municipal

•	No clear Environmental Management Programmes
by municipalities;
•	A delay of the appointment of Environmental
Inspectors at municipal level by National
Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism in
conjunction with relevant Provincial Departments;
•	Lack of human resources within SALGA to
effectively undertake programmes related to
environmental management;
•	Prioritization and alignment of environmental
programmes in line with the IDPs;
•	Lack of capacity and enough resources
in municipalities to implement sustainable
development programmes, where environment is
integral;
•	Participation in the Integrated Waste Management
processes and structures;
•	Lack of capacity in municipalities to manage
waste;
•	Identification, licensing and management of landfill
sites is still a challenge at most municipalities;

Priorities for 2006/7
•	Support municipalities in the implementation
of the New Environmental Impact Assessment
Regulations;
•	Roll-out the training programme on Integrated
Waste Management to other municipalities;

•	Organise a Seminar on Waste Management,
targeting municipalities hosting the 2010 Soccer
matches;
•	Train municipalities on how to use a Waste
Management Manual which has been developed
by the Finnish University of Technology for their
benefit in conjunction with the Greening of 2010
Soccer World Cup;
•	Create partnership relations with the Institute for
Waste Management Southern Africa (IWMSA) on
issues of waste management where municipalities
could obtain opportunities for training on
discounted rates;
•	Undertake workshops on responsive container
management for municipalities and communities,
to raise awareness on dangers of the toxic
containers used by mainly poor communities for
carrying water or cooking purposes;
•	Facilitate participation of municipalities in the
envisaged Conference on Waste Management
and contributed towards the development of the
Waste Management Bill. Presented a consolidated
position of municipalities at the Conference on
Waste Management.

(g) Sustainable Development
Predetermined Objectives
•	Encourage municipalities to adopt sustainable
development practices in their development work
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by exposing them to the content and context of
sustainability.

Achievements
•	Delivered a number of training sessions on
sustainable development in partnership with

Global Community Initiative which were attended
by local government representatives. These
training workshops were undertaken in Gauteng,
KZN, Free State, Mpumalanga, Western Cape
and Eastern Cape. In total the training workshops

benefited 242 participants, both officials and
councillors.
•	Training sessions were recorded on DVD’s that
will be made available to municipalities for use
as training material on economic and sustainable
development issues.

Challenges
•	Implementation of the JPOI (Johannesburg Plan of
Implementation);
•	Satisfactory participation of Local Government at the
Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD);
•	Participation and Input of Local Government in the
development of National Strategy for Sustainable
Development (NSSD);
•	Including Climate Change issues into the local
government agenda.

Priorities 2006/7
•	Convene district/provincial workshops
municipalities on Climate Change;

with

•	Implementation
of
Cleaner
Development
Mechanism programmes / projects (CDM);
•	Participate in the CSD 15 and represent local
government there;
•	Undertake Road-shows on Climate Change for
all municipalities in line with the outcomes of the
COP 11 & 12;
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•	Align Municipal Services programmes with the work of the UCLGA
for the benefit of local government in Africa.

•	Implementation of tangible Local Economic
Development programmes at municipal level;

(h) Local Economic Development

•	Strengthening, facilitation and creation of
job opportunities at the local levels to
contribute towards poverty alleviation and
generating revenue;

Predetermined Objectives
•

Hold provincial LED road-shows

•

To share an integrated approach on LED

•	Translating EPWP as a key driver for
economic development and sustaining
long term jobs for communities.

•	Integration of Community Based Participation in LED

Priorities 2006/7

•	The review and identification of the key areas of the IDP Hearings that
are in line with LED principles

•	Mainstream LED as part of municipal
planning processes;

Achievements

•	Strengthen the engagement with the
Public Works Department on issues
of infrastructure at local government
level, by holding road-shows on
Property and Construction Charter;

•	Jointly hosted an LED Seminar on Competitive Local Economies
with GTZ which was attended by National, Provincial and Local
Government, the private sector and state owned enterprises. The
seminar exposed the participants to international practices of Local
Economies.
•	SALGA has partnered with Khanya-aicd in the production and
dissemination of a quarterly LED Newsletter to municipalities which
is intended to assist them with new strategies, programmes, and
best practices on LED, giving them ideas on programmes that can
be replicated within their municipalities

Challenges
•	More structured participation and inputs into the development of the
Regional Industrial Development Strategy;

•	Ensure participation of local government
in the DTI initiative of Business Retention
and Expansion which is aimed at expanding
and retaining small businesses in line with
LED programmes.

(i) Tourism Development
Predetermined Objectives
•	Prepare the local government sector for the 2010 Soccer World
Cup through:
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o	The mainstreaming of tourism activities in
economic development at the municipal
level; and
o	Capacity building through the
provision of relevant training
programmes.

Challenges
•	Development of the Municipal Tourism Framework and a Toolkit for
municipalities
•	Capacity development on tourism issues at municipal level

Priorities 2006/7

Achievements
•	Succeeded in persuading the
DEAT to undertake capacity
building
workshops
for
municipalities on tourism: grading
of the accommodation facilities
owned by SMMEs.
•	Ensured participation of the
Metros in the BEE Tourism Forum
in order to influence the process
and articulate the voice of local
government.
•	Coordinated
participation
of
selected coastal municipalities in an
International Training Programme
on “Coastal Recreational Tourism”
held in Malta during the month
of May 2006 which focused on
Eco-Tourism and management of
beaches.

•	Ensure the development and implementation of the Tourism
Framework and a Toolkit for municipalities;
•	Encourage the implementation and support of a Tourism BEE
Charter and a Scorecard at local government level;
•	Influence upgrading of the Land Border Posts through EPWP
programmes;
•	Initiate a Safety and Security Working Group to cover, inter alia,
issues of Tourism Safety at local government level;
•	Facilitate the development of a programme to encourage
involvement of Youth in Tourism, targeting participation at District
Municipalities;
•	Build technical capacity of SALGA provincial management on
tourism in line with the expectations of 2010 FIFA World Cup;
•	Mainstreaming tourism activities in economic development ;
•	Build municipal tourism capacity;
•	Encourage and engage the DEAT to initiate supportive programmes
for participating and non participating municipalities in order to
develop effective programmes that would contribute to more
beaches in acquiring Blue Flag status.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
• To promote the enhancement and mobilisation of
existing capacity within the local government sphere
to share responsibility for its own development.
• To facilitate the implementation of a labour and human
resources dispensation in municipalities that enhances
service delivery.
• To advocate labour peace in the sector.
• To ensure municipal compliance
legislation HR Legal Compliance.

to

workplace

• To contribute to and support the government program
of integrating the public sector.

MUNICIPAL LABOUR
AND HUMAN RESOURCES

Municipal Labour and Human
Resources
(a) Skills Development

Predetermined Objectives

Focus Areas

•	Finalise the appointment of the Skills Development
Officers in Provincial Offices in Limpopo; Eastern
Cape, KZN and Western Cape, which will include
capacitating them on their key performance
areas.

•
•
•
•
•

Structured Capacity Building
Development of Training Material
Quality Assurance of Training
Quality Workplace Skills Plans
Policy Framework (NCBF)

•	Induction of new councillors after the local
government elections and rolling out a five-year
skills development and capacity building plan for
councillors.
•	To continue The Executive Leadership Municipal
Development Programme (ELMDP) as an
accredited programme aimed at senior leadership
in Government.
•	In accordance with the new strategy for skills
development, accredit short courses for municipal
officials and ensure a 100% submission of WSPs
to the LGSETA.
•	Develop a training programme for traditional
leaders to empower them on the mandate of a
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developmental local government, thus exposing
them to the Government’s developmental
agenda.

Achievements
•	Councillor Induction Programme
	SALGA rolled out an Induction Programme for all
the newly elected Councillors in 2006. The primary
aim of the programme was to ensure that the
newly elected cadre of councillors are capacitated
with a general understanding of their leadership
role, legislation that guides local government,
Key municipal processes, developmental local
government and service delivery imperatives.

	The programme was conducted for five days
(from the 3rd - 7th April 2006) in all the 46
District Municipalities and 6 Metros. In total, 6474
Councillors benefited from the programme.
	The Provincial breakdown of the 77% of Councillors
that received training are broken down according
to provinces as follows:
		

Province

No. Of Participants

Eastern Cape 		
Free State 			
Gauteng 			
KZN				
Limpopo			
Mpumalanga 		
Northern Cape		
North West 			
Western Cape 		

1321
500
775
639
957
690
342
742
508

•	Executive
Leadership
Municipal
Development Programme (ELMDP)
	SALGA has entered into a Service
Level Agreement with the University of
Pretoria (School of Public Management
and Administration) to run the ELMDP
programme intended for key LG decision
makers (officials & councillors). The
8 module course is pitched at NQF
L6 (equivalent to a degree). To date
290 clients have enrolled onto the
programme.
•	Local Democracy and Local Governance
(LOGLOD)
	SALGA entered into a partnership with
SALA-IDA (Swedish Association of
Local Authority & Regions International
Development Agency, in 2005 on a
mission to empower senior Municipal
Councillors and Officials through a
Capacity Building programme called
Local Democracy Local Governance
(LODLOG)

	Only four (4) Provinces are participating in
the programme. In 2005 16 Municipalities
participated in the programme, including
2 institutions of learning, namely Multa &
MTI.
•
Councillor Profiling
	During the Induction Programme, the
skills of councillors were profiled in
order to determine the future shape and
content of Capacity Building initiatives
for councillors in line with the 5 year LG
Strategic agenda.

•	Inability of Municipalities to conduct
proper skills audit, which is evident in
the quality of WSP’s submitted at the LG
SETA.
•	It is a struggle to get funding of training
programmes from the relevant SETA .

Priorities 06/07
•

Registration of NQF L-3 Cllr Qualification

•

Training of Traditional Leaders

•	Appointment
of
Provincial
Skills
Development Officers
	Western Cape, Free State and Limpopo
finalised the appointment of their Skills
Development Officers.

•

Ward Committee Training

•

Total Quality Management

•

Impact analysis of training

Challenges

•

LGSETA effectiveness

•	Due to differences in literacy levels of
Councillors, some of the participants
requested to be trained in their home
languages particularly in KZN, WC & NC.

(b) Municipal Human Resources
Unit

•	There is a need to cater for physically
challenged councillors.
•	The ELMDP programme is centralized,
thus
has
high
travelling
and
accommodation costs. It needs to be
decentralised, e.g. KZN approach.
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Focus Areas
•
•
•
•

Policy framework/s
Legal compliance
Organisational design and development
Knowledge sharing

Predetermined Objectives
•	To build and strengthen performance management
capacity in municipalities.
•	To regulate discretionary deductions via the
municipal payroll system.
•	To consolidate municipal HR and Payroll data on a
single data warehouse at SALGA.
•	To build capacity in municipalities in relation
to mitigating the impact of HIV/AIDS in the
workplace.
•	To develop a HR Plan/Strategy for 2012 to enable
HR to respond to the challenges of developmental
local government.
•	To develop a HR Handbook comprising of all best
practice policies and procedures.
•	To represent municipalities in the Single Public
Service Forum/s.

Achievements
Performance Management:
•	Subsequent to a sector wide PMS-Survey,
demonstrating an overwhelming need in
municipalities for technical, administrative and
political assistance, a national PMS Task Team was
established (consists of performance management
experts from municipalities) to develop a PMS
Guide. The fist guide of a multiple PMS Series

was developed and workshopped
provincially with municipalities. The
guide provides municipalities with
the minimum/basic knowledge
and tools to establish a basic PM
System at both an organizational
and individual level.
•	The second manual/guide has
been conceptualized and is being
researched. It will provide municipalities
with a customized Balanced Scorecard
model, linked to the newly promulgated
Performance
Regulations
and
the
performance auditing requirements of the
Auditor General.
Discretionary
Payroll:

Deductions

via

the

Municipal

•	A resolution was taken at the March 2003
HRD Conference to stop all micro-loans via
the payroll from 1 July 2003. This resolution
was not implemented with immediate effect.
It was subjected to the pending negotiations
and finalization of the Organizational Rights
Agreement (ORA) during 2004. With the new
ORA signed during May 2005, parties could not
reach consensus on the issue of administering
micro-loans via the payroll and a dispute was
declared. On 15 November 2005, an arbitration
award in favour of SALGA was made, resolving
that municipalities are not obliged to administer
any discretionary deductions via the payroll (which
is the employer domain).
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•	In line with
the ethos of a
single public service, SALGA
entered into discussions with National Treasury to
replicate the process of regulating discretionary
deductions via the payroll, as implemented (with
great success) by the public service during 2000.
Consolidation of Municipal HR and Payroll data on
a single data warehouse at SALGA:
•	The lack of accurate and real-time HR and payroll
information will soon be a problem of the past.
A survey across the sector revealed that 51% of
municipalities are utilizing PayDay as their payroll

been conceptualised. It aims to enable local
government HR to respond to the challenges of
developmental local government over the next
5-years. The HR Strategy will be informed by a
number of pieces of research, which will include
a HR Perception Survey, Employee Satisfaction
Survey, Scare Skills, Municipalities as Employer
of Choice Survey, etc. All this information will
have to be contextualized within the prevailing
legislative framework as well as the single public
service drive.

Mitigating the impact of HIV/AIDS on the
Municipal workplace:

solution.
37%
of
municipalities
contracted
the
services of five (5) alternative
payroll solutions (VIP, Samras,
Sabata, SAP and Oracle), while the remaining
12% are fragmented between a number of
smaller systems. A proposal has been drafted
for the development of a data warehouse that
can interface with all existing HR and Payroll
systems in the sector to download data into the
warehouse on a daily basis. The data warehouse
will be stationed at SALGA, and will have powerful
reporting capability.

•	In February 2005 more than a hundred
delegates from local municipalities
throughout South Africa attended a
symposium entitled “HIV/AIDS in the
Municipal workplace”. The symposium
was jointly hosted by South African
Cities Network (SACN), the South
African Local Government Association
(SALGA) and the City of Cape Town. The
main purpose of the symposium was
to guide and inform the strengthening
of HIV/AIDS workplace programmes in
South African municipalities. Delegates
requested SALGA to work through all
the information and develop a framework
for municipalities. A similar message was
captured as a resolution at the Sector
Summit of March 2005.
•	As a result of the above mentioned symposium and
sector summit, SALGA in partnership with SACN
and DPLG, developed a framework containing
minimum standards to assist municipalities to
formulate a response to mitigate the impact of
HIV/AIDS in the workplace. The guideline has been
introduced in municipalities via provincial workshops.
The workshop/s have been attended by more than
481 delegates from 203 municipalities.

Challenges
•	There are still municipalities that do not comply
with requirements as contained in both the
Structures Act and MFMA.
•	The lack of HIV/AIDS Co-ordinators in municipalities
is an ongoing challenge. This results in a situation
where the mainstreaming of HIV/AIDS through the
IDP is slow or even nonexistent. Donor funding to
advance the programme remains a challenge.
•	Accurate, real time and reliable data in relation
to municipalities are an ongoing challenge.
Strategies are developed around factual and
real life municipal scenarios and challenges, and
hence the ever existing need for data.

Priorities for 2006/7

HR Strategy 2012:

•

•	The framework for the HR Strategy for 2012 has

•	Finalize the legal framework and business
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Finalize the single data warehousing project.

agreement for discretionary deductions via the
municipal payroll.
•	Continue to build capacity of relevant officials and
councillors in Municipalities

•	Providing ongoing PMS support to municipalities.

•

Municipal specific advice and support

•	Provide ongoing HIV/AIDS in the workplace
support to municipalities.

•

Support to the EDI Restructuring Process

•

Review deployment to bargaining structures

•	Building a strategic HR cadre through the launch
and publication of the Local Government HR
Plan, 2012.

(c) Municipal Labour

•

Facilitate the resolution of disputes

Focus Areas

•

Conclude salary negotiations

•	Development of HR (and related occupation/s)
learnership programme/s.

•
•
•
•
•

Achievements

•	Maximum alignment of Local Government HR
policies and practices with the Public Service (in
line with ethos of Single Public Service).

National bargaining
Conflict and dispute resolution
Promotion of labour peace
Facilitating local government restructuring
Knowledge sharing

Conditions of Service:

Predetermined Objectives
•	Complete restructuring of uniform conditions
of service and remunerative practices in the
bargaining council
•	Coordinate and facilitate implementation of the
pension fund transformation project
•	Implement 2204 conference resolution regarding
the Integration of the public sector
•

Rationalisation of Medical Aid Schemes

•	Categorisation of municipalities
determine wage curves
•	Finalisation
process

of

64

the

Job

to

Evaluation

•	A collective agreement on conditions of service
(COS) was reached during 2003 to standardise
conditions of service. Subsequently, divisional
bargaining commenced and collective agreements
were signed in EC and Limpopo provinces. A main
national collective agreement is to be signed and
will replace all previous agreements.
Pension Fund:
•	The Local Government Pension Fund has been
registered. The NEC established a political task
team to deal with issues arising from this process.
A meeting Between SAMWU and SALGA occurred
in November and is continuing, thereby giving a
platform for resolution of differences.
•	Through the South African Local Government
Bargaining Council processes, the original
Conditions of Service Agreement which was due
to expire at the end of 2006, has been extended

to 2011, thereby creating certainty in relation to
aspects covered therein.
Categorisation
Evaluation:

of

Municipalities

and

vehicle for partners to engage on issues pertaining
to any restructuring as it affects employees in local
government.

Job

•	Job evaluation results for fifty six (56) municipalities
have been published.
•	SALGA took a leading role in adopting an
approach to fast–track the process through a
benchmarking approach after it became apparent
that the normal Job Evaluation process is time
consuming.
Municipalities with outstanding
results will be equated with municipalities with
final outcome reports.
•	The implementation of wage curves is imminent
but may be costly. The demarcation of 283
municipalities caused salary discrepancies due
to different grading of municipalities. The newly
introduced wage curves will address this issue
to pay equal remuneration for the same jobs in a
municipality .
Strengthening Labour Relations expertise in the
Sector:
•	Labour Relations support in municipalities has
been strengthened through the deployment
of Labour Relations Officers and Managers to
SALGA provincial offices in 2005.
•	SALGA championed the establishment of the
Transitional Labour Relations Structure which is a

•	SALGA has increased its capacity on bargaining
structures through the deployment of technical
officials from municipalities specialising in labour
matters to represent SALGA.
•	SALGA has further increased its hands-on
support to municipalities in several dispute
resolution procedures (conciliations, arbitrations
and disciplinary procedures).
•	SALGA initiated training sessions to train municipal
officials as Prosecuting and Presiding officers in all
the different provinces.
Salary and Wage Negotiations:
•	The first multi- year salary and wage agreement
was reached in 2002 on salary and wages for
the period 2002 – 2005, and the second during
2006 for 2006-2009 financial years. Parties will
therefore not have to engage on salary and wage
negotiations on an annual basis and there will
be no salary related labour disputes during the
existence of the multi year agreement.

Challenges
•	The Industrial Councils of Transvaal, Free State
and Natal are no longer recognised by SALGA,
the Union position maintains that they still exist.
They need to be replaced. Some of the conditions
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are outdated in terms of the latest developments
in Labour Law. Trade union involvement on policy
issues is also favoured which is normally not
required in executing a managerial function. Unions
may resist repeal of outdated agreements like the
old Transvaal, Free State and Natal Agreements.
•	The implications of the single public service are
not clear at this stage. We are still engaging with
other stakeholders on this matter.
•	The standardizing of Conditions of Service is
pending on collective bargaining with trade
unions. Whereas there is a possibility of resistance
from trade unions as certain conditions in local
government are currently more favourable than
within the public service.
•	Trade unions declared a dispute on categorization
as they are in favour of only six categories whereas
SALGA is in favour of ten categories.
•	Trade unions indicated that SALGA has to take
the lead in the process and introduce wage curves
as an interim arrangement. SALGA is proposing
10 categories whilst trade unions still insist on
6 categories. Affordability is a serious factor for
municipalities, hence the move from 15 to 10
categories.
•	Progress on job evaluation was too slow and
needed a strategic approach which SALGA
has introduced through the process of
benchmarking. The challenge now is to fast track
implementation.

•	Settlement agreement on fixed term contract
appointments is not well received by municipalities,
as they have difficulties on employment of current
and planned fixed term contract employees.
•

Municipalities continue to use lawyers instead
of attending to matters of discipline themselves.
This results in abdication of responsibility and has
major financial implications for their budgets.

Key Priorities 2006/7
•	It is envisaged that a single medical aid scheme
will be in place by the end of the 2007 financial
year.
•	The processes related to the categorization of
municipalities and the TASK job evaluation results
must be implemented and the issue of back-pay
must be resolved.
•	The remaining conditions of service (other than
those covered by the Uniform Conditions of
Service) must be standardized in view of the
creation of a Single Public Service in 2008.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
• To increase SALGA’s effectiveness and efficiency to
enhance sustainability of organised local government
and quality of service to its members.
• To foster policy, strategy and operational integration
of SALGA.

FINANCE AND
CORPORATE
SERVICES

Finance and Corporate
Services
a) Administration

accommodation,
services, etc.

Focus Areas

courier

•	A number of additional offices were created by the
effective utilisation of open space in the existing
building. Partitioning was erected / rearranged
to allow for more effective office arrangements.
A number of alternatives options are being
considered for a new building.

•	Development and implementation of the SALGA
record management system at National office

•	A Combi was purchased and is utilised as a shuttle
service during SALGA meetings mostly between
the SALGA Office and the airport thereby saving
costs on car hire services.

•

•	Document management and Archiving services
Systems development and maintenance
•	Servicing Internal SALGA functions and meetings
General Maintenance

•	Logistic

transport,

Predetermined Objectives

•	General office management

•

catering,

support

services

including:

travel,

Implementation of the Units organogram

•	Development of new administration policies and
review existing policies
•

Increase physical security at the National Office

•	Maximising of office space through
implementation of the open plan system

the

Achievements
•	A file plan has been approved by National
Archives. An implementation plan is currently being
developed to implement a records management
system at the National Office.
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•	The Administration unit has 10 administrative
policies. Eight policies have recently been
revised and updated in order to: Incorporate
recommendations of the Auditor-General’s office,
comply with relevant legislation, and align with
current processes and procedures, while the
other two are still being processed. Currently six
maintenance contracts are in place.

Challenges
•	There is limited physical space in which to work at
SALGA.

Priorities for 2006/7:

Achievements

•	To implement a document management system
– manual and electronic.

•	Successfully installed a high capacity Server at
the National Office to cater for the ever increasing
need for memory capacity

•	To purchase a suitable building for SALGA
National.
•

•	The SALGA Intranet was launched at the National
Office

•	Successfully migrated from a Windows NT platform
to a Microsoft Windows Exchange Server 2003

To implement a resolution management system.
•	Installed Active Directory which provides for a
secure log of users to the system

b) Information and Communication
Technology.
Focus Areas
•
•
•
•
•

Systems Administration
Business Analysis
Telephony
Electronic Communications
Local and Wide Area Networks

Predetermined Objectives
•

Establish the intranet

•

Install Virtual Private Network

•

Install Video Conferencing facilities

•	Upgrade from windows NT to windows 2003
environment .

•	Installed a ISA server which provides a second
firewall and secure gateway to the system as well
as allowing the organisation to set filters on the
type of e-mail attachments received and Internet
sites that users are permitted to visit
•	Installed a SQL Server for introduction of the
Intranet
•	The network operating systems of all provincial
offices upgraded to MS Exchange Server 2003
•	All provincial offices linked to the intranet via
TELKOM ADSL lines
•	All outdated desktop computers have been
replaced by Intel Pentium IV computers
•	Provided mobility for staff by the allocation of
laptop computers and 3G data cards
•	Telephone system successfully integrated to
provide for 4 digit dialling to provincial offices
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Challenges
•	The organisational structure of the ICT unit has
not kept pace with the deployment of additional
hardware and software. The unit has only one
Systems/Network Administrator to support the
National Office and 9 Provincial Offices and one
ICT Intern to provide desktop support at the
National Office and for those provinces without a
dedicated IT Officer.
•	The skills level within the unit has not been
updated as newer technology (both hardware
and software) has been introduced into the
organisation. This will be further exacerbated as
Microsoft releases newer versions of operating
systems and packaged software.
•	The increasing mobility of staff will place demands
on the need for remote access to the provincial and
national office servers. This will result in increase
in bandwidth usage as well as the need for tighter
security controls to prevent unauthorized access
to data and information.
• 	Intranet availability to Provincial Offices has been
delayed because of non-availability of TELKOM
lines.

Priorities 2006/7
•

Roll-out of the Intranet to the Provincial Offices

•	Connecting all the Provincial Offices to the National
Office via VPN connectivity.
•	Configure a new centralized domain for the SALGA
group based on the MPLS based VPN.
•	Development of SALGA ICT strategy and
structure.
•	Review ICT processes, policies, skills, DRP and
governance issues.
•	Optimization of ICT tools and infrastructure.

•	Providing the staff who are constantly out of
the office with remote accessibility to data and
information.
•	Introducing a Video Conferencing facility between
the National and the Provincial Offices thereby
reducing travelling time as well as costs for travel
and accommodation.
•	Revising some of the policies and procedures
to take into account the introduction of 3G data
cards, remote access via VPN and use of e-mails
and the Internet.
•	Installation of Leave Application system on the
VPN.

(c) Human Resources Development

Achievements

Focus Areas

2.1. Recruitment
Out of the current 222 SALGA staff, 61 were recruited
during the 2005/2006 financial year.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

HR planning
Recruitment and remuneration
Performance and development management
Change management
Employment equity
Employee wellness
Employee retention
Labour relations

Predetermined Objectives
•	Filling of vacant positions in the organogram
•	Workplace Skills Plan
Implementation
•	Training and Capacity
Building of staff deployed
to provinces
•	Salary Benchmarking
Process
•

Team Building

•	Alignment of policies
and procedures of the
national and provincial
offices
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Office		

Number of filled posts

Eastern Cape
Free State
Gauteng
Kwazulu Natal
Limpopo
Mpumalanga
National
Northern Cape
North West
Western Cape

11
19
24
16
9
13
89
10
15
16

Eastern Cape
Free State		
Gauteng		
Kwazulu Natal
Limpopo		
Mpumalanga		
National Office
Northern Cape
North West		
Western Cape

•

•

Remuneration

	SALGA was nominated to enter The Corporate
Research Foundation’s best Employer survey. The
result of the survey placed SALGA in the top 50
companies to work for in South Africa.

	A salary benchmarking exercise was completed
using the HAY methodology. All posts are now
benchmarked prior to being filled.
•

Challenges

Employee Wellness

Performance and development Management
•

	72 formal training occurrences have taken place.
11 employees received education assistance
towards their studying at tertiary education
institutions .116 work days have been invested in
this development of employees. Courses attended
included: Computer skills, Personal Finance and
Business Communication Skills.

Labour Relations

	The National Education Health and Allied Workers
Union (NEHAWU) is the representative union.
Negotiations to sign a organizational rights
agreement have not been concluded as at the
end of the financial year, but are progressing well.

1.3 Employment Equity
OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS

MALE

FEMALE

FOREIGN NATIONALS

TOTAL

A

C

I

W

A

C

I

W

Male Female

Executive

8

0

0

2

4

0

0

0

0

0

14

National management

7

1

0

1

3

1

0

2

0

0

15

Junior management &
coordinators/officers

17

1

1

4

8

0

0

4

0

0

35

Administrative, & support staff

43

1

2

1

80

4

1

13

0

1

146

Elementary

4

0

0

0

8

0

0

0

0

0

12

TOTAL

79

3

3

8

103

5

1

19

0

1

222
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•	Recruitment, Remuneration, and Employee
Retention.
	The salary framework resulting from the
benchmarking exercise had to be pitched low in
relation to market related salaries due to budgetary
constraints. This hampers recruitment as well as
staff retention efforts and has a negative effect on
staff morale. SALGA employees work closely with
departments who are able to pay their employees
at the top end of the market related salary scale.
	Due to the decision in SALGA’s infancy to
conclude employment contracts on a fixed
term basis, it was determined that it would be
financially beneficial to employees, if remuneration
packages were all inclusive at cost to company
in the strictest sense; whereby employees receive
a cash only package, and are responsible for
making their own arrangements for benefits. This
makes ensuring that employees have adequate
medical, life, disability and funeral insurance as
well as adequate retirement provision difficult.

•

Priorities for 2006/7:

Employment Equity

	The levels of female employees in senior and top management positions need to be increased
	

120

•	The signing of performance agreements has to date
been problematic. This is currently being addressed
with the signing of performance agreements for
all management personnel being viewed as top
priority.
•	SALGA has taken a critical view on HIV/AIDS and
is therefore embarking on an HIV/AIDS impact
management programme for its employees. The
programme is being driven through Employee
Wellness in conjunction with AIDS InSite, which is
a comprehensive corporate HIV/AIDS Management
Programme

100
0
60

Male
Male s/be

0

Female
Female s/be

20

•	SALGA has historically neglected the training and
development of its staff. During the 2005/2006
financial year the capacitating of all offices through
skills development training has begun but needs to
continue as a matter of priority.

0
Exec

Top Mngmt

Jnr
Mngmt
& Coord

•	The capacitating of provincial offices in terms of
staffing is under way but the major recruitment drive
is not yet completed as vacancies are still being
filled. This is being done at a rate that enables the
offices to adequately accommodate, orientate, and
manage the new employees.

Admin &
Support

The employment equity status indicate low levels of disabled persons at all levels
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PARTNERSHIPS

Partnerships
SALGA continues to establish, develop, strengthen
and maintain strategic partnerships with local, regional
and international organisations. This is part of SALGA’s
commitment to building collaborative networks within
the sector. In the financial year period of 2005/6, SALGA
had partnerships with the following institutions:

•	The Department Of Provincial And Local
Government.
Partnered with the Department on a number of initiatives
including: the Municipal Communications Programme,
the LED-IDP workshops, the Concillor Induction
Programme, the Liquidation of Transitional Electricity
Distributors, HIV/AIDS, and other programmes.

•	The Department of Water Affairs and
Forestry

support initiatives in local government capacity building
programmes.

SALGA has enjoyed a long partnership with the
Department through a number of initiatives including
the: Masibambane programme, whereby municipalities
have been assisted with their Water Services
Development Plans and given an opportunity to
articulate their challenges; the National Benchmarking
Initiative programme seeking to bring together water
services stakeholders for purposes of information
sharing, best practices and lesson’s learnt in order
to promote good practices and create an enabling
environment in the sector, and others.

•	Institute For Municipal Finance Officers

•	The Department Of Minerals And Energy
SALGA signed a cooperative agreement on the
restructuring of the electricity distribution industry with
the Department, the NER, ESKOM and EDI Holdings.
On this backdrop, SALGA continues to collaborate
with EDI Holdings on all matters pertaining to the
restructuring of the electricity distribution industry.

•	Development
(DBSA)

Bank

Of

South

Africa

DBSA has sponsored SALGA’s major constitutional
events on several occasions and has continually
provided a range of support to municipalities. SALGAs
relationship with DBSA mainly focuses on strategic

78

This partnership, seeks to provide support to
municipalities that are struggling in preparing their
financial statements. The main objective is to reduce
the number of municipalities that receive qualified audit
reports and/or disclaimers at the end of the financial
year.

•

Rand Water

Rand Water has sponsored SALGA’s major events
on several occasions. Together with the Department
of Water Affairs and Forestry as a partner, it has also
sponsored Knowledge Sharing Programmes through
which both retired and newly qualified engineers from
Universities were recruited in order to build capacity of
municipalities as water services authorities.

•

ESKOM

The partnership between SALGA and Eskom Central
Region has been able to make Free Basic Electricity
a reality for all municipalities, particularly in Gauteng.
There is also a joint plan to improve the collection of
FBE tokens. The average collection rate in 2004 was
49%. SALGA Gauteng and Eskom Central Region are
convinced that effective communication can improve
the collection rate.

•

Water Research Commission

Launched the National Benchmarking initiative on the
1st of December 2005 in collaboration with the DWAF
and the WRC. This initiative seeks to bring together
water services stakeholders for purposes of information
sharing, best practices and lesson’s learnt in order
to promote good practices and create an enabling
environment in the sector.

•

National Treasury

SALGA has a continuous working relationship with the
National Treasury on issues relating to fiscal and
financial matters as they relate to municipalities.

•	Government
And
Communication
Information System (GCIS)
SALGA, in collaboration with DPLG and GCIS are engaged
in a programme through which they have established
communication structures to enhance communication
at Local Government Level and ensure that there is a
system of communication across the three spheres of
government.
The programme has had many successes including
the: National Conference on Local Government
Communication held on the 8th-10th of May 2006
aimed at ensuring that local government communication
is able to deal with both the perceptions and realities
about service delivery and successes at a local
government sphere over the next five years; the
production of a handbook containing guidelines for the
LG communication systems and structures in order to

assist municipalities in streamlining their communication
activities and ensure that communication at LG is in
line with local government norms and standards and
others.

•

NORAD

Through this partnership, programmes relating to
councillor training have been successfully implemented
with the support of the Norwegian Agency for
Development Cooperation.

•

VNG

SALGA is working closely with Vereniging van
Nederlandse Gemeenten (VNG); a Netherlands based
Local Government Association in the implementation
of social housing activities, whereby a number of
initiatives have been implemented including: the LOGO
South Programme, the Municipal Housing Toolkit, the
Social Housing pilots, and others.

•

Social Housing Foundation

Entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with
the Social Housing Foundation (SHF) on joint areas
of collaboration in order to assist municipalities with
expediting the delivery of social housing.

•

•	The National Community Water And
Sanitation Institute (NCWSI).
SALGA Mpumalanga partnered with the NCWSI to do
a pilot study in local municipalities focusing on Gender
Mainstreaming on Water Services. The purpose of the
pilot study is to do a comparison study of a new and
old water/sanitation projects, introducing a gender
sensitivity approach to a new project and comparing
the result with the project that did not take into
consideration gender sensitivity.
SALGA Mpumalanga therefore participates in the
working group established to oversee the project
comprising of SALGA Mpumalanga, DPLG, DWAF and
the NCWSTI has and will report to the Water Sector
Services Leadership Group .

•

SALGA North-west has entered into this partnership
with the aim of building capacity for the management
of the environment and sustainable development
for all spheres of government. SALGA North West
responsibilities include the appointment of a Municipal
Environment and Development Capacity Building
Officer.

•

Genderlinks

The organisation has worked closely with Genderlinks
in capacitating municipal officials, SALGA officials
and councillors on gender related issues.
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Finnish Environment Institute

National House Of Traditional Leaders

This partnership seeks to create cooperation between
municipal councils and traditional authorities, thus
avoiding the contestation of authority between local
authorities and traditional leaders. Technical represented
by both organizations have been established. The

process of the signing of the Memorandum of
Understanding is being finalized.

•

Global Community Initiative

The Partnership is based on rolling out training on
sustainable development initiatives and the Earth-Cat
Programme.

•

GTZ

Partnered with GTZ in a number of activities including:
the Councillor Induction Programme; jointly hosting
an LED seminar on competitive local economies; to
improve SALGAs advocacy and lobbying functions
with other spheres of government to enhance SALGA’s
participation in intergovernmental relations.

•	Swedish Association Of Local Authourity
& Regions International Development
Agency (SALA-IDA).
SALGA entered into a partnership with SALA-IDA
(Swedish Association of Local Authority & Regions
International Development Agency, in 2005 on a
mission to empower senior Municipal Councilors and
Officials through a Capacity Building programme called
Local Democracy Local Governance (LODLOG).

•

South African Cities Network (SACN)

Partnered with the South African Cities Network (SACN),
and the City of Cape Town to deliver a symposium
on “HIV/AIDS in the Municipal workplace” on 23-

25 February 2005. Also jointly, together with DPLG,
developed a guideline containing minimum standards
to assist municipalities to formulate a response to
mitigate the impact of HIV/AIDS on the workplace.

•	United Cities Of Local Governments In
Africa (UCLGA)
Subsequent to the successful hosting of the founding
congress of the United Cities of Local Governments
(UCLGA) in Africa, held in Tshwane during May 2005,
SALGA has continued being a partner to the programme
and has provided administrative and technical support
towards implementing the provisions of UCLGA
constitution, which has led to the establishment of 10
working groups to drive the programme of action.

•

CLGF

SALGA hosted a CLGF evaluators meeting, the result of
which was a proposal for a partnership to fund tripartite
relationships in which two institutions in Africa share
expertise with one institution in a developed country.

•	Local Government International Bureau
(LGIB)
Signed MOU with LGIB (a partner of CLGF), which
provided funding to promote IR development with
municipalities in Commonwealth Countries. LGIB
intends to build and share its capacity for international
development in South Africa. It has to-date funded 50%
of the development of SALGA International Relations
Strategy.
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• Associations Of Municipalities Regionally
SALGA has facilitated partnerships between SALGA
and National Associations of Local Governments in
Africa, for example: the Associations of Municipalities
in Mali (AMM) and National Associations of Local
Authorities in Ghana, Mozambique, Kenya, Namibia,
Swaziland and Zimbabwe. In general MOU’s between
SALGA and LG Associations from other countries aim
at achieving the following:
•	establishment of bilateral technical commissions
which would be responsible for following up and
implementing all decisions which would be of
interest to the associations;
•	fostering partnerships and twinning programmes
among municipalities;
•	creating mechanisms
practices;

to

exchange

best

•	developing mechanisms for strengthening the role
of women’s participation in local government in
both countries;
•	establishing programmes as articulated by the
goals and objectives of the UCLGA (United Cities
and Local Governments of Africa) and the UCLG;
•	enhancing information and communication
technologies in local authorities between countries;
and

•	consolodating organised local government relations and
friendship between countries.
The following MOUs have been entered into:
1/ 2005, MOU with the Association of Municipalities in Mali
(AMM). Consequently in June 2006 a delegation of AMM officials
undertook a study tour to South African Municipalities to be
exposed to best practices in Waste Management, Infrastructure,
HIV/AIDS, Gender and Agriculture.
2/ 2006, MOU with the Association of Local Government
Authorities of Kenya (ALGAK). Consequently SALGA agreed
to support the ALGAK initiative to carry out two programmes
namely:
- 	City Development Strategy (CDS) with a focus on
Local Economic Development (LED)
-

State of the Cities Report (SCR)

3/ 2006, MOU with the Swaziland Local Government Association
(SWALGA). Consequently SALGA is providing technical and
financial support to the UCLGA Southern Africa Regional Meeting
that is being hosted by SWALGA in Mbabane (27-28 Feb 2007)
4/ SALGA also has a partnership with (LGIB) which aims to
develop international relations capacity in South Africa.The next
step of the partnership will entail embarking on road shows in
provinces of South Africa to publicize the partnership.
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Annual Financial Statements
Report of the Audit Committee
We are pleased to present our report for the financial
year ended 30 June 2006.

1. Audit Committee Members
Attendance:
The Audit Committee consists of members listed
hereunder and meets at least four times a year as per its
approved terms of reference. For this financial year, five
meetings were convened and the schedule of meetings

and the corresponding attendance is reflected below.
Name of Member

Attended meetings

1. Mr. T. Zakuza
2. Ms. M.Moitse
3. Mr. S Mavuso
4. Ms. M Matlou
5. Ms N Maila

5
2
2
3
4

The Audit Committee also reports on its adoption of
formal terms of reference, the Audit Committee Charter
and that it has regulated its affairs in accordance with
the Charter and discharged its responsibilities in terms
thereof.

3. The effectiveness of Internal
Control:

2. Audit Committee Responsibility:
The Audit Committee also reports on its adoption
of formal terms of reference it has complied with its
responsibility arising from section 51(1) (a) of the
PFMA and treasury regulation 27.1.10 which requires
the Accounting officer to ensure the existence of an
Internal Audit function under the control and direction
of an Audit Committee.
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The system of internal control was not entirely effective
for the year under review as compliance with policies
and procedures was lacking in some instances. We
noted several instances of non-compliance as reported
by internal and external auditors leading us to the
conclusion that the internal controls were not adequate
and effective as required.
Significant control weaknesses were highlighted in
the Auditor-General reports under emphasis of matter

and the management letters. Most of the weaknesses
were repeat findings from previous years as the
Auditor General felt that they were not satisfactorily
addressed.
The major areas were the following:
-

Asset Management
Procurement processes
Debtors Management
Cash Management
Payables Management

expertise to address this issue so that it does not resurface in the following years.
The late readiness of the Financial Statements did not
allow time for the committee to give its inputs to the
financial statements prior to their submission to the
Auditor-General for Audit. The committee facilitated
the cooperation between management and Auditors
in finding solutions to challenges that emerged during
the finalization of the Audit. A number of these could
not be resolved hence the unfavourable report from the
Auditor General for the year under review.

4. Evaluation of Financial Statements:

SALGA has followed the appropriate accounting
framework for the preparation of its financial statements
for the year under review.

We reviewed the Auditor-General Management
letter and management responses accordingly and
engaged both parties to find a solution to the issues.
An agreement was reached to source in the relevant

Some weaknesses have been identified and such
weaknesses do impact on the reliability of presented
information.
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SALGA received a disclaimer of opinion and an
emphasis of matter on control deficiencies.

5. Conclusion:
The Audit Committee accepts the Auditor General’s
report and is of the view that the Audited Financial
Statements be accepted and read together with the
report of the Auditor General.

Mr. T.S Zakuza
SALGA Audit Committee Chairperson

Auditor-General Report
REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL
TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION
(SALGA) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30
JUNE 2006
1.

Report On The Financial Statements

I have audited the accompanying financial statements
of the South African Local Government Association
(SALGA) set out on pages 95 to 123. The financial
statements comprise the statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2006, statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets and
cash flow statement for the year then ended, as well as
a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes and schedules.
1.1 Responsibility for the financial statements
The accounting authority is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the basis of accounting
as set out in paragraph 1.3. This responsibility
includes:
•	designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair

presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error;
•	selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and
•	making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.
1.2 Auditor’s responsibility
As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the
Republic of South Africa, 1996, read with sections 4
and 20 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of
2004) except as set out in paragraphs hereunder, I
conducted my audit in accordance with the International
Standards on Auditing read with General Notice 544
of 2006, issued in Government Gazette no. 28723 of
10 April 2006 and General Notice 808 of 2006, issued
in Government Gazette no. 28954 of 23 June 2006.
Those standards require that I comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement
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of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
1.3 Basis of accounting
The entity’s policy is to prepare financial statements on
the comprehensive basis of accounting determined
by the National Treasury, as described in note 1 to the
financial statements.
1.4 Qualification
1.4.1 Opening balances and correction of prior year
errors
The 2004-05 financial statements were materially
misstated and had to be restated.

I could not verify the restated figures for 2004-05
because SALGA could not provide me with supporting
documentation and journal entries and explanations to
support the adjustments.
An amount of R7 797 471 was disclosed in note
18 to the financial statements as an unreconcilable
difference. No workings/breakdown and supporting
documents of the difference could be provided by
SALGA management.
An amount of R1 579 763 was incorrectly disclosed in
the comparative figures as accrued leave pay instead
of accruals.
1.4.2 Property, plant and equipment
•	The cost price of property, plant and equipment as
per asset register did not agree with the financial
statements. A difference of R3 864 833 was noted.
Management indicated that this was mainly due
to the fact that leased assets were not recorded
in an asset register but on a separate list. This list
did not constitute a proper fixed asset register
and the total did not agree with the financials. No
agreement could be reached with management
on the difference.
•	A difference of R26 900 (2005: R1 494 622)
relating to the total book value of assets was
identified between the accounting records and
the financial statements.
•	Monthly reconciliations were not done between
the fixed asset register and the general ledger.

•	Some of the opening balances of the fixed asset
registers did not agree to closing balances as per
the 2004-05 financial statements.

determine what the opening balances should
be due to the absence of relevant accounting
records.

•	Some asset tags on the assets did not agree to
the asset tag numbers recorded in the fixed asset
register and some assets did not have asset tags
at all.

Due to the above the value of property, plant and
equipment could thus be materially misstated.

•	Due to the fact that a material number of assets
in the asset register did not have asset numbers
and the locations of the assets were not indicated,
I could not perform an asset verification. The value
and existence of assets could therefore not be
determined.

•	The bank reconciliation of the Tsunami Relief
account for 31 July 2005 and 30 June 2006
did not reconcile. Unreconciled differences of
R1 835 018 and R1 171 904, respectively, were
identified.

•	The asset count sheets were not reviewed and
the asset count was not reconciled to the fixed
asset register.
•	Intangible assets to the value of R129 700 were
expensed instead of capitalised.
•	No residual values were determined/estimated for
the buildings owned by SALGA.
•	The assets at the Midrand Storage were not
properly stored and it was therefore impossible for
the auditors to perform the physical verification of
those assets.
•	The revaluation reserve is overstated by R424 4 09
(2004-05: R1 536 702,24) due to incorrect
calculations.
•	The opening balances on the financial statements
had not been accurately restated. I could not
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1.4.3 Cash and bank

•	No bank reconciliation could be presented for the
bank accounts of the Free State Provincial Office.
•	The opening bank balance did not include the
three bank accounts which were excluded from
prior year financial statements with a value of
R15 726.
•	The comparative figure for the current year
was R1 531 968 less than the previous year’s
published figure. No acceptable explanation could
be submitted by management.
•	There was a difference of R402 878 between the
bank confirmation for a fixed deposit and what
had been accounted for in the general ledger,
which could not be explained during the audit.
•	The balance of the credit card per records of
SALGA differed from the amount confirmed by the
bank. A difference of R39 036 was identified.

1.4.4 Accounts receivable and revenue
•	The controls over the calculation and invoicing of
and accounting for revenue in the form of levies as
well as the collection of debtors were inadequate.
•	Not all supporting documentation to confirm the
amount of debtors could be obtained.
•	Long outstanding debts to the amount of
R2666715 were not written off.
•	No written approval had been obtained from the
accounting authority to write off a debt to the
value of R324 438 as a result of overspending on
donor funding.
•	The revenue amount disclosed in the financial
statements did not agree to revenue included
in the debtors reconciliation. Revenue for
2004-05 (comparative figure) is understated by
R85382183.
•	The accounts receivable balance as per SALGA’s
records did not agree to balances confirmed by
the debtors. A difference of R18 925 236 was
noted.
•	The revenue amount as per invoices did not agree
with revenue included in the debtors reconciliation.
A difference of R1 289 510 was noted.

•	As reflected in note 3 to the financial statements
trade receivables was disclosed at a nil value. This
was due to incorrect application of SAICA circular
09/06 and IAS 39(AC 133). Debtors were not
initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
at amortised cost. It was accounted for at fair
value at year-end and the impairment was done
at the original invoice amount, which resulted in
zero balance.

1.4.6 Expenses
•	In many instances supporting documents were
not cancelled as paid after payments had been
made, which might result in double payments.
•	Payments amounting to R1 144 600 were identified
which were supported by copies of invoices.
1.4.7 Accounts payable

1.4.5 Salaries and wages
•	Salary payments as per remuneration reconciliation
report could not be traced to the general ledger. A
difference of R148 076 was noted.
•	Leave days paid did not correspond with the
authorised details in the internal memorandum
from the HR section. This error resulted in an
overpayment of leave pay amounting to R45009.
•	Salary report totals did not always agree to the
electronic transfer payment (EFT) report totals. A
difference of R23 963 was identified.
•	Differences noted on the reconciliation between
the salary system (VIP) and PASTEL (as prepared
by management) could not be explained.
•	Employee tax paid to SARS did not always agree
to the recorded amount. A difference of R46 393
was noted.

•	The comparative figures for 2004-05 had not been
accurately restated.
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•	Creditors with debit balances amounting to
R35817 were not reclassified at year-end.
•	Accounts payable balances as per creditors
reconciliation did not agree to balances as per
creditors listing and financial statements. There
was a difference of R316 030 at year-end.
•	The levies received in advance as per final
debtors reconciliation did not agree to the amount
disclosed in the financial statements. There was
a difference of R1 600 887 (2005: R508 455) at
year-end.
1.4.8 Irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure
The prescribed procurement procedures in terms of
the Supply Chain Management Framework were not
adhered to. SALGA only applied the Supply Chain
Management Practice Notes issued by the National
Treasury from January 2006. The associated irregular
expenditure was not quantified and disclosed in the
financial statements and appropriate action was not
taken as required in terms of sections 51(1)(e)(iii) and

55(2)(b) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999
(Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

unchanged for two years. Management indicated that
it should be reversed but no explanation was given.

•	No irregular expenditure was disclosed for the
2005-06 financial year.

1.4.10 Limitation of scope

•	SALGA did not keep a separate list/register of
irregular expenditure showing the breakdown of
amounts (giving details of transactions, e.g. date,
reference and amount) disclosed in the financial
statements. It was not possible to determine
whether the irregular expenditure incurred by the
provincial offices had been disclosed.
•	Fruitless and wasteful expenditure with regard
to interest and penalties amounting to R72 851
was paid to SARS as a result of late payment of
employee taxes.

•	Not all information and documents such as
supporting documents for journals passed,
variance explanations and supporting documents
for payments made were submitted as requested.
The bank confirmation for the Eastern Cape
Provincial Office bank account could not be
obtained.
•	Significant journal entries in the accounting
records could not be substantiated by adequate
supporting documentation.

1.4.9 Income tax

	Some journals were not authorised or signed as
evidence of review by a senior official. The validity
of journals could thus not be determined.

SALGA applied for income tax exemption in terms of
section 10(1)(d)(iv) of the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act
No. 58 of 1962), but no response had been received
from the South African Revenue Service. SALGA
however stated in note 12 to the financial statements
that SALGA is exempt from income tax.

•	The revenue and expenditure relating to the three
bank accounts which had not been accounted
for in 2004-05 were also not accounted for in the
current year. I was not provided with information
to determine the revenue and expenditure not
accounted for.

It is uncertain whether SARS will grant tax exemption,
and the associated potential tax to be paid by SALGA
has not been determined should exemption not be
granted. The outcome of the matter and the impact on
the financial statements are therefore uncertain.

•	Five provincial final signed-off trial balances could
not be submitted by SALGA during the audit. Three
of the outstanding trial balances were submitted
during the reporting phase of the audit.

There was no movement in the provision for taxation
from prior years. The figure of R12 500 remained

•	A creditor for VAT to the amount of R419 420 and
a debtor for VAT to the amount of R124 685 were
initially accounted for in the financial statements.
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Adequate supporting evidence could not be
provided for these balances. These balances
were subsequently reversed out of the financial
statements without adequate evidence supporting
the reversal.
1.4.11 Disclosure in the financial statements
The following material disclosure issues and noncompliance with Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (GRAP) and Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (GAAP) were identified:
(a)

Accounting policies

•	The basis of preparation of financial statements
was omitted, i.e. the historical cost versus the
fair value methods as required by GRAP 1.
The presentation currency was also omitted in
contravention of IAS 21 (AC 112).
•	Revenue from government grants was not
included in the accounting policies as required by
paragraph 35(a) of IAS 18 (AC 111).
•	The accounting policy does not state that the
depreciation calculation takes into account
residual values as required by paragraph 51 of IAS
18 (AC 111).
•	Employee
entitlement
(as included in the
accounting policy for provisions) should be
separated as it falls within the definitions of
employee benefits which is a separate policy
required by IAS 19 (AC 116).

•	The accounting policy for financial instruments
does not comply with IAS 39 (AC 133). In all
cases initial recognition policy has been omitted,
i.e., that financial instruments at initial recognition
should be measured at fair value, not at cost.
•	There is no accounting policy on the items that
constitute cash and cash equivalents.

debtors balance which in its nature is a non-cash
item.
•	An amount of R5 679 452 (2005: R2 495 725)
is disclosed in the cash flow statement as a
movement in the mortgage bond. This is incorrect
as the closing balance for mortgage bond was
R930 669 (2005: R957 166).

•	SALGA changed its accounting policy (voluntary
change) for measuring furniture and fittings,
office equipment, computer equipment and
motor vehicles from the revaluation model with
depreciation being calculated on the diminishing
balance basis over the estimated useful life of the
assets to the cost model and on a straight-line
basis (as included in note 1.3 of the accounting
policies). However, the effect of the change in
accounting policy and change in accounting
estimates with regard to change from diminishing
to straight line was not reflected in the financial
statements.

(d)

(b)

•

 o comparative figures were disclosed for prior
N
year contingent liabilities.

(f)

Revaluation reserve

Investments

•	The investment in the Western Cape Staff Fund
to the amount of R4 499 433 should have been
classified as current assets as it was liquidated
immediately after year-end.

Long-term loans

The long-term loan of R930 669 should have been
classified as a current liability as SALGA repaid the
loan shortly after year-end.
(e)

Contingent liabilities

•	SALGA has an obligation to pay post-retirement
medical benefits as described in note 15. The
principles of IAS 19 (AC 116) and IAS 37(AC 130)
were not followed by SALGA. The amount of R550
025 should be disclosed as a provision.

No note was provided for the revaluation reserve
disclosed in the statement of net assets.

(c) Cash flow statement
(g)
•	The cash flow statement did not exclude any noncash items as required in terms of GRAP 2. The
decrease in the debtors balance was the result
of an impairment transaction passed against the

Trial balance and financial statements

Material differences were identified between the trial
balance and the financial statements.
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(h) 	Non-compliance with Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP)/Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (GAAP)
(i) SALGA did not comply with the requirements
of SAICA circular 9/06 which clarifies the
treatment of the effect of time value for money
for when the entity initially recognises accounts
receivable. SALGA did not initially recognise its
accounts receivable at fair value as required by
IAS 39 (AC 133) and circular 09/06.
(ii) Accounts receivable were not subsequently
measured at amortised cost, although the
accounting policy states that trade and other
receivables are measured at initial recognition
at fair value, and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.
(iii) SALGA did not comply with IAS 39 (AC 133),
paragraphs 63 - 65. The list of provision for bad
debts does not include reasons for impairment
of the individual debtors. The explanation for
provision made was a general explanation
which was not made per individual significant
debtor.
(iv) T
 he operating lease payments were not
recognised on the straight-line basis as
required by IAS 17 (AC 105) and SAICA
circular 7 of 2005.
(v) SALGA has operating lease agreements, yet
did not disclose the lease agreements in terms
of IAS 17 (AC 105) .35.

(vi) SALGA did not comply with IAS 16 (AC 123) .4,
which requires that the initially recognised cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment be
allocated to its significant components, and
that each component then be depreciated
separately. Alarm systems and lifts were not
depreciated/valued separately and they were
not separately recorded on the fixed asset
register.
The above was mainly due to a weak general control
environment as a result of a lack of capacity and skills
as well as inadequate policies and procedures.
1.5 Disclaimer Of Audit Opinion
Because of the significance of the matters discussed in
paragraphs 1.4.1 to 1.4.11, I do not express an opinion
on the financial statements.

•	The main bank account of SALGA went into
overdraft during the year. This is not allowed in
terms of section 66(5) of the PFMA.

1.6.2 Control environment issues
•	Quarterly reports did not comply with Treasury
Regulation 26.1.1. The quarterly reports did not
have projections of the expected expenditure and
revenue for the remainder of the financial year.
•	No reporting was done to the executive authority
on compliance with the PFMA as required by
Treasury Regulation 26.1.2.
•	The strategic plan did not comply with the
requirements of Treasury Regulation 30.1.
- The plan did not cover key performance
measures and indicators for assessing the
entity’s performance in delivering the desired
outcomes and objectives.

1.6 Emphasis Of Matter
Without further qualifying the audit opinion expressed
above, attention is drawn to the following matters:
1.6.1 Non-compliance with the PFMA and Treasury
Regulations
•	SALGA entered into finance leases. Finance leases
are not allowed in terms of Treasury Regulation
32.2.5. These finance leases were not treated
and disclosed as irregular expenditure in terms of
section 55(2)(b)(i) and (ii) of the PFMA.
•	Bank reconciliations were not prepared at least
weekly as required by Treasury Regulation
31.1.2(j).

for Public Deposits as required by Treasury
Regulation 31.3.3.

- The strategic plan and budget had not been
submitted to the executive authority at least six
months before the start of the financial year as
required by Treasury Regulation 30.1.1.
- The strategic plan did not incorporate the
materiality/significance framework as required
by Treasury Regulation 30.1.3(e).
•	There was no evidence that the members of
the accounting authority declared their private/
personal business interests in the business of
SALGA as required by section 50(3)(a) of the
PFMA.
•	Surplus funds were not invested at the Corporation
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•	There was a lack of segregation of duties with
regard to acquisition, record keeping and custody
of assets.
•	The accounting authority did not review the cash
flow projections of SALGA.
•	Movements of assets from one location to another
were not properly authorised. Some assets were
moved to other offices without completing the
necessary documentation.
•	Asset registers were not timeously updated with
new additions of property, plant and equipment.
The asset register for SALGA head office had not
been updated after the move from the previous
building to include the location of assets in the
new building.
•	Asset registers were inaccurate and incomplete
and some were not available during the audit.
•	The invoices issued to the municipalities for the
year under review were not signed by an official
from SALGA as evidence of review.
•	No performance contracts were concluded to ensure
that employees’ performance was evaluated.
•	The provincial payrolls were not forwarded to the
provinces for certification and confirmation of the
employees’ existence.

•	A register/list/schedule of contingent liabilities,
irregular, wasteful and fruitless expenditure was
not maintained. This resulted in an incomplete
disclosure of irregular, wasteful and fruitless
expenditure.
•	Accounts payable reconciliations
performed on a monthly basis.

were

not

•	SALGA had as at 30 September 2006 not yet
accounted in the ledger for the transactions of
July, August and September 2006.
•	It was noted that SALGA does not have an
adequate budget policy. The policy does not
stipulate the responsibilities of the heads of
units with regard to the budget compilation and
monitoring. No guidelines for the preparation of
budget inputs by the different heads of divisions
are provided.
•	No written/formal agreement was entered into
with the various municipalities regarding fees
calculation, payment and period of membership.
•	No stock count of consumable stock on hand
was performed and as a result no disclosure of
consumable stock on hand was made in the
financial statements.
1.6.3 Computer information systems (CIS)
A limited scope information systems audit focused on
the logical security of the Windows domain controller
at the South African Local Government Association

was completed in August 2006 and the findings
were reported to the chief executive officer. The chief
executive officer’s comments, dated September
2006, referred to various corrective measures taken to
address the weaknesses identified. The effectiveness
of the corrective measures will be evaluated during the
next audit.
The most significant weaknesses identified were the
following:
•	Certain system policy settings were inadequate.
For example, users were not required to select
passwords of a specific complexity level, the
maximum password age interval was not
appropriately set, an unlimited number of failed
logon attempts could be made without the user
being locked out and the administrator and guest
accounts had not been renamed.
•	Twelve per cent of the 108 user accounts defined
on the system had security administration
privileges which allowed them full control over the
server and/or domain resources.
•	The passwords for 36% of the users had not been
changed for at least 30 days and 10% of the users
were not required to change their passwords at all.
If passwords are not changed frequently, there is a
higher risk of such passwords being compromised
over time.
1.6.4 Performance information
•	The measurable objectives included in the 2005
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- 2007 business plan do not define the actual
impact which the objectives should have on the
public.
•	SALGA does not have a proper budget which is
aligned with its strategic objectives as per strategic
plan.
•	I could not obtain evidence that SALGA’s strategic
plan was approved by the Minister of Provincial
and Local Government as required by the Treasury
Regulations.
•	Quarterly reports list the fifteen strategic objectives
as set out in the business plan but they do not
report on the achievement or non-achievement of
six of those fifteen strategic objectives.
•	There were no targets specified for all the strategic
objectives as included in the strategic plan.
Strategic objectives were not measurable and
they were not linked to a specific period.
The findings in paragraph 1.6.1 to 1.6.4 are due to
a lack of policies, monitoring of existing policies and
compliance with laws and regulations.
1.6.5 Internal audit
•	SALGA did not review the effectiveness of the
internal audit section.
•	The internal auditors did not review the quarterly
reports prepared by SALGA.

•	Internal audit did not execute all the planned
projects in terms of the strategic plan.
1.6.6 Investigation into irregularities
In paragraph 3.9 of my previous report it was reported
that SALGA appointed forensic investigators to
investigate several potential irregularities. The forensic
investigators made certain recommendations. SALGA
followed up these recommendations in certain
instances. The potential debt to be recovered has not
yet been accounted for in the financial statements.
1.6.7 Human resource plan
A human resource plan which ensures proper
management of the human resource demand and
requirements was not developed by SALGA.
1.6.8 Contingent liability
Attention is drawn to note 15 to the financial statements
with regard to the contingent liabilities disclosed. The
outcome is uncertain.
1.6.9 Submission of financial statements
•	The first set of financial statements was submitted
by SALGA on 31 August 2006 for audit as
required by section 55(1)(c) of the PFMA. These
financial statements were however not complete
and accurate. The most significant shortcomings
of these financial statements were communicated
to management.

•	The financial statements were withdrawn and
resubmitted on 6 November 2006. These financial
statements were again materially incorrect. After
a meeting between the Auditor-General, the
management of SALGA and the chairperson of the
audit committee, SALGA again made significant
changes to the financial statements.
•	Final financial statements to be audited were
received on 28 November 2006. This date was
regarded as the submission date of the financial
statements. Significant changes had to be made
to the financial records of the provincial offices of
SALGA after the audit. Those changes had to be
audited again.
1.6.10 Delays in finalisation of audit report
The audit report could not be finalised within two
months after the submission of financial statements
due to the fact that endeavours were made to resolve
some of the significant outstanding items.

2.	Report On Legal And Regulatory
Requirements In Terms Of The Labour
Relations Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 Of 1995)
As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the
Republic of South Africa, read with sections 4 and
20(2)(b) of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of
2004), I have additional reporting responsibilities in
terms of section 98(2)(b)(i) of the Labour Relations Act,
1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995) to report on other matters
that are supplementary to my responsibility to express
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an opinion as to whether SALGA has complied with
those provisions of its constitution relating to financial
matters.
2.1 Management’s responsibilities
The accounting authority has additional responsibilities
as required by the Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No.
66 of 1995) which requires the accounting authority
to comply with, and ensure compliance with, those
provisions of its constitution relating to financial
matters.
2.2 Auditor’s responsibilities
I conducted my audit in accordance with the
International Standards on Auditing, General Notice
544 of 2006, issued in Government Gazette no. 28723
of 10 April 2006 and General Notice 808 of 2006,
issued in Government Gazette no. 28954 of 23 June
2006.
My audit further included an examination, on a test
basis, of evidence supporting compliance in all material
respects with any applicable legislation relating to
financial matters, financial management and other
related matters.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
2.3 Opinion
In my opinion, SALGA complied in all material respects

with the provisions of its constitution relating to financial
matters for the year ended 30 June 2006 in the manner
required by section 98(2)(b)(1) of the Labour Relations
Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995).

3.

Appreciation

The assistance rendered by the staff of SALGA during
the audit is sincerely appreciated.

F J Joubert for Auditor-General
Pretoria
15 February 2007
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Report of the Accounting Authority
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY REPORT FINANCIAL RESULTS

Name and surname Title		

Designation

The financial results of SALGA are set out in the financial statements.

Mr. T Zakuza				
Ms. N Maila				
Ms. M Matlou			
Ms. M Moitse			
Mr. S Mavusa			

Chairperson
Member
Member
Member
Member

SALGA received a Disclaimer of Opinion audit report for the 2004/05 financial year.
Since then management has put the following controls in place:
•

Members Of The Board

Capacity building in the Finance Unit

The members of the Board (being SALGA’s National Executive Committee) are as
follows:

o	A Chartered Accountant was appointed as the Head of Unit: Finance
on the 1st of February 2006. Further to that, the Financial Accountant
and the Supply Chain Specialist was also appointed and these individuals are specialists in their field.
o	The Supply Chain Management (SCM) sub-unit has been set-up (under
the Finance Unit) with effect from 2 January 2006. Workshops have
been conducted throughout SALGA to promote awareness of the policies and procedures of SCM.
•

CA (SA)
CA (SA)
CA (SA)
CFO
Advocate

Governance
o	The Internal Audit function has been successfully outsourced to ensure
that SALGA improves its corporate governance, and GOBODO Risk
Management was appointed to execute this function.
o	A new audit committee was appointed, again to further strengthen the
corporate governance and to comply with the PFMA. The audit committee is made up of:

Name and surname		

Designation

Cllr A Masondo		
Cllr H Jenkins		
Cllr O Mlaba			
Fr S Mkhatshwa		
Cllr CM Johnson		
Cllr ND Masemola		
Cllr S Molokoane		
Cllr NM Khoza		
Cllr S Somyo			
Cllr MD Monakedi		
Cllr ME Simboyia		
Cllr RZN Capa		
Cllr Mashilo			
Cllr GK Lobelo		
Cllr O Mlaba			
Cllr J Ramokhoase		

Chairperson
Deputy Chairperson
Deputy Chairperson
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
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Board And Executive Members Emoluments
No emoluments were paid or received by the National Executive Committee members during the period under review:

Members of Executive Management Team from July 2005 to June 2006
Name					

Designation										

Remuneration (cost to company)

Dr M Khoza					
Mr. S Wasa					
Adv. G Richards				
Mr. KD Kekana (Resigned 20/03/2006)
Mr. S Sethene (Appointed 1 May 2006)
Mr. R Nolutshungu (Resigned 28/02/2006)
Adv EM Yawa (Appointed 8 May 2006)
Ms. NH Ally (Resigned 28/03/2006)		
Mr. K Nicol (Resigned)			
Mr. PA Maloka				
Mr. TP Mthetwa (Appointed 1 February 2006)
Mr. NC Magwangqana			
Ms LIM Molapo (Appointed 1 May 2006)
Mr. JL Muller					
Ms TP Philips (Appointed 1 March 2006)
Ms GW Langa				
Mr. HG Mathobela				
Mr. HE Pietersen				

Chief Executive Officer									
Executive Director: Finance and Corporate Services					
Executive Director: Governance, Intergovernmental Relations and Municipal Services
Executive Director: Office of the Chief Executive Officer					
Executive Director: Office of the Chief Executive Officer					
Executive Director: Municipal Labour Relations & Human Resources			
Executive Director: Municipal Labour Relations & Human Resources			
Executive Director: Strategic Affairs							
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Western Cape					
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Limpopo						
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Western Cape					
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Eastern Cape					
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Kwazulu-Natal					
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA North West					
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Gauteng						
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Mpumalanga					
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Northern Cape					
Deputy Chief Executive Officer – SALGA Free State					

R934, 985.30
R706, 021.68
R723, 461.26
R530, 271.81
R116, 885.98
R435, 942.97
R117, 692.86
R522, 270.47
R804, 826.71
R524, 640.66
R300, 548.30
R544, 252.02
R129, 719.32
R586, 915.99
R233, 771.99
R541, 252.02
R505, 679.76
R524, 397.79
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The remunerations paid to the Audit committee Members during the period under
review are as follows:

vourable to SALGA. Management however feels that the chances of this case being
successful is remote and has instructed the Western Cape office to cash the investment. The investment was cashed on the 11th of July 2006 and the funds used in the
carrying out of SALGA’s strategic objectives.

Members of the Audit Committee

Going Concern

Old members

SALGA derives its revenue from Municipal Levies, Grants and Donor Funding. Therefore SALGA is in a position to meet its future obligation or commitments as they fall
due.

Audit Committee Member’s Emoluments

Mr. K Chetty			
Mr. C Clerihew		
Ms. M Moitse		
Ms. M Ramano		

Chairperson			
Member			
Member			
Member			

No remuneration
No remuneration
No remuneration
No remuneration

Auditors
Office of the Auditor General will continue to perform the statutory audit in accordance
with the Act.

New members
Mr. T Zakuza			
Ms. N Maila			
Ms. M Moitse		
Ms. O Matloa		
Mr. S Mavusa		

Chairperson			
Member			
Member			
Member			
Member			

R4, 161.60
R4, 812.00
R-nil
R5, 056.80
R-nil
Mr. Sabelo Wasa: 				
Acting CEO					

Material Events After Year End
In terms of an existing agreement with employees in the Western Cape, SALGA predecessor, WECLOGO undertook to pay severance packages in case of restructure,
dissolution or any merger of WECLOGO with SALGA. The legal implications of the
agreement are still unresolved as at 30 June 2006. In order to fund for the severance
packages, an investment was opened to match the liability should the case be unfa-
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Cllr Amos Masondo
Chairperson

Statement of financial position
Figures in Rand		
Note(s)
2006
2005
					
Assets						
Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment		
2
18,202,590
11,855,838
Investment: Staff reserve fund			
4,499,433
4,202,044
			
22,702,023
16,057,882
Current Assets						
Trade and other receivables		
3
4,465,454
104,618,661
Cash and cash equivalents		
4
35,028,122
9,005,338
			
39,493,576
113,623,999	
Total Assets			
62,195,599	
129,681,881
Equity and Liabilities						
Equity
Reserves			
1,948,878
5,110,922
Retained income			
27,436,270
99,546,394
			
29,385,148	
104,657,316
Liabilities						
Non Current Liabilities				
Finance lease obligation			
1,127,450
430,257
Mortgage Bond		
6
930,669
957,166
			
2,058,119	
1,387,423
Current Liabilities						
Trade and other payables		
7
12,960,746
15,091,428
Deferred income			
3,979,810
1,750,580
Provisions		
5
5,947,656
2,385,407
Levies in advance			
7,864,120
2,158,171
Bank overdraft		
4
2,251,556
			
30,752,332
23,637,142
Total Liabilities			
32,810,451
25,024,565	
Total Equity and Liabilities			
62,195,599	
129,681,881
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Statement of financial performance
Figures in Rand		
Note(s)
			
Revenue		
8
Other income			
Operating expenses			
Operating loss		9	
Investment revenue		
10
Finance costs		
11
Loss for the period			

South African Local Government Association

99

2006

2005

99,537,988
12,170,295
(189,165,232)
(77,456,949)
1,812,216
(667,435)
(76,312,168)

84,447,427
13,559,559
(109,928,811)
(11,921,825)
1,321,919
(330,244)
(10,930,150)

Statement of changes in net assets

Figures in Rand		

Establishment Levy

Revaluation reserve

Balance at 01 July 2004		
-	908,878	
Changes in equity
Acquired on amalgamation		
1,180,000		
Transfer to staff reserve fund			

Staff reserve fund

Total reserves

Retained income

Total equity

-	908,878	

(1,762,268)

(853,390)

3,490,077		
711,967
(711,967)

4,670,077
-

3,490,077
711,967

Net income (expenses) recognised
directly in equity		
1,180,000
4,202,044
4,202,044
Loss for the year						

(711,967)
(10,930,150)

4,670,077
(10,930,150)

Total recognised income and expenses
for the period		
Prior year adjustments		

(11,642,117)
112,950,779

(6,260,073)
111,770,779

1,180,000
4,202,044
4,202,044
(1,180,000)				

Total changes		
4,202,044
4,202,044
101,308,662
105,510,706
								
Balance at 01 July 2005		
-	908,878	4,202,044	5,110,922	99,546,394	
104,657,316
Changes in equity									
Loss for the year						
(76,312,168)
(76,312,168)
Revaluation reserve			
1,040,000		
1,040,000		
1,040,000
Reversal of staff reserve fund (refer note 15)			
(4,202,044)
(4,202,044)
4,202,044		
Total changes		
1,040,000
(4,202,044)
(3,162,044)
(72,110,124)
(75,272,168)
Balance at 30 June 2006		
1,948,878	
1,948,878	
27,436,270
29,385,148	
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Cash flow Statement
Figures in Rand		
Note(s)
2006
2005
					
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from (used in) operations		
14
27,693,067
(101,324,781)
Interest income			
1,812,216
1,321,919
Finance costs			
(356,404)
(326,900)
Net cash from operating activities			

29,148,879	

(100,329,762)

Cash flows from investing activities					
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		
2
(6,632,835)
(8,693,759)
Investment: Staff reserve fund			
(297,389)
(4,202,044)
Net cash from investing activities			

(6,930,224)

(12,895,803)

Cash flows from financing activities
					
Movement in mortgage bond			
5,679,452
2,495,725
Finance lease payments			
386,162
426,913
Other non cash item			
(9,929)
110,574,220
Net cash from financing activities			
6,055,685	
				
Total cash movement for the period			
28,274,340
Cash at the beginning of the period			
6,753,782
Total cash at end of the period		4	
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35,028,122

113,496,858	
271,293
6,482,489
6,753,782

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the prescribed Statements of Generally Recognised Accepted Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board
replacing the equivalent GAAP Statements as follows:
Standard of GRAP
GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements
GRAP 2: Cash flow statements
GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

Replaced Statement of GAAP
AC101: Presentation of financial statements
AC118: Cash flow statements
AC103: Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

The recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in material differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial
statements. The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 & 3 has resulted in the following significant changes in the preparation of the financial statements.
1. Terminology differences
Standard of GRAP
Statement of financial performance
Statement of financial position
Statement of changes in net assets
Net assets
Surplus/deficit for the period
Accumulated surplus/deficit
Contributions from owners
Distribution to owners
Reporting date

2. T
 he cash flow statement can only be prepared in
accordance with the direct method.			
			
3. Specific information such as:

Replaced Statement of GAAP
Income statement
Balance sheet
Statement of changes in equity
Equity
Profit/loss for the period
Retained earnings
Share capital
Dividends
Balance sheet date

(a) receivables from non-exchange transactions, including
taxes and transfers;
(b) taxes and transfers payable;
(c) trade and other payables from non-exchange
transactions;
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	must be presented seperately on the statement of
financial position					
					
4. The amount and nature of any restrictions on cash
balances is required to be disclosed.		

Paragraph 11 - 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented as the budget reporting standard is in the process of
being developed by the international and local standard
setters. Although the inclusion of budget information
would enhance the usefulness of the financial statements, non-disclosure will not affect fair presentation.

Mutually controlled entities
A business combination involving entities under common control is a business combination in which all the
combining entities are ultimately controlled by the same
party before and after the businesss combination, and
that control is not transitory.

1.2 Revenue
SALGA derives its revenue from Government Grants
and Municipal Levies. Revenue is recognised when it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the enterprise and these benefits can be measured
reliably. Revenue from Municipal Levies is recognised
in accordance with agreed upon formulae. Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into
account the principal outstanding and effective interest
rates over the period to maturity. Income received in
advance is reflected as deferred income.

On 1 July 2004 all provincial SALGA entities transferred
their administration to SALGA national resulting in SALGA national reporting for all entities. In the absence of
more specific guidance, SALGA consistently accounted
for assets and liabilities using fair value measurement.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment
Changes in accounting policies
As at 1 July 2005, SALGA elected to change its accounting policy for measuring furniture and fittings, office equipment, computer equipment and motor vehicles from the revaluation model with depreciation being
calculated on the diminishing balance basis over the
estimated useful life of the assets, to the cost model
with depreciation being calculated on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the assets. The
revised accounting policy for property, plant and equipment, applied retrospectively, is described in note 1.2.
SALGA decided to change its accounting policy for the
measurement of these assets as it believes the new
policy will provide more relevant and reliable information
about the carrying amount of these assets.

Owned assets
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Land
and buildings are measured at revalued amounts less
accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment
losses charged subsequent to the date of the revaluation.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over
the useful life of the assets. Land is not depreciated. The
estimated useful lives are currently as follows:
• Buildings
• Office furniture and equipment
• Computer equipment
• Motor vehicles

20 to 75 years
3 to 20 years
9 to 12 years
5 years

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each financial year end.
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in cir-
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cumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable.
Following initial recognition at cost, land and buildings
are carried at a revalued amount, which is the fair value
at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation on buildings and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount.

			

Any revaluation surplus is credited to the asset revaluation reserve included in the equity section of the balance
sheet, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously recognised in
profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in
profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in profit
or loss, except that a deficit directly offsetting a previous
surplus on the same asset is directly offset against the
surplus in the asset revaluation reserve.
An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to
retained earnings is made for the difference between
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of
the assets and depreciation based on the assets original cost. Accumulated depreciation at the revaluation
date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of
the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.				
					
An item of property plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic ben-

efits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gains or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in
the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.

Leases assets
Leases in terms of which SALGA assumes substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance lease assets are capitalised at
the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased
asset, or if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments, and a corresponding liability is raised.
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly
against income.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and other shortterm highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently
recorded at fair value.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the
lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that SALGA will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

1.2 Financial instruments

Initial recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the association’s balance sheet when the association becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at
fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.

1.3 Leases

the past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation.
Employees entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of service
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.
Doubtful debts are provided for by considering an individial debtor’s situation.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 15.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

1.6 Revenue

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straightline basis over the lease term.

Revenue from Municipal Levies is recognised in accordance with agreed upon formula. Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account
the principal outstanding and effective interest rates
over the period to maturity. Income received in advance
is reflected as deferred income.

1.4 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
The organisation remunerates its employees on a total cost to company basis. This package includes the
organisation’s portion of contribution in respect of retirement benefits and encourages the staff to invest in
retirement funds or annuities.

1.5 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the association has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
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SALGA derives its revenue from Government Grants
and Municipal Levies. Revenue is recognised when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
enterprise and these benefits can be measured reliably.

1.7 Donor funding

Income is recognised to the extent that it has been expended for the specific purpose. The unexpended portion is rolled over into the following financial year as deferred income.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Figures in Rand						
					
2. Property, plant and equipment
			
2006			
		
Cost / Valuation
Accumulated
Carrying value
Cost / Valuation
			
depreciation			
Land		
1,662,000
1,662,000
1,404,000
Buildings		
4,338,000
(399,668)
3,938,332
3,556,000
Furniture and fixtures		
8,050,808
(1,865,280)
6,185,528
4,642,342
Motor vehicles		
1,008,760
(203,409)
805,351
295,955
IT equipment		
6,805,068
(1,193,689)
5,611,379
4,298,997
Total		
21,864,636
(3,662,046)
18,202,590
14,197,294	

2006

2005
Accumulated Carrying value
depreciation
1,404,000
(242,217)
3,313,783
(1,145,389)
3,496,953
(183,584)
112,371
(770,266)
3,528,731
(2,341,456)
11,855,838	

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 2006
						
		
Opening Balance
Additions
Revaluations
Depreciation Impairment loss
Land		
1,404,000
258,000
Buildings		
3,313,783
782,000
(157,451)
Furniture and fixtures		
3,496,953
3,450,614
(765,221)
3,182
Motor vehicles		
112,371
676,149
16,831
IT equipment		
3,528,731
2,506,072
(425,050)
1,626
		
11,855,838	
6,632,835	
1,040,000
(1,330,891)	4,808	
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 2005
					
			
Opening Balance
Additions
Additions
					 through business
					
combinations
Land			
1,404,000
Buildings			
3,556,000
Furniture and fixtures			
1,740,109
990,899
1,324,637
Motor vehicles			
30,217
282,250
IT equipment			
2,733,397
398,124
737,849
			
4,503,723
1,389,023
7,304,736
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2005

Total
1,662,000
3,938,332
6,185,528
805,351
5,611,379
18,202,590

Depreciation

Total

(242,217)
(558,692)
(200,096)
(340,639)
(1,341,644)

1,404,000
3,313,783
3,496,953
112,371
3,528,731
11,855,838

Property, Plant & Equipment (Continued)
Leased assets 					
The carrying value of office furniture and equipment held
under finance leases at 30 June 2006 was R1 18 769
(R2005: R365 832). Additions during the year include
R1 011 853 of office furniture and equipment held under
finance leases. Leased assets are pledged as security
for the related finance lease liabilities.			
			

Revaluation of land and buildings
Erf 3278, Johannesburg measuring 248 square metres.
These premises are partly used as offices by SALGA
Gauteng.
SALGA engaged Phil Minnaar Valuations, an accredited
independent valuer, to determine the fair value of its land
and buildings. Fair value is determined by reference to
market-based evidence. The date of revaluation was 30
June 2006.
If the land and buildings were measured using the cost
model, the carrying amounts would be as follows:		
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2006
2005
			
R
R
Cost
Accumulated depre
Net carrying value

4,960,000
432,278
4,527,722

4,960,000
298,767
4,661,233

Notes to the Financial Statements
Figures in Rand						

2006

3. Trade and other receivables
					
Trade receivables						
Prepayments (if immaterial)						
140,771
Deposits						
52,852
VAT						
1,654,051
Sundry debtors						
2,617,780
					
	4,465,454	

2005

91,323,618
7,734,458
146,237
5,414,348
104,618,661

An amount of R7 700 000 was paid to Zenprop (Pty) Ltd as payment of the property that SALGA was intending to acquiring in September 2004. The matter was subsequently
settled out of court after some arnomalities were uncovered on the deal, and the amount paid by SALGA was recovered in full during the period under review.
SALGA decided not to claim legal costs nor interest as management wanted the seller to assist the forensic auditors commissioned by SALGA to investigate this matter and
others.
The provision for doubtful debt has been determined by considering individual circumstances of the debtors. The delegated officials consider that the carrying amount of trade
and other receivables approximates their fair value.
4. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
					
Cash on hand						
6,691
778
Bank balances						
35,021,431
9,004,560
Bank overdraft						
(2,251,556)
						
35,028,122
6,753,782
					
Current assets						
35,028,122
9,005,338		
Current liabilities						
(2,251,556)
						
35,028,122
6,753,782
				
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held with registered banking institutions and are subject to significant interest rate risk. The carrying amount of these assets appreciate
to their fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Figures in Rand						

2006

2005

5. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions 2006
				
				
Provision for leave pay				
Provision for taxation				
				

Opening
Additions
Utilised
Total
Balance		
during the year
2,372,907
3,473,062
89,187
5,935,156
12,500
12,500
2,385,407
3,473,062	89,187	5,947,656

6. Mortgage Bond
The long term loan represents a mortgage bond held over Portion 654 of the Farm Albinia No. 957 In Kwazulu Natal. The bond was fully paid on the 13th of July 2006.
7. Trade and other payables
					
Trade payables						
Amounts received in advance					
VAT 						
Sundry creditors						
Accrued leave pay						
Accrued expenses						
						

7,146,180
2,086,232
3,728,334
12,960,746

4,637,225
6,500,000
6,367
2,307,051
1,579,763
61,022
15,091,428	

The Accounting Authority considers that the carrying amount of trade and payables approximates to the fair value.
8. Revenue
					
Municipal levies						
Government grant						
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80,652,988
66,647,427
18,885,000
17,800,000
99,537,988	84,447,427

Notes to the Financial Statements
Figures in Rand						

2006

9. Operating costs
					
Operating lease charges						
Premises						
Contractual amounts					
5,595,499
Equipment			
Contractual amounts					
855,035
						
6,450,534	
					
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment					
1,336,012
Employee costs						
54,960,850

2005

2,122,722
1,068,884
3,191,606
1,341,644
45,717,842

10. Investment revenue
Interest revenue
Finance leases						
Banking institutions						
Other interest						
						

915
1,617,265
194,036
1,812,216

33,577
463,847
824,495
1,321,919	

11. Finance costs
					
Finance leases						
Mortgage bond						
						

311,031
356,404
667,435	

3,344
326,900
330,244	

12. Taxation
Taxation has not been provided for as the Association is exempt from Income Tax in terms of section 10(1) of the Income Tax Act.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Figures in Rand						
13.Auditors’ remuneration
					
Fees						
Adjustment for previous year					
						

2006

3,122,017
560,494
378
3,122,017	560,872

14.Cash generated from (used in) operations
					
Profit (loss) before taxation						
(76,312,168)
Adjustments for:						
Depreciation and amortisation					
1,336,012
Interest received						
(1,812,216)
Finance costs						
667,435
Movements in provisions						
3,562,249
Changes in working capital:						
Trade and other receivables					
100,153,207
Trade and other payables						
(2,130,682)
Deferred income						
2,229,230
						
27,693,067
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2005

(10,930,150)
1,341,644
(1,321,919)
330,244
1,311,867
(97,660,135)
4,584,781
1,018,887
(101,324,781)

15. Contingencies
A legal claim has been instituted against SALGA by Global Synergy (Pty) Ltd and
LOGPAY Technology Holdings (Pty) Ltd. They are claiming an amount of R148,382,306
in damages and lost revenue. A provision for this has not been made as SALGA is of
the opinion that the claim will be successfully defended.

Millionsure Insurance Brokers obtained a default judgement against SALGA for
R6,840,000.00 on 15/06/2006. An application for the rescission of this judgement is
pending and it is anticipated that this will be successful. SALGA has a claim against
Mllionsure pending in the High Court, Cape Town for payment of R10,337,094.

A potential obligation in respect of VAT and PAYE for the previous financial years by
SALGA Free State exists. The debt is currently under investigation and negotiations are
continuing with the South African Revenue Services (SARS). An amount of R1174174
was paid to SARS on the 7th of February 2006.

SALGA has instituted legal action against its tenant for failure to meet lease payments.
The legal opinion obtained indicates that the chances of recovering the amount
(R1,396.44) is poor. The matter has not been resolved by 30 June 2006.

In terms of an existing agreement with its employees, SALGA (Western Cape) has
undertaken to pay severance packages in the case of restructure, dissolution or any
merger of the organization. The legal implications of the agreement are still unresolved
as at 30 June 2006.
According to an actuarial valuation the total severance cost accumulated to R8,122,116
as at 30 June 2006. Included in this amount is post retirement medical benefits
payable by the association amounting to R429, 846 for CP Du Plessis and R120,180
for AV Colombo. To provide for the severance cost of R8, 122, 116, the association
has already reserved and invested R4, 202, 044 at that date. Management sought a
legal opinion on the matter. The outcome of the legal opinion (received after year end)
indicated that the chances of winning this case is remote. As a result the investment
made to cover the severance cost was cashed (on the 17th of July 2006) and the
funds used in the normal operations of SALGA.
The association’s 40% liability: Gestetner has instituted a claim against the association
in terms of a service contract cancelled by the association. Gestetner is claiming
damages amounting to R397, 307 and this amount excludes legal costs and interest.
The issue is subject to litigation and was unresolved at 30 June 2006.
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16. Unauthorised Expenditure
The R7, 700, 000 paid to Zenprop (Pty) Ltd as payment for property that SALGA was intending to buy was not budgeted for and no
proof of mandate by the Accounting Authority exists, this constituting unauthorised expenditure. However this amount has since been
recovered from Zenprop (Pty) Ltd during 2005/06 financial year.

Figures in Rand

2006

2005

-

7,700,000

2006

2005

Millionsure was paid a total amount of R10, 377, 104 over two financial period, but only R1, 300, 000 was approved by the Accounting
Authority. Of the total sum paid, R8, 578, 354 relates to the 2003/04 financial year. For the 2004/05 financial year, a further R498, 570
was unauthorized.

Figures in Rand

- 	9,076,924	
16,776,924
			
17. Wasteful And Fruitless Expenditure
The amount of fruitless and wasteful expenditure could not be quantified due to the magnitude of transactions during the SALGA National
Conference as generally weak internal controls existed.
However, the following amounts have been identified:
Penalties charged by the South African Revenue Services due to late payment of PAYE for the month of February 2005

Figures in Rand

2006

-

2005

59,109

Interest charged by the South African Revenue Services due to late payment of PAYE for the month of February 2005

Figures in Rand

2006

-

Interest charged by suppliers on late payment of accounts - SALGA has decided not to pursue this matter as it could not be determined
who is responsible.
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2005

34,518

Figures in Rand

2006

667,435

2005

326,335

Overpayment of suppliers and no supporting documentation for five transactions – Letters of demand have been send by SALGA’s attorneys to the affected suppliers

Figures in Rand

2006

-

2005

184,143

Overcharged by a supplier – SALGA has decided not to pursue this matter as it could not be determined who is responsible.

Figures in Rand

2006

-

2005

15,000

Finance charges on finance lease agreements
Management has taken a decision to not recover this money as it was not the intention to enter into this time of financing.

Figures in Rand

2006

311,031
	978,466

2005

330,243
949,348

18. Errors
During the 2004/05 audit, various matters were raised and upon investigation it was found that significant items were incorrectly accounted
for in the prior year or were merely ommitted. The effect of the different adjustments passed is recorded below:
Amalgamation of SALGA with Provincial Associations
On 1 July 2004, SALGA National took financial control over its nine provincial offices. The retained income of the provincial associations
were incorrectly accounted for in the opening retained income of the 2003/04 financial statements. The effect on retained income is as
follows:
Effect on retained income		
Establishment levy
When a decision was made to establish SALGA, provincial offices (previously referred to as provincial associations) were requested to each
contribute a certain amount to be used in acquiring capital equipment. These amounts were treated as expenses by the provincial offices
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(7,752,553)

but capitalised by SALGA National. Further investigation revealed that there was no account in the trial balance where the establishment
levy was recorded. When the Annual Financial Statements were compiled the amount was taken out of the retained income account and
shown separately as retained income. As a result, there is no effect on retained income. The only trial balance with an establishment levy
was the Gauteng office and this was reversed to retained income.
Effect on Establishment levy		
Effect on retained income		

115,000
(115,000)

Debtors opening balance
It has been the practice of SALGA to record membership levies on the cash basis. The difference between the amount invoiced and paid
was maintained on an Excel spreadsheet independent of the accounting system. In order to treat these membership levies correctly (on
the accrual basis) SALGA has recorded them in the accounting books and the effect on retained income is as follows:
Effect on debtors		99,135,309
Effect on retained income		
(99,135,309)
			
		
Advances to/from SALGA National
During the 2004/05 financial year, WECLOGO the predecessor SALGA Western Cape office recorded the advances received from
SALGA National as debtors and not as income received. On consolidation of the Provincial office to the National office, these balances
were not eliminated. The effect on retained income is as follows:
Effect on debtors		
Effect on creditors		
Effect on retained income		

(2,600,000)
2,750,000
(150,000)

Provision for leave pay
SALGA Western Cape provided for leave whilst SALGA National also provided for leave. The effect on retained income is as follows:
Effect on provision		
Effect on retained income		

151,282
(151,282)

Investment: SALGA Mpumalanga
Investment matured in June 2004 not properly accounted for. The effect on the retained income is as follows:
Investment		
Effect on retained income		
South African Local Government Association
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(184,675)
184,675

Provision for accounting services
The Western Cape Office made a provision for audit fees for the 2004/05 audit. This provision was incorrect as the provision is kept by
SALGA National. The effect of the reversal is as follows:
Provisions		
Effect on retained income		

(27,000)
27,000

Assets
On the 1st of July 2006, when SALGA became a unitary structure, certain provinces did not have asset registers. With the change in accounting treatment of assets in terms of IAS 16, the need to review the residual value and useful life of an asset became a challenge. It
was then that management decided to revalue all the assets of the provincial offices in order to compile the asset registers on the same
valuation method. The effect of the change in opening balances assets was as follows:
Effect on Furniture and Office Equipment		
Effect on Computer Equipment		
Effect on Motor Vehicles		
Effect on Land and buildings		
Effect on Retained earnings		

674,464
147,568
(38,624)
389,370
(1,172,779)

The National office remains on the cost basis and the change in accounting treatment in terms of IAS 16 is as follows:
Accumulated depreciation: Computer equipment		
Accumulated depreciation: Furniture and fittings		
Accumulated depreciation: Motor vehicles		
Accumulated depreciation: Office equipment		
Effect on Retained earnings		

1,936,435
363,999
7,620
679,418
(2,987,472)

Leases
The effect of the application of IAS 17, led to leases (which for SALGA was operating leases) but because they meet certain of the recognition criterias of IAS17, should be treated as finance leases:
Increase in furniture and office equipment		
Increase in Accumulated depreciation:
Furniture and office equipment		
Lease liability		
Effect on Retained earnings		
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781,883
(416,051)
(430,257)
64,425

The depreciation on a vehicle sold in the prior year was incorrectly recorded as income recovered.
Effect on retained income		
A deposit for rental was treated as an expense instead of a debtor

38,624

Debtors		
Effect on retained income		

11,000
(11,000)

Repairs and maintenance to the leased building was incorrectly treated as additions instead of expensed.
Property, plant and equipment		
Effect on retained income		

3,812
(3,812)

In the prior year SALGA Western Cape (WECLOGO) and SALGA National raised invoices for membership fees. SALGA National was which resulted in a
debtor for WECLOGO. The debtor should have ben reversed against income as the income was raised by SALGA National.
Debtors		
(4,778,959)
Effect on retained income		4,778,959
The VAT liability for SALGA Free State was understated in the prior year. A final payment of R1 200 000 was made to SARS in February this year as final
settlement on the account. The effect of the understatement is as follows:
VAT (creditor)		
Effect on retained income		

(618,246)
618,246

An expense relating to the prior financial year was not provided for			
Creditors		
Effect on retained income		

(20,000)
20,000

When restating the 2004/05 financial statements, the following differences were identified between the restated AFS and the published AFS for 2004/05:
Property, plant and equipment		439,104
Trade and other receivables		
(3,510,447)
Cash and cash equivalents		
(700,171)
Establishment levy		
1,065,000
Trade and other payables		
(751,065)
Bank overdraft		
(2,232,139)
South African Local Government Association
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Grants advances from DPLG		542,393
Effect on retained income		5,147,325
The opening balance for retained income was shown as a credit under the reserves when it should have been a debit as the retained income had a credit
closing balance:
Effect on retained income

(3,087,315)

The establishment levy was double accounted for in the 2004/05 balance sheet. It formed part of the accumulated proft / (deficit) as well as a separate
balance on the face of the balance sheet
Effect on retained income		

(1,180,000)

Unreconcileable difference
Based on the Disclaimer of audit opinion received for 2004/05 financial year, to correct the opening balances therefore prior year figures had to be
restated. The results of the restatement as diclosed above led to a difference of R7 797 471. This difference cannot be reconciled to a specific account
on the trial balance. However, management is satisfied that the fair presentation has been achieved and does not regard the amount as material.
		
Assets incorrectly accounted for as expense instead of asset. Effect on retained income:
Property, plant and equipment		
Effect on retained income		
		

(7,797,471)
286,039
-286,039
-112,950,779

20. Irregular Expenses
Based on the outcome of a forensic investigation conducted during the 2004/05 financial year, the following irregular expenditure was made: The procurement procedure was allegedly circumvented by procuring goods based on one quotation

Figures in Rand

2006

-

2005

1,501,745

Alleged circumvention of the procurement procedure can be attributed to failure to obtain quotations or the transaction not opened for public tender

Figures in Rand

2006

-
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2005

3,492,219
4,993,964

Statement of Gifts, donations and sponsorships received
Name of Donor

Nature of gift, donation or sponsorship

2006
R
Actual

27YRS IR

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

15,000.00

ABSA Bank

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Members Assembly

20,000.00

Afri Infra (Pty) Ltd

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

36,000.00

Colourful Construction

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

15,000.00

Enkangala Water Board

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

20,000.00

Isiziba Projects

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

12,000.00

Kifu Trading

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

15,000.00

Mpumalanga Local Goverment and Housing

Councillor Induction Programme

90,000.00

NER

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

10,000.00

Pamdozi

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

3,000.00

Pledge

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

16,500.00

Social Res

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

16,500.00

Telkom SA

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

45,000.00

Telkom SA

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Members Assembly

30,000.00

Unknown

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

42,750.00

Unknown

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

6,000.00

Unknown

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

28,000.00

V3

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

10,000.00

V-Dan

Sponsorship: Mpumalanga Provincial Conference

20,000.00
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Name of Donor

Nature of gift, donation or sponsorship

2006
R
Actual

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Sponsorship: National Members Assembly

500,000.00

MTN (Pty) Ltd

Sponsorship: National Members Assembly

150,000.00

Department of Provincial and Local Government

Councillor Induction Programme

Eskom

Sponsorship: National Members Assembly

Speedy Car Sales

Womens Conference

500

ABSA Bank

Womens Conference

10,000

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Womens Conference

45,000

Telkom South Africa

Womens Conference

20,000

Botsehlo Water

Members Assembly

1,500

Old Mutual

Members Assembly

3,596

Sedibeng Water

Members Assembly

2,000

Telkom South Africa

Members Assembly

20,000

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Members Assembly

20,000

Munimed

Provincial Members Assembly

15,000

Clarotech

Provincial Members Assembly

500

ABSA Bank

Provincial Members Assembly

10,000

1,000,000.00
100,000.00

2,348,846
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Statement of Gifts, donations and sponsorships in kind
Name of Donor

Nature of gift, donation or sponsorship

2005
R

2006
R

Actual

Actual

City of Matlosana

Finance Forum Meeting

Venue Hire

520.00

City of Matlosana

Finance Forum Meeting

Venue Hire

520.00

Madibeng Municipality

Womens Conference

Venue Hire

2,200.00

City of Matlosana

Governance and Administration Cluster

Venue Hire

520.00

City of Matlosana

Economic Development Working Group

Venue Hire

520.00

City of Matlosana

Wage Negotiations

Venue Hire

670.00

DWP Consultants

Members Assembly

Printing

Midvaal Water

Members Assembly

Bottled Water

2,250.00

Tshepong Distributors

Members Assembly

Printer

1,000.00

Potchefstroom Municipality

Members Assembly

Venue Hire

5,970.00

ABSA Bank

Members Assembly

Conference Bags

Rand Water

Members Assembly

Bottled Water & Shirts

5,000.00

Magalies Water

Members Assembly

Bottled Water

2,250.00

City of Matlosana

Wage Negotiations

Venue Hire

10,000.00

15,000.00

520.00
46,940.00
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Related Parties
Transactions
Name of entity

Nature of the relationship

Transaction Type

Value R

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Sponsorship: Youth in Local Government

260,000

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Sponsorship: National Members Assembly

500,000

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Partner together with SALGA and DWAF in the Joint Response Project

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Sponsorship: Members Assembly

20,000

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Sponsorship: Womens Conference

45,000

Eskom

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Sponsorship: National Members Assembly

South African Broadcasting Commission

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Placing of Advertisements on Radio and Television

South African Broadcasting Commission

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Television Licence

Telkom SA Limited

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Usage of telephone lines

Telkom SA Limited

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Sponsorship: Womens Conference

20,000

Telkom SA Limited

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Sponsorship: Members Assembly

20,000

South African Revenue Services

National Public Entity (Schedule 3A of PFMA)

Satutory Salary Deductions: PAYE, SDL, UIF as well as VAT

City of Johannesburg

The Executive Mayor of the Metropolitan is the
Chairperson of SALGA

Membership levies

6,000,000

Central Karoo District Municipality

The Executive Mayor of the District Municipality is the
Deputy Chairperson of SALGA

Membership levies

32,123

eThekwini Metropolitan

The Executive Mayor of the Metropolitan is the
Deputy Chairperson of SALGA

Membership levies

6,000,000

Cape Winelands District Municipality

The Executive Mayor of the District Municipality is
a member of the National Executive Committee of
SALGA

Membership levies

269,954
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1,984,091

100,000
2,155,020
225
2,595,141

13,116,311

Transactions
Name of entity

Nature of the relationship

Transaction Type

Value R

Madibeng Local Municipality

Cllr S Molokoane is a member of the National
Executive Committee of SALGA

Membership levies

468,579

Amamtole District Municipality

Cllr S Somyo is a member of the National Executive
Committee of SALGA

Membership levies

350,319

Capricorn Disctrict Municipality

The Executive Mayor of the District Municipality is
a member of the National Executive Committee of
SALGA

Membership levies

202,008

Francis Baard District Municipality

The Executive Mayor of the District Municipality is
a member of the National Executive Committee of
SALGA

Membership levies

97,584

OR Tambo District Municipality

The Executive Mayor of the District Municipality is
a member of the National Executive Committee of
SALGA

Membership levies

307,335

Ekhurhuleni Metropolitan

The Executive Mayor of the Metropolitan is a member
of the National Executive Committee of SALGA

Membership levies

6,000,000

Bophirima District Council

The Executive Mayor of the District Municipality is
a member of the National Executive Committee of
SALGA

Membership levies

97,073

Northern Free State District Municipality

Cllr J Ramokhoase is a member of the National
Executive Committee of SALGA

Membership levies

81,584

Greater Sekhukhune

District Municipality

Membership levies

126 659

Name of entity

Nature of the relationship

Transaction Type

Value R

Development Bank of Southern Africa

Major Public Entity (Schedule 2 of PFMA)

Partner together with SALGA and DWAF in the Joint Response Project

394,237

Eskom

Sponsor

Sponsorship

100,000

Balances
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Performance Report
PROGRESS ON THE IMPLEMENTATION
OF STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AS
ADOPTED
BY
THE
NATIONAL
MEMBERS ASSEMBLY IN MARCH
2005
Strategic Objective (1) –Increase SALGA’s
effectiveness and efficiency to enhance
sustainability of organized local government
and quality of service to its members.
The foundation to enable SALGA to achieve this
strategic objective has been laid. As per our vision,
we are an association of municipalities that is at the
cutting edge of quality and sustainable services. And
as such, it is incumbent upon us to continuously strive
for relevance in various niche services that we provide
to municipalities in pursuit of ensuring that the requisite
skills are in abundance within local government. There
is a need to vigorously engage in strategic analysis and
research in an attempt to keep SALGA well versed in
respect of the environment within which we operate.
The following key focus areas are relevant to this
strategic objective:

• 	Strengthening of governance structures that
are a vehicle to representation of municipalities
in different IGR structures and protection and
promotion of municipal interests. This should be
coupled by a committed political leadership to give
guidance and ensure that SALGA is effective and
efficient in its operations both at administrative and
political levels.
•	Ensure that there are checks and balances.
Over and above political governance structures,
SALGA as a Public Entity is governed by the
Public Finance Management Act which requires
oversight structures such as the audit committee
and Internal auditors to assist SALGA to detect
financial problems and implement controls early so
that it does not digress from its core functions.

• 	All governance structures are fully operational both
at national and provincial levels. There was a slight
disturbance during the local government election
campaigns from October 2005 to March 2006.
However, after elections the political structures
resumed normal operations.
All provincial
associations have held their Provincial Members
Assembly and vacant positions caused by the
outcome of March 2006 elections were filled.
•	The Office Bearers of SALGA have met regularly
even during the election campaigns and ensured
that the administration had proper guidance
and direction. The executive committee and
working groups continued to operate and lead the
association.

• 	Different directorates and provinces need to have
human capacity to implement the resolutions of
SALGA’s constitutional structures.

•	SALGA is very active in all Intergovernmental
bodies such as MINMECs, PCC, NCOP etc. All
provinces have IGR forums. However, others are
more stronger than others. In Gauteng, the MEC
for local government is an ex-officio member of
the SALGA Gauteng Executive Committee. In the
Free State there is constant engagement with the
provincial treasury and auditor general.

In order to ensure that SALGA achieves this goal the
following has been executed:

•	The Audit Committee is fully functional and the
auditor general has representatives thereon. This

•	Recruitment of highly skilled, qualified, experienced
and customer driven and focused administration.
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is an oversight function and the chair of the audit
committee can report anomalies directly to the
chairperson of SALGA. The briefing meetings
of the Audit committee, with Office Bearers
and EXCO are scheduled as required by the
PFMA. The chair of the audit committee, who
is a Chartered Accountant by profession, has
informally interacted with the Office Bearers.
•	The Internal auditors are also functioning and
issue reports to management from time to time.
They also attend audit committee meetings to
advise on findings regarding the internal finances
of SALGA.
•	SALGA’s financial standing has exceeded our
expectations as it has never been so healthy
financially. All Mpumalanga municipalities are
up-to date with their subscriptions. The City of
Johannesburg has paid its outstanding debt of
R27million. Generally there is a huge improvement
in the payment of subscriptions by municipalities.
SALGA’s collection of revenue increased from
40% to 146% to-date. (see finance report).
• 	By August 2005, Gauteng, KwaZulu-Natal
and Western Cape were without Heads of
Administration or had people acting in those
positions. To-date, all provinces have heads of
administration.
•	SALGA, prior to the elections ran a comprehensive
media campaign through radio, television and print
media aimed at correcting negative perceptions

about service delivery in Local Government.
The media campaign successfully highlighted
achievements since 1995 and is believed to have
improved the voter turn-out which was higher
than in the previous elections. It was about 48%
higher than the international norm where local
government elections voter turn out is as low as
20%. Other media campaigns conducted were to
congratulate councilors on their appointments and
promote the Councilor Induction Programme.

Strategic objective (2) - To foster policy, strategy
and operational integration of SALGA.
In terms of internal policy, strategy and operational
integration, this objective has been accomplished.
SALGA now has one set of policies that apply to
the entire organization. From the last financial year
all books of SALGA are audited centrally. Provincial
strategies and organograms are aligned to that of
SALGA national. Political governance structures are
also aligned to national structures. However, there is a
need to amend the constitution of SALGA especially in
so far as its pronouncement on the provincial structures
is concerned.
For SALGA to contribute considerably in policy making
processes within various intergovernmental structures,
it is apt to put mechanisms in place to maximize and
strategize on inputs and key policy issues that deserve
to be revisited in responding to new challenges
that are posed by the ongoing and ever-changing
developmental local government milieu. Therefore,
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the operational integration of SALGA does provide
an appropriate vehicle that is well oiled in achieving
milestones we set for ourselves. SALGA continues
to be active in the process of the Restructuring of the
Electricity Distribution Industry where it has assisted in
changing the composition of the holding companies in
each RED.

Strategic Objective (3) – To foster planning,
reporting and budgetary context for the
organization as a whole.
Prior to the integration of SALGA, there was no
integration of planning, reporting as well as budgeting,
and provincial offices were not provided with any
strategic direction .Through integration, much has been
achieved in this regard and we now plan and strategize
as a unitary organization with lines of communication
and accountability at political and administrative level
between provincial and national structures. During the
last financial year provinces received larger budgets
than what they previously received or collected via
membership levies. As a result provinces increased
their efficiency.

Strategic Objective (4) -To facilitate the
strengthening of the system of communication
in local government
The systems of communication in Local Government

are very weak. In an effort to improve them, SALGA has
undertaken the following:
•	Ran a massive media campaign prior to the
elections and as a result voter-turn out was
improved. (see strategic objective one for more
details)
•	Numerous communication gaps at local
government level, which also poses grave
challenges and a threat to the entire system of
government communication received prominence
in the conference that was hosted in partnership
with GCIS and DPLG in May 2006 in Tshwane.
The conference themed “Communication for
development and better service delivery in the Age
of Hope” was based on the premise that in 2005
in particular, the message about local government
failures has been more vigorously promoted than
the story of its successes and the services offered
by municipalities, which resulted in a number of
protests from citizens.
•	The conference was aimed at strengthening
the systems and structures of communication
that would facilitate a coordinated, focused
communication system within the municipalities
themselves and across the three spheres.
• 	Addressing the conference was Minister in
the Presidency, Dr. Essop Pahad, the Deputy
Minister of Provincial and Local Government,
Ms. N Hangana, Mr. Joel Netshitenzhe CEO of

Government Communications and Information
Systems and SALGA leadership represented by
Cllr Duma Nkosi.
•	Attended by over 300 communicators from
the three spheres, the conference made
recommendations on sustaining communication
in the next five years. Other recommendations
focused on strengthening the communication
infrastructure and support to ward committees;
guidelines for municipalities in terms of their
communication function; immediate interventions
to accelerate communication support to service
delivery initiatives (repositioning campaign for local
government) and the role of ICT in strengthening
communication systems at local government
level.
•	On this note, SALGA is committed towards
supporting a sustained communication program
in the next 5 years that would advance the
developmental agenda of local government, thus
enhancing service delivery.
•	The Executive Committee appointed Cllr.
Obed Mlaba as the political champion of local
government communication.
•	At SALGA National Executive Committee (NEC)
to be held in July 2006, Local Government
communication will be discussed.
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Strategic Objective (5) – To ensure that
SALGA enhances its position and maintains
a high profile position locally, regionally and
internationally
This objective has been fully implemented.
following has been done in this regard:

The

•	A technical international Relations Strategy has
been drawn up and is to be work- shopped at the
NEC Lekgotla in July 2006.
•	SALGA-UCLGA workshop took place on 03 June
2006. The position paper that was presented at
the commission in this NMA was informed by the
discussions at the workshop.
•	Memorandums of Understanding have been
signed with the following International bodies:
•	The Swedish Association of Local Authorities &
Swedish International Development Agency (SALAIDA). This was signed in Durban in September
2005 and heralded the training of approximately
35 senior Councillors and senior managers from
different categories of municipalities from seven
provinces . The training of these local government
practitioners was two-fold:
•	For two weeks they were trained in Durban on
the comparative analysis of the South African
and Swedish systems of local government. Then
for three weeks, they were based in Sweden to

get by interacting with Councillors and officials in
various cities.
•	This project was sponsored by SALA-IDA and
they spent R100 000 on each participant. This
project is envisaged to proceed in this manner for
the next two years. In August 2006, those who
participated in this programme will present their
projects to the SALA-IDA & SALGA teams.
• 	Through VNG a social housing tool-kit was
produced and circulated to municipalities, as well
as the implementation of a pilot study on social
housing on selected municipalities.
•	Association of Local Authorities of Mali. This is the
first twinning of SALGA with an African country.
Areas of co-operation include exchanging of best
practices, sharing experiences around social
development issues like HIV-AIDS and Gender.
•	SALGA participated in a number of conferences
and international meetings such as UCLGA,
conference on bridging digital divide held in
Bilbao, in Spain and Tunisia; Commonwealth
Annual Conference in Uganda, in Kampala that
discussed the progress and challenges on the
implementation of Millenium Development Goals
(MDG).
•	SALGA has also received a number of international
delegations during Agust 2005-June 2006. These
include, the Chinese, and Zambian Mayors, the

CEO of the Association of Local Government in
Kenya, the CEO of Association of Municipalities in
Mozambique, AMICAAL led by a mayor of eZulwini
in Swaziland and the Mayor of Lusaka in Zambia.
• 	At the June 2006, we had visitors from Association
of Municipalities of Mali (AMM) who were here to
learn the best practices in areas such as waste
management, drainage, and infrastructural
development in our municipalities.
• 	SALGA has also facilitated the exchange of best
practices between Hibiscus Coast Municipality
and a Ghanaian Coastal Municipality. We are
still awaiting the report which will be posted in
the international relations section of the SALGA
website.
•	SALGA is inundated with requests from the SADC
region and the rest of the continent for assisting
our counterparts to decentralize and integrate
their regional offices operations in line with what
we have done. In the next three months, we will
be signing MoUs with certain African counterparts
that we have identified.
•	In addressing the challenge of co-ordination,
dissemination of information and offering
municipalities assistance in their international
relations role, SALGA has introduced a department
that deals with International Relations and Protocols.
Through the establishment of the International
Relations & Protocol Unit in the office of the CEO,
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discussions with the Department of Foreign Affairs
to strategically position our municipalities in line
with international norms. Through this unit, we
also envisage to provide International Relations
& Protocol and Etiquette training to municipalities
since they are critical partners in both international
and intergovernmental structures.
•	The International Relations and Protocols
department staff has been trained by Department
of Foreign Affairs. Thus, municipalities are urged
to communicate with SALGA national office
before they make travel arrangements to foreign
countries. SALGA is tasked with advising our
embassies and high commissions of international
visits by our municipalities. This will also assist
SALGA in compiling a data base of our international
activities and identify best practices.

Strategic Objective (6) – To facilitate and
support the capacity building of member
municipalities locally and through continental
and international exchanges and peer learning
in key areas.
For international exchange refer to Strategic objective
(5).
We have succeeded in establishing District Finance
Area Forums, Water Manager Forums and Water
Service Provider Networks in all provinces which assist
municipalities to mobilize existing scarce skills and
expertise and share knowledge and best practices. As

per the NEC resolution, we have been able to develop a
comprehensive database of Professional and Specialist
Expertise in local government in the collective interest
of municipalities.

Strategic Objective (7) – To mainstream issues
of Gender, Youth, People with disabilities and
HIV/AIDS as central cross cutting issues in the
local developmental agenda
•	SALGA has conducted audits in municipalities
regarding the status quo of these social
development issues. Using the information we
had at our disposal we were able to influence all
political parties in the recent elections to adopt
SALGA’s position on 50/50 representation and
the on-going campaign in this regard has resulted
in equitable gender representation in councils
across the country. There are now 48% women
councillors in local government and of which in
Metros, a 50% representation in the position of
Executive Mayors has been achieved.
• 	The NEC hosted the visit by the delegation from
AMMICAL and resolved to promote the revival of
the initiative in all municipalities.
•	An audit on HIV/AIDS policies has been conducted
and a strategy has been proposed. This will
be workshoped by the provinces and inputs
forwarded to the Social Development Working
Group which will forward recommendations to the
NEC.

Strategic Objective (8) – Promote a lawful
governance system which will enable service
delivery in a developmental state
We have developed an Office Bearers Handbook which
will finally be approved by the NEC and rolled out to
municipalities. This is chiefly aimed at enhancing good
governance in municipalities by providing comprehensive
guidelines to Office Bearers and Councillors to support
them in fulfilling their roles and responsibilities. It
essentially replaces the Mayoral Handbook and will be
expanded to incorporate all Office Bearers. Through
the promotion of good governance in municipalities we
have been successful in supporting the implementation
of the MFMA and the Property Rates Act inter-alia,
in holding practical implementation workshops. We
have continued to provide amongst other services,
a comprehensive governance and legal support and
legal advice services to municipalities.

 trategic Objective (9) - Promote the credibility
S
and relevance of local government agenda in
national policy and programmes.
•

SALGA influenced the National Division of
Revenue
SALGA influenced the National
Division of Revenue process by ensuring that the
provisional allocation for RSC levy replacement
funding of R5billion was increased to R7billion
in this current financial year to meet the actual
situation in district and metro municipalities and
was included in the Division of Revenue Act
(DORA). The inclusion in the DORA of funding
to subsidize Councillor remuneration resulted in
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the following increases in municipal categories
1; 2 & 3 by 85 %, 75 % & 65 % respectively
thus achieving significant success in respect
of the SALGA policy position that Councillor
remuneration should be funded by the national
fiscus.
SALGA successfully motivated the
inclusion in DORA of the provision which
precludes national departments from imposing
conditions in the disbursement to municipalities
of infrastructure grant funding (MIG). The
positive implications for municipalities are that
project plans are no longer subject to approval
by national government before disbursement of
MIG. The comprehensive SALGA position paper
on RSC levy replacement as mandated by the
NEC was finalized and is being used to influence
deliberations in the intergovernmental structures.
•	We have established a system for tracking key
IGR Forums requiring SALGA participation and
the NEC has put in place a system to ensure
consistent and mandated by participation by
Councillors. This has resulted in for example, a
much improved relationship with both Houses of
Parliament through regular participation in Portfolio
and Select Committee. SALGA has extensively
influenced the development of regulations under
the MFMA and Property Rates Act through the
leadership provided by the Chairperson of SALGA,
Cllr. Amos Masondo.

Strategic Objective (10) - Promote the
enhancement and mobilization of existing

capacity within the local government sphere to
share responsibility for its own development

Strategic Objective (11) – Monitor Performance,
evaluate service delivery and communication

INDUCTION PROGRAMME 2006

Performance Management:

•	SALGA rolled out the Councilor Induction
Programme for all Councillors ushered in after
the 2005 Local Government Elections.

A sector-wide survey on the implementation and
application of Performance Management on an
organizational and individual level was conducted. The
report reflected that municipalities, both at a political and
administrative level are still grappling with the concept.
From the subsequent report it emerged that there was
a clear need to simplify and consolidate the approach
and methodology to be used by municipalities. As a
result a four part PMS series had been conceptualized.
The SALGA PMS Series will consist of the following
chapters:
i) A basic guide to PMS in municipalities.
ii) Balanced Scorecard for Local Government.
iii) How to integrate the SA Excellence Model into
PMS.
iv) How to conduct and utilize benchmarking.

•	77% of all Councillors in South Africa participated
in the Councilor Induction Programme for a
period of 5 days.
PROFILING
Councillors completed questionnaires in order to asses
their competencies for future training interventions by
SALGA. The data is being statistically analysed and
will be used for future intervention.
EXECUTIVE
LEADERSHIP
MUNICIPAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (ELDP)
SALGA has initiated the ELDP for senior politicians
and officials in management of municipalities and
the programme is rolled out in partnership with the
University of Pretoria. Approximately 200 participants
from different categories of municipalities are enrolled
in the programme whose current curriculum activities
commenced 05 June 2006. The programme consists
of 8 modules and will run for 8-12 months. The
executive programme is accredited by the University
of Pretoria, School of Public Management and
Administration at NQF Level 6.

Strategic Objective (12) – To facilitate the
implementation of labour and human resources
dispensation in municipalities that enhances
service delivery
Regulating deductions via the municipal payroll
system:
Subsequent to an Arbitration Award stating that
municipalities (as employer/s) are not obliged to make
any deductions via the municipal payroll and that such
deductions should not be viewed as an Organizational
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Right. SALGA is in the process of developing a Treasury
Regulation (similar to the practice in Public Service).
The objective is to protect municipal employees
from exploitation through the Financial Service’s
Sector, and therefore only service providers that are
prepared to administer loans in accordance with
Treasury Regulations will be allowed deductions via
the municipal payroll. A Task Team comprising both
SALGA and municipal expertise has been established,
and is currently unpacking this process.
Mitigating the impact of HIV/AIDS in the workplace
In partnership with SA Cities Network and DPLG, SALGA
developed a guide for municipalities to formulate their
response to, and mitigate the impact of HIV/AIDS on
service delivery within the workplace.

Strategic Objective (13) – To advocate labour
peace in the sector
•	The NEC resolved that councillors need to play
the role of principal through SALGA NEC and not
to be directly involved with negotiations as that
tended to impact negatively on labour peace.
The salary and wage negotiations conducted in
2006 have for the first time been undertaken by
officials acting on the mandate of SALGA’s political
principals.
• 	The CEO visited the SAMWU headquarters and
met with its Secretary General. Both parties
expressed a need to engage beyond wage and
salary negotiations and start co-operating on
issues of growing the local government sector

especially on issues of service delivery. The
need to share information on different research
initiatives was seen as another area of strategic
co-operation.
• 	The Executive Director of Municipal Labour
and Human Resources, Advocate M. Yawa,
was appointed in May 2006. SALGA is already
gaining positive results from his experience and
expertise.
• 	For SALGA to achieve labour peace, it requires
accurate information in the sector and an
investment in municipal human capital. For these
reasons in 2006/2007 financial year, a budget
allocation for a comprehensive survey has been
prioritised. This will enable SALGA to develop
an effective strategy to attain labour peace in the
sector.
•	The Medical Aid schemes in Local Government
have been reduced from more than 100 operating
medical aid schemes to just 6.

the sector and the maximisation of economies of
scale is a key focus area for 2006/2007 financial
year. This process has been dragging on for
ten years and it is critical for SALGA to take the
process forward.

Strategic Objective (14) – To ensure municipal
compliance to workplace legislation
HR Legal Compliance:
As a result of a HR Legal Compliance survey, SALGA
established a Task Team comprising of both SALGA
and Municipal experts to unpack and address the
concerning gap with regards to basic legal compliance
within the HR fold. A progress report in this regard shall
be tabled at the NEC.

Strategic Objective (15) - To contribute to
and support the government programme of
integrating the public sector.

•	A similar process is underway for the 79 pension
funds currently in the sector. The registration of
the fund has been finalised with a few technicalities
to be attended to. Some funds have expressed
willingness to move over whilst, there is resistance
from some.

•	The NEC was honoured by the presence of
the Minister Ms. Geraldine Fraser-Moleketi of
the Department of Public Administration in the
meeting held on the 3rd June 2006. The principal
aim of the Minister for gracing the NEC meeting
was to request the SALGA leadership to embrace
the national government programme of the Single
Public Service (SPS).

•	The creation of common condition of service in

•	Our progress on intergration of municipal medical
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aid schemes and pension fund restructuring under
strategic objective (13) are efforts already in line
with the intergration of the public service.
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LIST OF MEMBER
MUNICIPALITIES

MUNICIPALITIES: NORTH WEST PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

City of Matlosana

P O Box 99
Klerksdorp, 2570

Civic Centre, Bram Fischer Str
Klerksdorp

kea@klerksdorp.org or jvanrensburg@
klerksdorp.org

018 406 8300

018 464 1780

Ditsobotla

P O Box 7
Lichtenburg, 2740

Corner Transvaal & Melville Str,
Lichtenburg

Moselanem@ditsobotla.co.za or
swanepoela@ditsobotla.co.za

018 632 5051

018 632 5247

Greater Taung

Private Bag X1048
Taung Station, 8580

330 Main Str
Taung

foranek@taunglm.co.za

053 994 9400

053 995 1332

Kagisano

Private Bag X522
Ganyesa, 8613

Next to the Post Office Building,
Ganyesa

letlhogilet@kagisanolm.co.za

053 998 3346

053 998 3369

Kgetlengrivier

P O Box 66
Koster, 2825

Cnr De Wet & Smuts str, Koster

kgetlengrivier@absamail.co.za
Tulseeb@kgetlengrivier.gov.za

014 543 2004

014 543 2004

Lekwa-Teemane

P O Box 13
Christiana , 2680

Cnr. Robyn & Dirkie Str, Christiana

Ctamun@kingsley.co.za

053 441 2206

053 441 3735/2206

Madibeng

P O Box 106
Brits, 0250

53 Van Velden Str, Brits

012 318 9100

012 318 9203

Mafikeng

Private Bag X63
Mmabatho, 2735

Cnr University Drive & Hector
Petersen Avenue, Mmabatho

munman@mafikeng.com

018 389 0111/0212

018 384 4830/5712

Mamusa

P O Box 5
Schweizer-Reneke
2860

28 Schweizer str, Schweizer-Reneke

lcschw@intekom.co.za

053 963 1331

053 963 2474

Maquassi Hills

Private Bag X3
Wolmaransstad, 2630

19 Kruger St
Wolmaransstad

wolmuns@lantic.net

018 596 1067

018 596 1555

Merafong

PO Box 3
Carletonville, 2500

3 Halite Str
Carletonville

jolindaj@merafong.co.za

018 788 9500

018 786 1105/
018 787 3859

PO Box 101
Tosca, 8618

Pongo Ave

Boitshepol@lgnet.org.za

053 933 0029
053 938 2771

053 933 0035
053 938 2772

Molopo

munman@madibeng.gov.za

134

Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Moretele

Private Bag X367
Makapanstad, 0404

Stand No. 4065B
Mathibestad

gracem@lgnet.org.za

012 716 1000

012 716 9999

Moses Kotane

Private Bag X1011
Mogwase, 0314

Mogwase Civic Centre

Municipalmanager@moseskotane.co.za

014 555 6289

014 555 6368

Naledi

P O Box 35
Vryburg, 8600

Cnr Market & Molopo Str
Vryburg

smita@naledilm.co.za

053 928 2200

053 927 3482

Potchefstroom

P O Box 113
Potchefstroom, 2520

30 Wolmarans Str
Potchefstroom

info@potch.co.za
council@potch.co.za

018 299 5111

018 297 0477

Ramotshere
Moiloa

P O Box 92
Zeerust, 2865

executive@zeerustnw.co.za

018 642 1081

018 642 3586

Ratlou

PO Box 494
Stella, 8650

Coetzee Str
Zeerust

018 330 7000

018 330 7019

Rustenburg

P O Box 16
Rustenburg, 0300

Cnr. Mandela & Beyers Naude Rds.
Rustenburg

Kc15@pixie.co.za

014 590 3111

014 592 0181

Tswaing

P O Box 24
Delareyville, 2770

Cnr. General Delareyville &
Government Streets Delareyville

dlytlc@netactive.co.za

053 948 0900

053 948 1500

Ventersdorp

Private Bag X1010
Ventersdorp, 2710

1 Van Tonder Crescent Str
Ventersdorp

018 264 2051

018 264 2051

Bojanala Platinum

P O Box 1993
Rustenburg, 0300

Cnr Beyers Naude & Fatima Bhayat
Rd. Rustenburg

Brendap@rdc.gov.za

014 590 4500

014 597 3170

Bophirima

P O Box 21
Vryburg, 8600

60 Market Street
Vryburg

fouriem@bophirima.co.za

053 927 2222

053 927 2401

Central

Private Bag X2167
Mafikeng, 2745

Cnr. Carrington Str. & First Avenue
Mafikeng

munman@cdm.za.org

018 381 9400

018 381 0561

Southern

Private Bag X5017
Klerksdorp, 2570

Municipal Office, Patmore Road,
Orkney

018 473 8000

018 473 2523

admin@ventersdorp.co.za

Admin@sdm.org.za
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MUNICIPALITIES: LIMPOPO PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

Aganang

P Box 1989
Koloti, 0709

Ba-Phalaborwa

P Bag X67
Phalaborwa, 1390

Cnr Selati & Nelson Mandela Dr

phalamun@lantic.net
nyathii@ba-phalaborwa.org.za

015 781 0111/0726

015 781 7228/0726

Bela-Bela

P / Bag x 1308
Warmbath, 0480

399 Chris Hani Drive

belabela@lantic.net

014 736 8000

014 736 3288/ 4732

Blouberg

P Box 1593
Bochum, 0790

Ziya Building, Moywabi

bmunic@mweb.co.za
Margaret@telkomsa.net

015 505 7100

015 505 02976
/0471

Capricorn District

P Box 4100
Polokwane, 0700

41 Biccart Str
Polokwane

manager@cdm.org.za
manageroem@cdm.org.za

015 294 1000

015 295 5697/
4010/5346

Feta-Kgomo

P Box 818
Apel, 0739

Stand No. 2, Mashung
Apel

fetamun@mweb.co.za

015 622 8000

015 622 8026
015 622 8015

Greater Giyani

P/ Bag x 9559
Giyani, 0826

Giyane Physic Centre
Main Rd to Government Building

silence@ggmun.co.za

015 811 5500

015 812 2068
015 811 5562

Ellias Motsweledi

P Box 48
Groblersdal, 20470

2 Globlersdal Ave

nkadimeng@hotmail.co.za
nkadimengkabi@hotmale.com

013 262 3056

013 262 2547/2893

Greater Letaba

P Box 36
Modjadjiskloof, 0835

44 Dotha Str

duiwelskoof@gohip.com
greaterletaba@greaterletaba.co.za

015 309 9246

015 309 9419/ 8738

Greater Marbel
Hall

P Box 111
Marble Hall, 0450

13 Ficus Str

013 261 1151/
1162

013 261 2985

Greater Tzaneen

P Box 24
Tzaneen, 0850

1 Agatha Str, Civic Centre

015 307 8000 /8017

015 307 8049/8489

Lepelle-Nkumpi

P/ Bag x 07
Chuenespoort, 0745

170 Unit-BA, Civic Centre,
Lebowakgomo

015 633 4500

015 633 6896

Lephalale

P/ Bag x136
Lephalale, 0555

Cnr Joe Slovo & Douwater Ave,
Onverwacht

014 763 2193

014 763 5662

Cornelia Farm, Moletji

E-mail Address
Slanga@aganang.org.za

mhmanager@loskop.co.za
janik@tzaneen.gov.za

Mikem.lephalale@ellisras.com
munic.lephalale@ellisras.com
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Telephone Number
015 295 1400

Fax Number
015 295 1401
1447

Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail Address

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Makhado

P Bag X2596
Makhado, 0920

96 Krogh Str

Municipal.Manger@makhado.co.za

015 516 0212/
015 519 3003

015 516 5084/1195

Makhuduthamaga

P Box 713
Jane Furse, 1085

Next to Jane Furse Plaza

makhuduthamaga@mweb.co.za

013 265 1262/1177

013 265 1975

Maruleng

P Box 627
Hoedspruit, 1380

64 Springbok Str

015 793 2409/ 2100

015 793 2341

Musina

P/ Bag x 611
Musina, 0900

21 Irwin Str

015 534 6100

015 534 2513

Modimolle

P/Bag x 1008
Modimolle, 0510

O.R. Tambo Square

014 717 5211

014 717 4077

Mogalakwena

P Box 34
Mokopane, 0600

54 Retief Str

015 491 9600

015 491 9755

Molemole

P Box 44
Dendron, 0715

180 Republic Str

015 501 0243

015 501 0419

Mookgophong

P/Bag x 340
Mookgopong, 0560

Cnr Louis Trichardt & 6th Ave

mkgmun@mail.ncdnet.co.za
mansec@limpopo.co.za

014 743 1111

014 743 2434

Mopani District

P/ Bag x 9687
Giyani, 0826

cbpwp@lantic.co.za
timm@mopani.org.za

015 811 6300

015 812 4301/2 OR
015 811 6347

Mutale

P Bag X1254
Mutale, 0956

Old Manyenu Battalion Building

mutalemunic@mweb.co.za
netshanzehethetg@mutale.co.za

015 967 9000

015 967 9019/9004

Polokwane

P Box 111
Polokwane, 0700

Cnr Landrosmare Str, Bodemstein

Suzan.p@polokwane.org.za

015 290 2100/2000

015 290 2106

Waterberg District

Private Bag x 1018
Modimolle, 0510

Harry Gwala Str

admin@wdm.co.za
ekelly@wdm.co.za

014 717 1344

014 717 3886

Sekhukhune
District

P/ Bag x 8611
Groblersdal, 0470

3 Wes Str

sekhuk@mail.ncdnet.co.za
seokaa@sekhukhune.co.za

013 262 2743/5673

013 262 2351/ 5674

msnamanager@limpopo.co.za
luruli@mail.ncdnet.co.za
nylmun@pop.co.za
makobedh@mweb.co.za
munmansec@mweb.co.za
dentlc@mweb.co.za
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail Address

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Thabazimbi

P Box 90
Thabazimbi

7 Rietbok str

014 777 1525

014 777 1531

Thulamela

P/Bag x 5060
Thohoyandou, 0950

Thohoyando Civic Centre, Old
Agriven Building

mmathivha@thulamelamun.co.za

015 962 7620/ 7500

015 962 6389/4020

Greater Tubatse

P.O. Box 206
Burgersfort, 1150

Cnr Korts & Eddie Sidibe Str

gtm@lantic.net

013 231 7815

013 231 7467

Vhembe District

P/ Bag x5006
Thohoyandou, 0950

Parliamentary Camber Building

eddycbpwp@mweb.co.za
shandu@vhembe.co.za

015 962 1840
1828 / 4231

015 962 1017/ 0904

tbzwmun2@lantic.net
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MUNICIPALITIES: MPUMALANGA PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Gert Sibande
District Municipality

P O Box 550
Secunda, 2302

Lawrens Muller Str, Council building

janice@gsibande.gov.za

017 620 3000

017 634 1425 or
017 631 1607

Albert Luthuli
Municipality

P.O. Box 24
Carolina, 1185

28 Church Str

017 843 1055

017 543 3838

Msukaligwa
Municipality

P O Box 48
Ermelo, 2350

Cnr Church & Taute Str

dstander@msukalingwa.gov.za

017 801 3500

017 819 5507

Mkhondo
Municipality

P O Box 23
Piet Retief, 2390

33 Mark Str,

Jabupgm@mkhondo.org.za

017 826 2211

017 826 3129

Lekwa Municipality

P O Box 66
Standerton, 2430

Cnr Beyers Naude & Mbonani
Mayisela str

jsaayman@gov.standerton.co.za

017 712 9600

017 712 1204

Dipaleseng
Municipality

Private Bag X1055
Balfour, 2410

Municipal Building, Cnr Joubert &
Stuart Str

dlaminid@dipaleseng.gov.za

017 773 0055

017 773 0169

Govan Mbeki
Municipality

Private Bag X1017
Secunda, 2303

Municipal Building, Mark Str

Office.mm@govanmbeki.gov.za

017 620 6000

017 634 5041

Nkangala District
Municipality

P O Box 437
Middelburg, 1050

Cnr Church str & Wonderers Avenue

nkosinm@nkangaladm.org.za

013 249 2004/ 2024

013 249 2050/2087

Delmas
Municipality

P O Box 6
Delmas, 2210

Cnr Samuel & van der Walt Str

sophia@delmasmunic.co.za

013 665 6000

013 665 2913

Emalahleni
Municipality

P O Box 3
Witbank, 1035

Civic Centre, President Ave

stuurman@emalahleni.gov.za

013 690 6208

013 690 6479

Steve Tshwete
Municipality

P O Box 14
Middelburg, 1050

Cnr Kerk & Wa
nderers

council@stevetshwetelm.gov.za

013 249 7000/7263

013 243 2550

Emakhazeni
Municipality

P O Box 17
Belfast, 1100

Municipal Building, 25 Scheepers Str

013 253 1121

013 253 2440

Thembisile
Municipality

Private Bag X 4041
Empumalanga, 0458

24 Kwaggafontein opposite Police
Station, Kwaggafontein

013 986 0980/2/3/4

013 986 0995

mm@albertluthuli.gov.za

onnkosi@emakhazenilm.co.za

msizaz@thembisilelm.gov.za
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

Dr J S Moroka
Municipality

Private Bag X4012
Siyabuswa, 0472

2601/3 Bongimfundo Str

Ehlanzeni District
Municipality

P O Box 3333
Nelspruit, 1200

Bell Towers Building, 18 Bell Street

Thaba Chweu
Municipality

P O Box 61
Lydenburg, 1120

Centraal Str

Mbombela
Municipality

P O Box 45
Nelspruit, 1200

Civic Centre, 1 Nel Str

Umjindi
Municipality

P O Box 33
Barberton, 1300

Cnr General & De Villiers Str

Nkomazi
Municipality (MP

P Bag X101
Malelane, 1320

Municipal Buildin, Parkstreet

Bushbuckridge
Municipality

P Bag X3016
Mkhuhlu, 1246

169/A Matikwane Main Rd

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

simphiwem@drjsmorokamun.co.za

013 972 1270/
1100/1390

013 973 0974

013 759 8500

013 752 5346

013 235 7000

013 235 7204

013 759 9111

013 759 2002

013 712 2121

013 712 2394

013 790 0245/6/7

013 790 0886

013 708 6140/6018

013 708 6990/6037

khoza@ledc.co.za

rousseau@.thabachweu.org.za
dilia@mbombela.gov.za

mariaan@umjindi.gov.za
nkzmun@mweb.co.za

pmathebula@mweb.co.za
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MUNICIPALITIES: FREE STATE PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Dihlabeng

P.O. Box 551
Bethlehem, 9700

9 Muller Str East

munman@xsinet.co.za

058 303 5732/5303

058 303 4703

Kopanong

P.O. Box 23
Trompsburg, 9913

Xhariep District Municipal Building

051 713 9200

051 713 0292/0335

Lejweleputswa

P.O. Box 2163
Welkom, 9460

Cnr Temperst & Jan Hofmeyer Rd

sinah@internext.co.za

057 353 3094

057 353 3382

Letsemeng

P.O. Box 7
Koffiefontein, 9986

7 Groottrek

letse@mweb.co.za

053 205 9200

053 205 0218/0144

Mafube

P.O.Box 2
Frankfurt, 9830

64 Brand Street
Frankfort

fftmun@lantic.net

058 813 1051

058 813 3072

Maluti-a-Phofung

Private Bag x805
Witsieshoek, 9810

Cnr Moremoholo & Motloung
Str,Phuthaditjhaba

thim@map.fs.gov.za

058 718 3700

058 718 0812

Mangaung

P.O. Box 3704
Bloemfontein, 9300

Cnr. Nelson Mandela & Markgraaf
Str, Bram Fisher Building

manyoni@civicmangaung.co.za

051 405 8101/8663

051 405 8108

Mantsopa

Private Bag X11
Ladybrand, 9745

38 Joubert STR

mantsopamun@xsinet.co.za

051 924 0654

051 924 0020

Masilonyana

P.O. Box 13
Theunissen, 9410

58 Piet Retief Street

mm@masilo.co.za

057 733 0106

057 733 1942

Matjhabeng

P.O. Box 708
Welkom, 9460

Welkom Civic Centre

ambi2@matjhabeng.co.za

057 391 3359

057 357 4393

Metsimaholo

P.O. Box 60
Sasolburg, 1947

Civic Centre Building, Fichardt

1mahlatsi@hotmail.com

016 976 0029

016 973 2191

Mohokare

P.O. Box 20
Zastron, 9550

Municipal Office, Hoofd Str

zastrontlc@iafrica.com

051 673 1018

051 673 1550

Moqhaka

P.O. Box 302
Kroonstad, 9500

Hill Str

kroonmunman@act.co.za

056 216 9911

056 216 9122

mm.kopanong@xharie.co.za

141

Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Motheo

P.O. Box 302
Bloemfontein, 9300

184 Nelson Mandela Drive,
Providiamus Building

thandi@.motheo.co.za

051 407 3240

051 407 3306

Nala

Private Bag x15
Bothaville, 9660

8 Preller Str

056 514 9200

056 515 3922

Naledi

Private Bag x1
Dewetsdorp, 9940

Brand Str

naledi@naledimun.co.za

051 541 0012

051 541 0556

Ngwathe

P.O. Box 359
Parys, 9585

Liebenberg Str

sandile.msibi@ngwathe.co.za

056 811 2131

056 817 6343

Nketoana

P.O. Box 26
Reitz, 9810

Cnr. Church & Voortrekker Str

municipalmanager@hotmail.com

058 863 2811

058 863 2523

Fezile Dabi

P.O. Box 10
Sasolburg, 9570

Fezile Debi District Municipality
Building, John Vorster Rd

bennetm@nfsdc.co.za

016 976 0765

016 973 3557

Phumelela

P.O. Box 155
Vrede, 9835

52 Kuhn Str

058 913 1222

058 913 2317

Setsoto

P.O. Box 116
Ficksburg, 9730

27 Voortrekker Str

051 933 6284/2322

051 933 3321

ThaboMofutsanyana

P Bag X18482
Witsieshoek, 9870

1 Mampoi rd, Phuthaditjhaba

Victoria@efstatetourism.co.za

058 713 4485

058 713 0940

Tokologo

Private Bag x46
Boshof, 8340

Mkt Square, Voortrekker str

tokologo@mjvn.co.za

053 541 0014

053 541 0360

Tswelopele

P.O. Box 3
Bultfontein, 9670

Bosman str

logov@tswelopele.org

051 853 1111

051 853 1332

Xhariep

P.O. Box 136
Trompsburg, 9913

20 Louw Str

Cecilia@xhariep.co.za

051 713 9300

051 713 0229/0461

nala@nala.org.za

jmakelefane@setsoto.co.za
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MUNICIPALITIES: GAUTENG PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Ekurhuleni
Metropolitan Council

P. O. Box 1069
Germiston, 1400

Cnr Cross & Roses Str

Info@ekurhuleni.gov.za
psekhukhune@.ekurhuleni.com

011 820 4000

011 820 4010/4040

City Of
Johannesburg

P.o. Box 104
Johannesburg, 2000

Metro Office, 158
Loveday str, Braamfontein

ayeshah@joburg.org.za

011 407 7300/7309

011 403 1012

City Of Tshwane
Metropolitan
Council

P. O. Box 6338
Pretoria, 0001

Cnr Pretorius & Paul Kruger, Church
Square

citymanager@tshwane.gov.za
ninetteb@tshwane.gov.za

012 358 382/7911

012 325 3272

Sedibeng District
Council

P. O. Box 471
Vereeniging, 1930

Municipality Building, Beaconsfield &
Lesley Str

Info@sedibeng.gov.za
anitas@sedibeng.gov.za

016 450 3000/ 3249

016 455 2573/ 5264

Westonaria Local
Municipality

P. O. Box 19
Westonaria, 1780

Cnr Saturn & Neptun Str

eoets@westonaria.gov.za

011 278 3000

011 753 4176

Randfontein Local
Council

P. O. Box 218
Randfontein, 1760

Cnr Pollock & Sutherland Ave

Mickey.padiachee@randfontein.org.za

011 411 0000

011 693 1736

Lesedi Local
Municipality

P. O. Box 201
Heidelberg, 1438

Cnr HF Verwoed & Voortrekker Str

016 340 4300/5

016 340 4394

Kungwini Local
Municipality

P. O. Box 40
Bronkhorstspruit
1020

Cnr Kruger & Botha str

munman@kungwinimun.co.za

013 932 6200/ 6210

013 932 0641/3752

Metsweding
District
Municipality

P Bag X10579
Bronkhorstspruit

287 Irridium Str, Ekundustria

municipalmanager@metsweding.co.za

013 933 3486

013 933 3489

Nokeng Tsa
Taimane Local
Municipality

P.o. Box 204
Rayton, 1001

Cnr Oakley & Montrose str

012 734 6000

012 734 4624/5832

West Rand District
Municipality

Private Bag X033
Randfontein, 1759

Cnr 6th & Park Str

011 411 5021

011 693 4306

mm@sedilm.co.za

mpho.mogale@yahoo.com

bmokgatle@wrdm.gov.za
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Emfuleni Local
Council

P. O. Box 3
Vanderbijlpark, 1900

Cnr Klasie Havenga str & Frikkie
Meyer Blvd

amanda@emfuleni.gov.za

016 986 8338
Or 016 950 5000

016 986 8331
Or 016 950 5050

Midvaal Local
Municipality

P. O. Box 9
Meyerton, 1960

Mittchell str

janetta@midvaal.gov.za

016 360 7400/7413

016 360 7519

Mogale City

P. O. Box 94
Krugersdorp, 1740

94 Krugersdorp

iumelengm@mogalecity.gov.za

011 951 000/2013
or 011 668 0500

011 660 820/2547
or 011 953 4571

144

MUNICIPALITIES: KWAZULU-NATAL
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Ugu District Mun.

P.O. Box 33
Port Shepstone,
4240

28 Connor Str

ugu@venturenet.co.za

039 688 5700

039 682 1720

Vulamehlo

P/Bag X 5509
Scottburgh, 4180

Dududu Main Road

Msizi@venturenet.co.za

039 974 0450/2

039 974 0432

Umdoni

PO Box 19,
Scottburgh, 4180

Cnr Airth & Williamson Str

umdoni@umdonionline.co.za

039 976 1202

039 976 2194

Umzumbe

PO Box 561
Hibberdene, 4220

Kwahlongwa Community Hall,
Kwaglongwa Area, Umzumbe

muzi@venturenet.co.za

039 684 9180/1

039 684 9960

Umuziwabantu

P O Box 23
Harding, 4680

Murchison Str

htlc@venturenet.co.za

039 433 1205

039 433 1208

Ezinqoleni

P.O. Box 108,
Izingolweni, 4260

Main Harding Road, opp. Izingolweni
Taxi Rank

Ezinq@venturenet.co.za

039 534 1582/4

039 534 1585

Hibiscus Coast

P.O. Box 5,
Port Shepstone,
4240

10 Connor Str

039 688 2002

039 682 0327

uMgungundlovu

P.O. Box 3235,
Pietermaritzburg
3200

171 Boshoff St

gwacelas@indrc.gov.za

033 897 6700

033 394 5511/12

uMshwathi

P/Bag x 29,
Wartburg, 3233

7 High Str

umshwathi@satweb.co.za

033 503 1035

033 503 1635

uMngeni

P.O. Box 5,
Howick, 3290

Cnr Dicks & Somme Str

manager@umgeni.co.za

033 330 6124

033 330 4183

Mooi Mpofana

P.O. Box 47,
Mooi River, 3300

10 Claughton Terrace

lc@mooiriver.co.za

033 263 1221

033 263 1127

Mm@hcm.gov.za
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

Impendle

P.O. Box 75,
Impendle, 3227

21 Mafahleni Str

Msunduzi

Private Bag X321
PMBurg, 3200

City Hall, Cnr Church & Commercial
Rd

Mkhambathini

Private Bag X04,
Camperdown, 3270

18 Old Main Rd

Richmond

Private Bag X1028
Richmond, 3780

Uthukela Dist.
Mun.

Telephone Number

Fax Number

033 996 0771

033 996 0852

033- 392 3000

033 394 0037

Mkhambamune@telkomsa.net

031 785 1184/1668

031 785 1463

57 Shepstone Str

rictlc@mweb.co.za

033 212 2155

033 212 2102

P.O. Box 116
Ladysmith, 3370

76 Murchison Str

Municipalmanager@uthukeladm.co.za

036 638 5100

036 637 5608

Emnambithi/
Ladysmith

P.O. Box 29,
Ladysmith, 3370

Lister Clarence Building, Murchison
Str

dirk@intekom.co.za

036 637 2231

036 631 1400

Indaka

Private Bag 70113
Wasbank, 2920

1410 A Section-Ekuvukeni

indaka@mweb.co.za

034 261 1000/2035

034 261 2035

Umtshezi

PO Box 15
Estcourt, 3310

Civic Building, Victoria Str

tana@mtshezi.co.za

036 352 3000

036 352 5829

Okhahlamba

P.O. Box 71,
Bergville, 3370

10 Broadway str

Okh@futurenet.co.za

036 448 1076

036 448 1986/ 2472

Imbabazane

P.O. Box 750
Estcourt, 3310

212 Albert St

limthemba@futurenet.co.za

036 353 0681/0625

036 353 6661

Umzinyathi District
Municipality

P.O. Box 1965
Dundee, 3000

39 Victoria Road, 1st floor NLK
Building

bk@umzinyathi.gov.za

034 218 1945

034 218 1940

Endumeni

Private Bag X2024,
Dundee, 3000

Room 59, Dundee Civic
Centre,Victoria Rd

Caroline@endumeni.gov.za

034 212 2121

034 212 3856

Private Bag X5521,
Nqutu, 3135

1139 Mangosuthu Drive

admin@nquthu.gov.za

034 271 6100

034 271 6111

Nquthu

E-mail
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Msinga

Box 329
Tugela Ferry, 3010

Shop 18-20, Ithala Building

Kz244@msinga.gov.za

033 493 0761

033 493 0766

Umvoti

P.O. Box 71,
Greytown, 3250

41 Bell Str

033 413 1115

033 413 1369

Amajuba District
Mun.

Private Bag X6615,
Newcastle, 2940

9356 Madadeni

dc25@amajuba.gov.za

034 314 3759

034 314 3785

Newcastle

Private Bag X6621,
Newcastle, 2940

Newcastle Civic Centre 37 Murchison
Str

www.newcastle.gov.za

034 328 7600/0

034 312 7089

eMadlangeni

P.O. Box 11,
Utrecht, 2980

60 Klerk Str

utretchtmun@telkomsa.net

034 331 3041/3481

034 331 4312

Dannhauser

Private Bag 1011,
Dannhauser, 3080

8 Church str

mail@dannhauser.org.za

034 621 2666

034 621 3114

Zululand Dist. Mun

Private Bag X76,
Ulundi, 3838

B 400 Gagane Str

rnel@zululand.org.za

035 874 5500

035 874 5591/ 5589

eDumbe

Private Bag X308,
Paulpietersburg
3180

10 Hoog Str

edumbekz261@mweb.co.za

034 995 1650

034 995 1192

uPhongolo

P.O. Box 191,
Pongola, 3170

61 Martin Str

Pongolatlc@pga.dorea.co.za

034 413 1223

034 413 1706/
2450

Abaqulusi

P.O. Box 57,
Vryheid, 3100

Cnr Mark & Hoog Str

townclerk@vhd.dorea.co.za

034 982 2133

034 980 9637

Nongoma

P.O. Box 84,
Nongoma, 3950

103 Main Str

reception@nongoma.org.za

03 831 7500

035 831 3152

Ulundi

Private Bag X17,
Ulundi, 3838

Cnr King Dinuzulu Highway & Prince
Mangosothu Str

ceotc@mwen.co.za

035 874 5100

035 870 0598

Umkhanyakude
Dist. Mun.

P.O. Box 449,
Mkuze, 3965

No 53 Klebe Rd

bthabth@umkhanyakude.org.za

035 573 8600/ 1546

035 573 1809
/1386

mm@umvoti.org.za
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Umhlabuyalingana

Private Bag X901
Kwangwanase, 3973

Main Rd

umhlabuyalingana@wetlands.co.za

035 592 0671 / 80

035 592 0672

Jozini

Private Bag X028
Jozini, 3969

Circle Str, Bottom Town

nnkosi@jozini.org.za

035 572 1292

035 572 1266

The Big Five False
Bay Mun.

P.O. Box 89,
Hluhluwe, 3960

163 Zebra Str

archie@big5falsebay.co.za

035 562 0040

035 562 0098/ 0988

Hlabisa

P.O. Box 387,
Hlabisa, 3937

46/2 Massons Str

vmbatha@hlabisa.org.za

035 838 8500/23

035 8381015

Mtubatuba

P.O. Box 52,
Mtubatuba, 3935

Lot 105, Lucia str

ceo@mtbtlc.co.za

035 550 0069

035 550 0060

Uthungulu District
Mun.

Private Bag X1025,
Richards Bay, 3900

Uthungulu House, Krugerrand, CBD

035 799 2500

035 789 1641/1409

Mbonambi

P O Box 96
Kwambonambi, 3915

25 Bredelia Str

nkosim@mbonambi.co.za

035 580 4963/1421

035 580 1141

Umhlathuze

Private Bag X1004,
Richards Bay, 3900

Cnr Mark Strasse & East Arterial str,
CBD Area

reg@richemp.org.za

035 907 5000/ 5004

035 907 5444 /51

Ntambanana

Private Bag X 20066
Empangeni, 3880

Bokana Reserve

raymondm@lgnet.org.za

035 792 7093/6

035 792 7094

UMlalazi

P.O. Box 37,
Eshowe, 3815

Hutchinson Str

035 473 3474

035 474 2809

Mthonjaneni

P.O. Box 11,
Melmoth, 3835

23 Reinhold Str

Meltlc@mweb.co.za

035450 2082/ 2676

035 450 3224

Nkandla

P Bag X 161
Nkandla, 3855

Lot 292, Maree Rd

enoch@nkandla.gov.za

035 833 0923/ 0067

035 833 0920

Ilembe Dist. Mun.

PO Box 1788,
Kwadakusa, 4450

59/61 Mahatma Gandhi Str, Ilembe
house

ceo@ilembe.org.za

032 437 9300

sceo@uthungulu.co.za

chris@umlalazi.org.za
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032 437 9585/7

Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Mandeni

P.O. Box 144,
Mandeni, 4490

2 Kingfisher Rd

ceo@mandeni.org.za

032 456 8200

032 456 2504

KwaDukuza

Box 72,
Stanger, 4450

104 Chief Albert Luthuli Str

Isingh@kwadukuza.gov.za

032 437 5000

032 437 5098

Ndwedwe

Private Bag X503,
Ndwedwe, 4342

Ndwedwe Court House, Main Rd

032 532 1089

032 532 1234/1071

Maphumulo

Private Bag 9205,
Maphumulo, 4470

R74 Sakhuxolo Multi-Skills Centre

032 481 2047/ 9

032 481 2053/2068

Sisonke District
Municipality

Private Bag X501,
Ixopo, 3276

39 A Margaret str

mabasom@sisonkedm.org.za

039 834 8700

039 834 1701

Ingwe

P.O. Box 62,
Creighton, 3263

Creighton Main Rd

ingwe@futurenet.co.za

039 833 1038

039 833 1179/ 1539

Kwa Sani

P.O. Box 43,
Himeville, 3256

32 Arbuckle Str

kwasani@futurenet.co.za

033 702 1060

033 702 1148

Greater Kokstad

P.O. Box 8,
Kokstad, 4700

75 HopeStr

039 797 6600

039 727 3676

Ubuhlebezwe

P.O. Box 132,
Ixopo, 3276

29 Margaret Str

039 834 2074

039 834 1168

Umzimkulu

P.O. Box 53
Umzimkulu, 3297

169 Main Str

eThekwini
Municipality

P O Box 1014
Durban, 4000

City Hall, West Str

vusim@maphumulo.org.za

municipality@kokstad.org.za
sonia@futurenet.co.za

umzimuni@intekom.co.za
metroceo@durban.gov.za
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039 259 0216
031 311 2170/1111

093 259 0427
031311 2170

MUNICIPALITIES: WESTERN CAPE PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

Cape Winelands
District Municipality

P.O. Box 91
Worcester, 6849

51 Trappe Str

Breede Valley
Municipality

Private Bag X3046
Worcester, 6849

Corner Baring & Hoog str

Breede River
Winelands
Municipality

Private Bag X2
Ashton, 6715

28 Main Rd

Drakenstein
Municipality

P.O. Box12
Paarl, 7622

Bergrivier Boulevard

Stellenbosch
Municipality

P.O. Box 17
Stellenbosch
7599

Plein Str

Witzenberg
Municipality

P.O. Box 44
Ceres, 6835

50 Voortrekker str

Overberg District
Municipality

Private Bag X22
Bredasdorp, 7280

26 Lang Str

Cape Agulhas
Municipality

P.O. Box 51
Bredasdorp, 7280

1 Dirkie Uys Str

Overstrand
Municipality

P.O .Box 20
Hermanus, 7200

Magnolia Ave

Swellendam
Municipality

P.O. Box 20
Swellendam, 6740

49 VoortrekkerStr

Theewaterskloof
Municipality

P.O. Box 24
Caledon, 7230

6 Plein Str

Central Karoo
District Municipality

Private Bag X560
Beaufort West
6970

63 Donkin Str

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Admin@bolanddm.co.za

086 126 5263 or 021
888 5130

023 3474647/3668

mmdabuli@breedevallei.gov.za

023 348 2600

023 347 3671

023 615 8000

023 615 2272

021 807 4775

021 872 8054/3757

021 808 8111

021 808 8026

023 316 1854

023 316 1877

028 425 1157

028 425 1014

028 425 1919

028 425 1019

028 313 8909

028 313 2958

028 514 1100

028 514 2694

028 214 3300

028 214 1289

023 449 1000

023 415 1253

admin@breedeland.gov.za

ceo@drakenstein.gov.za

munmanager@stellenbosch.org

mayor@witzenberg.gov.za
tbotha@odm.org.za
Info@capeagulhas.com
jkoekemoer@@overstrand.gov.za

krgordon@swellendum.co.za
stanwa@twk.org.za

Manager@skdm.co.za
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Beaufort West
Municipality

Private Bag X 582
Beaufort West
6970

112 Donkin Str

admin@beaufortwestmun.co.za

023 414 8100

023 415 1373

Laingsburg
Municipality

Private Bag X4
Laingsburg, 6900

Van Riebeeck Str

Laingsburg@xsinet.co.za

023 551 1019

023 551 1019

Prince Albert
Municipality

Private Bag X53
Prince Albert, 6930

23 Church Str

Pamun@xsinet.co.za

023 541 1320

023 541 1321

Eden District
Municipality

P.O. Box 12
George, 6530

54 York Str

MCB@edendm.co.za

044 803 1300

044 874 6626/1013

Bitou Municipality

Private Bag X 1002
Plettenberg Bay
6600

Sewell Str

044 501 3000

044 533 6161

George
Municipality

P.O. Box 19
George, 6530

York Str

044 801 9111

044 873 3776

Knysna
Municipality

P.O .Box 21
Knysna, 6570

Clyde Str

044 302 6300

044 302 6333

Mossel Bay
Municipality

Private Bag X29
Mossel Bay, 500

101 Mars Str

044 606 5000

044 606 5062

Oudtshoorn
Municipality

P.O. Box 255
Oudtshoorn, 6620

Voortrekker Rd

anel@oudtmun.co.za
www.odn.co.za

044 203 3000

044 203 3042

Kannaland
Municipality

P.O. Box 30
Ladismith, 6655

32 Church str

nigel@kannaland.co.za

028 551 1023/4

028 551 1766

Hessequa
Municipality

P.O. Box 29
Riversdale, 6670

Van den Berg Str

riversdal@ezinet.co.za

028 713 2418/8007

028 713 3146

West Coast District
Municipality

P.O. Box 242
Moorreesburg
7310

58 Lang str

wprabbets@wcdm.co.za

022 433 8400

022 433 8484

seitisho@plett.gov.za

cmafrica@george.org.za
ddaniels@knysna.gov.za
admin@mosselbaymun.co.za
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Berg River
Municipality

P.O. Box 60
Piketberg, 7320

Kerk str 12

hendricka@bergmun.org.za

022 913 1126

022 913 1380

Cederberg
Municipality

Private Bag X2
Clanwilliam, 8135

2A VoortrekkerStr

admin@cederberraad.co.za

027 482 8000

027 482 1933

Matzikama
Municipality

P.O. Box 98
Vredendal, 8160

37 Church str

munman@matzikamamun.co.za

027 201 3300

027 213 3238

Saldanha Bay
Municipality

Private Bag X12
Vredenburg, 7380

12 Main Str

022 701 7000

022 713 5666

Swartland
Municipality

Private Bag X52
Malmesburg, 7299

Cnr Rainier Str & Church Str

swartlandmun@swartland.org.za
www.swartland.org.za

022 487 9400

022 487 9440

City of Cape Town

Private Bag X9181
Cape Town, 8000

12 Hertzog Boulevard

achmat.ebrahim@capetown.gov.za

021 400 1330/1340

021 400 1332

mun@saldanhabay.co.za
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MUNICIPALITIES: NORTHERN CAPE PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

!Kheis

P.O. Box 176
Grobblershoop
8850

97 Oranje Str

Khiesmun@lantic.net

054 833 9500

054 833 9509

Dikgatlong

Private Bag X5
Barkly West, 8375

No.1 Campbell Str

eilerd@lantic.net

053 531 0671/3

053 531 0624/1143

Emthanjeni

P.O. Box 42
De Aar, 7000

45 Voortrekker Str

053 632 9100

053 631 0105

Frances Baard DM

Private Bag X6088
Kimberly, 8300

51 Drakensberg , Carters Glen

thabo.nosi@fbdm.co.za

053 838 0911

053 861 1538

Gamagara

P.O. Box 1001
Kathu, 8446

Cnr Hendrick VAN Eck & Freakkie
Mayor

Cornelius@gamagara.co.za

053 723 2261/6

053 723 2021

Ga-segonyana

Private Bag X1522
Kuruman, 8460

Cnr Voortrekker & School Str

053 712 1095/6

053 712 3581

Hantam

Private Bag X14
Calvinia, 8190

Hope Str no. 20

municipalmanager@hantum.gov.za

027 341 8500

027 341 8501

Kai! Garib

P.O. Box 174
Kakamas, 8870

Municipal Building, 11th Avenue

brandb@kaigarib.co.za

054 431 6300

054 431 6301

Kamiesberg

P.O. Box 38
Gariep, 8220

Hoofstraat

gertm@kamiesberg.co.za

027652 8000

027 652 8001

Kareeberg

P.O. Box 10
Carnarvon, 8925

Hanau str

kareeberg@xsinet.co.za

053 382 3012

053 382 3142

Pixley Ka Seme
DM

Private Bag X1012
De Aar, 7000

Culvert rd

pixley@telkomsa.net

053 631 0891

053 631 2529

Karoo Hoogland

Private Bag X03
Williston, 8920

1 Herb Str

053 391 3003

053 391 3294

vsser@emthanjeni.co.za

Kurmun@ga-segonyana.gov.za

Karoohoogwil@telkomsa.net
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Kgalagadi DM

P. Bag X1012
De Aar, 7000

Feberhale Mynbou str no.1

kaldc@mweb.co.za

053 712 1001

053 712 2502

Kgatelopele

P.O. Box 43
Danielskuil, 8405

Barket Str

danlime@xsinet.co.za

053 384 8600

053 384 0326

Khai Ma

P.O. Box 108
Pofadder, 8890

Nuwestraat

Lesley@khaima.gov.za

054 933 0066/244

054 933 0252

Khara Hais

Private Bag X6003
Upington, 8800

Markstraat

manager@kharahuis.org.za

054 332 5911

054 332 1762

Magareng

P.O. Box 10
Warrenton, 8530

Magrieta Prinsloo

generaljafta@magareng.org.za

053 497 3111

053 497 4514

Mier

P.O. Box 178
Mier, 8811

63 Loubos Rd, Rietfontein

Miermun@lantic.net

054 531 0928

054 531 0928

Nama-khoi

P.O.Box 17
Springbok, 8240

Namakwa str no.4

burgermeester@namakhoi.org.za

027 712 2071 or 027
718 8100

027 712 1635

Namakwa DM

P.O. Box 5
Springbok, 8240

Van Riebeck Str

027 712 8000

027 712 8040

Phokwane

Private Bag X3
Hartswater, 8570

24 Hertzog Str

mdichaba@phokwane.org.za
www.phokwane.co.za

053 474 0143

053 474 1768

Renosterberg

P.O. Box 112
Petrusville, 8770

Skool Str

renosterbergunderscrollmun@xsinet.com

053 663 0041

053 663 0180

Richtersveld

Private Bag X113
Port Nolloth
8280

Main Rd

joecloete@lantic.net

027 851 1111

027 851 1101

Siyancuma

P.O. Box 27
Siyancuma, 8370

Charld Cillirs Str

mogale@siyancuma.gov.za

053 298 1810

053 298 3141

Info@namakwa-dm.gov.za
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Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Siyanda DM

Private Bag X6039
Upington, 8800

Cnr Hoek van Hill & Le Roux str

jpm@bodr.gov.za

054 337 2800

054 337 2888/6

Siyathemba

P.O. Box 16
Prieska, 8940

Victoria Str no.1

psk.muni@prieska.co.za

053 353 5300

053 353 1386

Sol. Plaatjie

Private Bag X5030
Kimberly, 8300

Jan Smuts Boulevard

lin@solplaatjie.org.za

053 830 6911/6461

053 830 6268/5343

Thembelihle

Private Bag X3
Hopetown, 8750

Kerkstraat

ebooi@telkomsa.net

053 203 0005/8

053 203 0490

Tsantsabane

P.O. Box 5
Postmasburg
8420

19 Springbok Str

Tsantsabane.mms@ignet.org.za

053 313 0343

053 313 1602

Ubuntu

Private Bag X329
Victoria West
7070

Church Str no. 74

Ubuntu@wsinet.co.za

053 621 0026

053 621 0368

Umsombovu

Private Bag X6
Colesburg, 9795

Kerkstraat

loko@umsombovumun.co.za

051 753 0777

051 753 0574

Moshaweng

P Bag X117
Mothibistad, 8474

Moshaweng Municipal Offices,
Churchill Village

Moshaweng@spg.co.za

053 773 9300

053 773 9350
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MUNICIPALITIES: EASTERN CAPE PROVINCE
Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Alfred Nzo Dist.
Municipality

Pvt. Bag X511
Mount Ayliff, 4735

Erf 1400, Ntsizwa Str

jakujax@andm.gov.za

039 254 5000

039 254 0201

Amahlati

Pvt. Bag X2,
Stutterheim, 4930

Cnr Maclean & Hill Str

Manager@amahlati.co.za

043 683 1436 /1100

043 683 1127

P O Box 320
East London, 5200

40 Cambridge Str

xolelam@amatoledm.co.za

043 701 4000/7

043 742 0337

P O Box 15
Willowmore, 6445

42 Wehmeyer Str

zolam@lgnet.org.za

044 923 1004/1072

044 923 1122

P O Box 21
Somerset East
5850

67 Nojoli Str

someast@netactive.co.za

042 243 1333

042 243 1548

P O Box 134
East London, 5200

10th Floor, Trust Centre, North Street

043 705 1045

043 743 8568

P O Box 318
Port Elizabeth
6000

7th floor Standard Bank Building, 32
Govan Mbeki Avenue

tpillay@cacadu.co.za

041 508 7114/5

041 508 7133

Camdeboo

P O Box 71
Graaff-Reinet, 6280

Church Square

Townclerkgrtmun@intekom.co.za

049 892 2121

049 892 4319

Chris Hani Dist.

P/ Bag X7121
Queenstown, 5320

42 Cathcart Rd

chanimay@awe.co.za

045 808 4600/4603

045 838 1582

Elundini

P O Box 1
Maclear, 5480

1 Sellers Str

Elundini@mweb.co.za

045 932 1085

045 932 1777

Emalahleni

PBag X1161
Lady Frere, 5410

37 Indwe Rd (opposite Police station)

njilen@emalahleni.gov.za

047 878 0020

047 878 0112

Engcobo

P O Box 24
Engcobo, 5050

Union Str

047 548 1221/ 1198

086 611 9697

Amatole Dist. Mun.

Baviaans
Blue Crane Route

Buffalo City Mun.

Cacadu Dist. Mun.
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Municipality

Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

Great Kei

P O Box 21
Komga, 4950

Cnr Main & Station Str

annemoniel@lgnet.org.za

043 831 1325

043 831 1306

P O Box 12
Jansenville, 6265

34 Main Str

Sizwe.mngwevu@lgnet.org.za

049 836 0021

049 836 0105

Inkwanca

P O Box 1
Molteno, 5500

39 Smith Str

nkosinin@lgnet.org.za

045 967 0021

045 967 0467

Intsika Yethu

P Bag X 1251
Cofimvaba, 5380

Cnr High & Church str

mntolosi@eci.co.za

047 874 5213

Kouga

P O Box 21
Jeffrey’s Bay, 6330

33 Da Gama Rd

egomez@ec108.org.za

042 293 1111

042 293 1114

King Sabata
Dalinyebo

P O Box 45
Umtata, 5100

Munitata Building , 51Sutherland Str

Gumbi@ecmss.org.za

047 501 4238/9

047 532 5198

Inxuba

P.O.Box 24
Stockenstroom

Church Str

Cdktl@intekom.co.za

048 881 1515

048 881 1421

Kou-kamma

P O Box 11
Kareedouw, 6400

5 Keet Str

Koukamma@lgnet.org.za

042 288 0303

042 288 0090

Lukhanji

Pvt. Bag X7111
Queenstown, 5320

1st Floor, Town Hall 70 Cathcart Rd

045 807 2746

045 807 2733

Makana

P O Box 176
Grahamstown
6140

City Hall, Church Square, High str

admin@makana.gov.za

046 622 9112

046 622 9488

Maletswai

Pvt. Bag X1011
Aliwal North, 9750

68a Smith Street

Maletswai@xsinet.co.za

051 633 2441

051 634 1307

Mbashe

P O Box 25
Idutywa, 5000

100 Kiddel Str

bongcommbashemun.gov.za

047 489 1400

047 489 1225

Ikwezi

Mk@lukhanji.co.za
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047 874 0010

Municipality

Postal Address

Mbizana

P O Box 12
Bizana, 4800

Mhlontlo

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

bizanatlc@ecmss.org.za

039 251 0230

039 251 0040

047 553 7000

047 553 0189

manager@matatiele.co.za

039 737 3135

039 737 3611

P O Box 31
Qumbu, 5180

Matatiele

P O Box 35
Mataiele ,4730

Mnquma

P O Box 36
Butterworth, 4960

Cnr 52 King & Umtata Str

nmbali@mnquma.gov.za

047 401 2400/2502

047 491 0195/0404

Ndlambe

P O Box 13
Port Alfred, 6170

Causeway str

gngesi@ndlambe.co.za

046 624 1140

046 624 1254/2669

Nelson Mandela
Metro Mun.

P O Box 7
Port Elizabeth
6000

City Hall Govan Mbeki Str

mayor@mandelametro.gov.za

041 506 3208/3111

041 506 3424/3336

Ngqushwa

P O Box 539
Peddie, 5540

Erf 313, Main Rd

nxw@ngqushwamun.co.za

040 673 3095

040 673 3771

mayor@nkonkobe.co.za

046 645 1136/7400

046 645 1619 /
1775

039 258 0056

039 258 0003

046 684 0034

046 684 1931

Nkonkobe

P O Box 36
Fort Beaufort
5720

Ntabankulu

P O Box 234
Ntabankulu, 5130

Erf 85, Main Str

noxolos@ntabankulu.org.za

Nxuba

Pvt. BagX350
Adelaide, 5760

Market Square

admuntlc@corpdial.co.za

Nyandeni

P Bag X504
Libode, 5160

Main str (opp. Magistrate courts)

hthlazo@nyandenimun.gov.za

047 555 0161

047 555 0202

P O Box 2
Port St. Johns
4830

Erf 257, Main Str

Zhewu@psjmunfinance.org.za

047 564 1347/1207

047 564 1206

Port St. Johns
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Postal Address

Physical Address

E-mail

Telephone Number

Fax Number

O.r. Tambo District
Mun.

Private Bag X6043
Umtata, 5100

OR Tambo House, Nelson Mangela
Drive

pearl@ortambo.org.za

047 501 7000/6400

047 532 2200/4166

Qaukeni

P O Box 14
Flagstaff, 4810

14 Main str

elcezula@qaukenimun.org.za

039 252 0279 /0131

039 252 0699

Sakhisizwe

P O Box 26,
Cala, 5455

458 Umtata Road

mwelliot@africa.com

047 877 0034/ 0126

047 877 0000

Senqu

P O Box 18,
Lady Grey, 9755

18 Murray Str

Lgtlc@iafrica.com

051 603 0012/19

051 603 0445

Tsolwana

P O Box 21
Tarkastad, 5370

12 Murray Str

Tsolwanamun@telkomsa.net

045 846 0033

045 846 0025

Ukhahlamba
District Mun.

Private Bag X102
Barkly East, 9786

Cnr Cole & Graham Str

bukelwa@ukhahlamba.co.za

045 979 3006

045 979 3028

Umzimkulu

P O Box 53
Umzimvubu, 3297

169 Main Str

039 259 0216

039 259 0552

P Bag X524
Mount Ayliff, 4735

67 Church Str

039 254 6000

039 254 0033

Umzimvubu

info@umzimvubumun.org.za
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